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With our energy generation, 
we reduce yearly carbon 
emissions of 

400
thousand tons. 

As Galata Wind, one of Doğan Holding subsidiaries, we are 
generating electric energy from 100% renewable resources.

While green transformation steps are taken rapidly in the 
world and in Turkey, we are one of the most important players 

in this regard in terms of the work we do. With the Galata 
Wind brand, we represent a new, clean and efficient future. 

We are aware that one of the most important heritages we will 
leave to future generations is renewable and clean energy. 

With this sense of responsibility, we gradually improve every 
year by adding on to the previous year.



Renewable value 
for the Future and 
Turkish economy
We generate clean energy with domestic 
and national natural resources and 
contribute to reducing the country’s 
current account deficit. We are also 
increasing the share of solar energy in our 
wind-weighted portfolio. The efficiency 
and capacity utilization rates of our power 
plants are quite high. We have an outgoing 
capacity utilization of 38-40% for wind and 
21-22% for solar.

Total Installed Capacity

269
MW





Continuously 
strengthening, 
sustainable solid 
structure
As of today, we are one of the companies 
with the highest paid-in capital among 
energy companies. In addition, we have 
the lowest debt ratio in the energy sector. 
As a result of the right investments at 
the right time we have the potential to 
generate strong cash flow.

Paid-in Capital

535
TRY Million 





Proud of being 
the first Green 
Public Offering  
in Turkey
As Galata Wind, we are the first 
company to go public with a 
consolidated wind and solar specific 
portfolio. Our public offering is 
considered a “green IPO,” as a result 
of our ESG rating, the position in the 
“Robust” category we received as 
well as our international sustainability 
commitments we made. 

Public Offering Size

811
TRY Million 





Towards greater 
goals with stable
investments
 Our previous achievements and vision are 
the driving force for our future goals. We aim 
to double our current capacity by the end of 
2025, and to increase it further in the following 
periods. In the long run, we aim to make Galata 
Wind a global player by 2030.

2025 Installed Capacity Target

500
MW
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Message from the Chairman

Esteemed Stakeholders,

The world was greatly impacted by the climate crisis in 2021.
In addition to all floods in Europe, typhoons in the USA, 
drought in Asia and Africa, the climate crisis led to devastating 
consequences with fires, floods, over-temperatures, fierce 
storms, indicating that the crisis is here now. According to the 
report on climate change and Covid-19 effects published by 
the International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent 
Societies (IFRC) in September 2021, the disasters arising 
from the climate crisis have affected 139.2 million people and 
led to the death of 17.242 people since the outbreak of the 
Covid-19 pandemic. Human-caused climate change made 
extreme weather events 80% more likely, according to the report 
published by the American Meteorological Society, while the 
World Meteorological Organization (WMO) defined extreme 
weather events as the “new normal”.

Moreover, there was a great gap between demand and supply in 
2021, thus, the prices reached a record level. As a consequence 
to the relaxation of the Covid-19 pandemic-related restrictions, 
the insufficient supply in the face of more than expected energy 
demand brought high increases in the natural gas and coal 
prices in the global markets, particularly in Europe. Therefore, in 
2022, the main agenda will focus on the security of the energy 
supply. Today the risk of environmental and climate change, 
which is increasing gradually and having greater impacts, will 
initially shape the development of the energy industry. It seems 
that energy efficiency and green energy materiality will continue 
to grow in importance. The share of the installed power of 
renewable energy plants in the total installed power in Turkey, 
which was 49% at the end of 2019 and 51% at the end of 
2020, reached 53.1% in 2021, which proves that our country is 
making a very serious effort to catch up with this trend. When 
we consider renewable energy technologies, we believe that 
the weight of hydroelectric power in the total energy sphere will 
continue to shift towards wind, solar, and bioenergy over years. 

In 2021, the share of renewable 
capacity in the total installed capacity 
of Turkey reached 53.1%.

53.1%
The share of renewable energy in 
the total installed power

The risk of environmental and climate 
change, which is increasing gradually 
and having greater impacts, will 
initially shape the development of 
the energy industry.



Çağlar Göğüş 
Chairman
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Message from the Chairman

In 2021, Turkey maintained 
to increase the share in wind 
and solar energy generation 
similar to the recent years.

In 2022, the agenda of the energy industry will involve various 
regulations, supports provided for thermal power plants within 
the framework of capacity mechanism, prices that emerged 
during the YEKA tenders, and their subsequent impacts on the 
new investment decisions as well as on the reinforcement of 
the investment environment. In 2022, climate crisis mitigation 
steps, reducing the carbon footprint with the contribution of the 
European Green Deal and green energy certification procedures 
will become consolidated. 

In 2021, Turkey maintained to increase the share of wind and 
solar energy generation similar to the recent years. The share 
of which was 11.8% in 2020 has increased to 13.5% in 2021. 
Despite the steady increase in wind and solar energy generation, 
the share of total renewable energy in total generation declined 
significantly in 2021 on a year-on-year basis. I believe that 
this share will increase as investments in renewable energy 
capacity increase in the mid-term. Nearly 80% of this capacity 
is expected to be provided by solar and wind energy, while the 
growth in hydroelectric investments is anticipated to slow down. 
Wind power, on the other hand, is projected to have a recovery 
following the expected slowdown in 2022-2024.

Based on the 62-year experience of Doğan Holding, we, as 
Galata Wind, offer the unique power of sun and wind to the 
service of Turkey. We continuously invest in new and sustainable 
energy resources of the future and thus lead towards a clean 
future. Fully appreciating the value of sustainable energy in our 
vision, we conducted “Turkey’s First Green Public Offering” in 
2021 with our company Galata Wind. As one of the most major 
and prestigious companies in Turkey, Doğan Holding has a 62-
year deep-rooted history and owns 5 public companies. Galata 
Wind, a subsidiary of Doğan Holding, has proven its sustainable 

The share of wind and solar 
generation in the total generation 
of Turkey reached 13.5% in 2021.

13.5%
The share of wind and solar 
energy generation
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As Galata Wind A.Ş., we continue 
to support the natural life cycle 
of our planet by generating 100% 
renewable electric power.

and eco-friendly power generation portfolio, measurable cash 
flow and margins, operational efficiency, solid capital structure, 
and growth potential in its public offering, which, in return, were 
rewarded by the investors as well. Nominal TRY 1.1 billion 
demand was received in total at the end of the bookbuilding 
process of our Company’s public offering. Additionally, Galata 
Wind has been granted with “57/100” rating and robust category 
in the sustainability rating audit by Moody’s V.E. We are extremely 
proud to carry out the first green public offering in Turkey, a 
country that draws its strength from renewable energy and fights 
against the climate crisis. As Galata Wind, we undertake on a 
global scale that we will never invest in fossil resources other 
than renewable resources, achieve net zero emissions in our 
operations by the end of 2025 (Scope 1), validate the carbon 
emission reductions, and get the carbon credits verified until 
the end of Gold Standard and VCS (Verified Carbon Standard) 
periods, increase the rate of women in managerial positions 
to over 30% in two years, and appoint minimum one woman 
member to the Board of Directors.

The increase in generation and the improvement in the revenue 
and gross margin figures from Company operations, which are 
considered key performance indicators, reveal that, 2021 has 
been a positive year. In line with Company expectations, the wind 
power plants, i.e. Şah WPP, Mersin WPP, and Taşpınar WPP have 
operated with 37.6% capacity usage factor (above average in 
Turkey) in 2021. Turkey’s average capacity usage factor of wind 
was 33.4% in the same period. As for Çorum SPP and Erzurum 
SPP, the annual capacity usage factor was 22.2% which also is 
above the average Turkey that was 19.8% in 2021.

In order to advance in corporate governance, we resolutely strive 
for enabling transparency, disclosing any information to investors 
simultaneously, complying with international standards to the 
greatest extent possible, and ensuring compliance through audits 
on a regular basis. We will continue to put in maximum effort to 
honor the commitments that we have given during the public 
offering. As Galata Wind, we continue to support the natural life 
cycle of our planet by generating 100% renewable electric power 
from solar and wind energy plants, and move forward resolutely 
by taking part in the great economic and energy transformation in 
Turkey. During the pandemic, we enjoyed the benefits of having 
a wide range of group portfolios while the rest of the world 
was struggling with it. The pandemic affected some industries 
highly or moderately, while there were some industries affected 
positively, which helped Galata Wind go through this difficult 
period successfully. We managed to get through this period with 
efficient crisis management and cost control. 

We took major steps in the finance and investment industry in our 
country. We aim to make new investments particularly overseas 
and do business in economic conjuncture for the benefit of our 
country. Based on the 100% clean and sustainable energy vision 
of Galata Wind, we continue to take firm steps towards opening 
a clean page for our future generations by utilizing technology in 
our plants. We would like to thank our shareholders, employees, 
and all stakeholders for all of our achievements in the 2021 
accounting period.

Çağlar Göğüş
Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. - Chairman
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Assessment of the Chief Executive Officer

As Galata Wind,  we reduce 
foreign dependency of our country 
for energy supply by supporting 
local and national industry.
 

Esteemed Stakeholders,

Looking at the global economic activity in 2021, some hot 
topics can be listed as the emergence of COVID-19 variants, 
vaccination, challenges in the supply chain, and inflationary 
pressures due to high commodity prices. The sharp decline in 
global trade due to the pandemic last year has given way to 
recovery as of the end of 2021.

At the same time 2021 was a year in which effects of the climate 
crisis have become violently concrete with different reflections 
in almost all parts of the world. Thus, global calls on the fight 
against the climate crisis have strengthened and collective 
pursuits and cooperation efforts have intensified. For mitigating 
the effects of the climate crisis and global warming not to exceed 
1.5°C, the orientation towards renewable energy sources gained 
significant momentum. Transition to low or zero-carbon emission 
investments has increased in the global economy in the face 
of climate change. In other words, the new lever of the world 
economy will be sustainability-oriented changes in the industry 
and energy arena. There are strong and concrete developments 
to support these foresights.

We are reducing our country’s foreign dependency on energy 
supply.
The most important incident in the Turkish energy market in 2021 
has been the effect of rising oil, natural gas and coal prices in 
international markets on electricity prices Adding to that; factors 
such as lack of operational efficiency, seasonality and drought, 
electricity prices in the spot market increased by 82% y-o-y. The 
energy demand in Turkey, which imports approximately 50% of 
its primary energy sources, increased by 7.7% y-o-y, following 
the stagnation period in 2020. Energy demand is expected to 
continue to rise in the upcoming term in line with the country’s 
growth rate. 

We have achieved strong 
financial results in 2021 and 
we have earned  
TRY 540.2 million in revenue.

540.2 million TRY

Revenue



Burak Kuyan 
Chief Executive 
Officer
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Assessment of the Chief Executive Officer

We are using the latest technology 
in our plants to carry out 
improvement works and to 
increase efficiency.

Today, roof-top PVs turn every home, office, hotel, and any 
facility into a potential power plant. Therefore, we expect 
that some investments in this sector will shift towards that 
direction increasing the volume of installed roof-top PVs. With 
our subsidiary and brand Sunflower Solar, we also take part in 
this field and aim to increase the number of EPC projects we 
complete.

We stand out from the industry with our strong cash flow and 
low indebtedness.
Galata Wind definitely stands out from its peers with its strong 
capital structure and low level of indebtedness. The increase 
in company’s income from operations, gross profit, and 
electricity generation – all of which should be considered as key 
performance indicators for a company – demonstrates that 2021 
has been a much positive year.

Galata Wind earned TRY 319.5 million (2020: TRY 272.2 million) 
in cash from operating activities in 2021. We have a huge 
potential in strong cash generation as well as TRY 262.2 million 
of accumulated profit from prior years as of 31.12.2021. The 
company’s carbon emission reduction (VER) certificate right sales 
revenues among its revenue entries were released as TRY 18.3 
million in 2021. We believe carbon certificate revenues are an 
important entry in terms of sustainable cash flow.

With this regard, it is a necessity for the energy sector to  
evolve in Turkey. Renewables have now become notable  
and a penetrating source of primary energy supply. The share of 
renewable energy in total electricity supply has reached around 
36% in 2021. Committed to diversification of renewable energy 
sources, Turkey reduces its foreign dependency on energy 
supply via generating clean energy at lower costs. The fact that 
the share of renewable capacity in the total installed power has 
reached to 54% by 2021 year-end is very vital; however, this ratio 
must further increase. 

We are constantly increasing our efficiency with our 
operational expertise.
We forecast a brighter future for clean energy businesses like 
Galata Wind, which will take on stronger roles in economic 
growth thanks to the amplifying global sustainability perspective. 
For this reason, we are utilizing the latest technology in our 
power plants to carry out improvement works and to increase 
efficiency.

Galata Wind has started its journey in 2012 with two windfarms 
in its portfolio, in Bandırma and Mersin. Come 2021 year-end, 
we possess a 269 MW capacity consisting of Gold Standard 
and VCS certified wind and solar plants that generate 100% 
renewable and clean energy with an annual average of 775 
GWh. We are considering additional increases in capacity 
whenever possible. Taşpınar WPP project which we recently 
have commissioned at full capacity in March 2021 has the latest 
technology equipment and the first turbines manufactured with 
75 meter blades in Turkey. Taşpınar WPP will be a pioneer in the 
sector as it will have hybrid solar PV mounted inside. 
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As a company with the strength of TRY 534 million paid-in 
capital, having 80% of its income and only 21% of its expenses 
based in foreign currency, we have successfully concluded the 
year by increasing our net profit to TRY 170.9 million. In terms of 
net debt, we have been able to maintain a 1.1Net Debt/EBITDA 
ratio to date. We aim to further reduce our net debt amount 
despite our new investments planned for 2022.

Our ability to generate cash flow provides a great advantage for 
investments. In line with our growth vision, we will continue our 
investments domestically by purchasing power plants that have 
recently started operating and by developing our own projects 
with the valuable experience we have gained over the years. 
We do also evaluate the capacity increase opportunities of our 
existing power plants. At the same time, we plan to expand 
abroad for the purposes of asset and income diversification and 
risk distribution. We are closely interested in projects primarily 
in Southern Europe, the Balkans, and nearby geographies. I 
certainly believe, we are capable of increasing Galata Wind’s 
total installed power to 500-550 MW by 2025 year-end with new 
wind and solar investments. 

We are working to leave a sustainable world.
As Galata Wind, we care for the world we live in. Instead of 
just quantitative targets, we act with a focus on sustainability, 
environment, and social responsibility while investing in the 
right projects that will add value to all our stakeholders. Galata 

Wind reduces approximately 400,000 tons of CO2 emissions 
via generation from renewable energy. As Galata Wind, we have 
given great importance to this issue for years and have been 
successfully undergoing international audits at periodic intervals.

In this context, we have made a commitment that Galata Wind 
shall never invest in fossil fuels but always in renewable sources. 
We believe clean energy is the future and we operate as a green 
company since our establishment.

At the same time, Galata Wind Enerji was given a rating of 
“57/100” in the “robust” category as a result of its sustainability 
valuation from Moody’s V.E.. We will be re-assessed in 2022 as 
a public company. I have complete faith that we will get higher 
scores by means of breakthroughs we have established in the 
area of corporate governance in 2021. 

We are aware of our responsibility not just to the environment 
but to society as well. We continue to execute our activities 
with this effort. We believe in gender equality; moreover, we 
are committed to increase the ratio of women executives in 
Galata Wind over 30%. We have already fulfilled one of our IPO 
commitments to have at least 1 woman member in our Board of 
Directors. Last but not least, I proudly state that in Taşpınar WPP, 
Galata Wind employs a woman engineer which is unfortunately 
quite unlikely to observe in a power plant in Turkey.

We are reducing approximately 
400,000 tons of CO2 emissions 
via generation from renewable 
energy resources.
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As Galata Wind, we have initiated 
“Turkey’s First Green IPO” process 
in 2021.

We have made Turkey’s first green public offering.
As Galata Wind, we have initiated the process of “Turkey’s First 
Green IPO” in 2021 to present our stakeholders the values the 
company has already created and shall create in the future. 
Following some serious work and effort, the book-building 
occurred on April 15-16, 2021 and attracted a very high demand 
ranging from individual domestic investors to foreign funds.  
It was a very positive outcome both for Galata Wind and Borsa 
İstanbul. Doğan Holding, one of the major and most prestigious 
companies in Turkey, has a 62-year deep-rooted history and 
owns 5 public companies. Its subsidiary Galata Wind has also 
shown a great outcome during its IPO, proving that sustainable 
and eco-friendly power generation, foreseeable cash flow 
and margins, operational efficiency, solid capital structure, and 
growth potential are strongly welcomed by investors. Our motto 
of clean energy for the future, financial ratios, and sustainability 
perspective have attracted foreign investors as well. Galata Wind 
has collected a total of TRY 1.1 billion bids nominally in the public 
offering. The company provided its main shareholder Doğan 
Group with cash inflow of over TRY 800 million.

I hereby would like to thank all our investors for investing in the 
future by showing interest in Galata Wind, and to express that we 
stand behind our commitments and we will continue to work with 
this responsibility. The energy sector is a long road to walk and 
we make maximum effort with our 10 year of experience to better 
place Galata Wind for all of our stakeholders to benefit from.

Our net profit as of the end of 
2021 is TRY 170.9 million.

Net Profit

Assessment of the Chief Executive Officer

170.9 million TRY
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We are planning to pay a 
dividend of at least 5% of paid-in 
capital every year.

The main target of Galata Wind, which tackles the climate crisis 
and determines its strategies within the scope of sustainability 
awareness, is to constantly grow by making investments and 
at the same time, to always distribute dividends to its investors. 
Considering the profits of prior years and steady cash flow in 
the balance sheet, as Galata Wind, we plan to distribute at least 
5% of paid-in capital every year in dividends, while achieving 
sustainable growth with our new investments.

In order to improve ourselves in the field of corporate 
governance, we do our best for transparency, to simultaneously 
share all necessary information with investors, to be in harmony 
with international standards as much as possible, and to maintain 
consistency with periodic audits. 

We will continue to put in maximum effort to honor the 
commitments that we have given during the public offering. As 
Galata Wind, we will go forward with the determination to support 
our planet’s natural life cycle by generating 100% renewable 
electrical energy with our solar and wind power plants and 
contribute to our country’s economic and power transition.

I would like to thank all our stakeholders, specifically my 
teammates, who trusted and supported Galata Wind in 2021.

Best regards,

Burak Kuyan
Chief Executive Officer
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Galata Wind In Figures 
 
Having installed the first ever 
manufactured 75 meter blades, 
Taşpınar Wind Power Plant features 
the latest technology of turbines 
commercially available.

Total Installed Capacity

Wind Power Installed Capacity

Mersin WPP

Taşpınar WPP

Çorum PV

Erzurum PV

269 

235 

62.7 

67.2 

9.4 

24.7 

MW

MW

MW

MW

MW

MW

Şah WPP

105 
MW

Solar PV Installed Capacity

34 
MW



Şah WPP

35 Vestas V90  
3 MW turbine

Taşpınar WPP

14 Nordex N149  
4.8 MW turbine

Erzurum PV

Smart Solar 360/365 W 
MonoPerc panels 

Çorum PV

JinkoSolar 320 W 
Polycrystalline panels

Mersin WPP

14 Vestas V90 
3 MW turbine + 6 Vestas 
V112 3.45 MW turbine

Galata Wind At A Glance
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Galata Wind 
Portfolio   

Şah WPP
13th largest power plant in Turkey
Installed Capacity: 105 MW
Number of Turbines: 35
Annual Average Electricity  
Generation (MWh): 330,000
Capacity Utilization Rate: 35.8%
YEKDEM Expiry Date: 2021

Taşpınar WPP
Commissioned in March 2021.
Installed Capacity: 67.2 MW
Number of Turbines: 14
Annual Average Electricity Generation (MWh): 190,000
Capacity Utilization Rate: 36.1%
YEKDEM Expiry Date: 2030
Local contribution share: +21 USD/MWh –  
until the end of 2025

Mersin WPP
One of the most efficient power plants in Turkey 
Installed Capacity: 62.7 MW
Number of Turbines: 20
Annual Average Electricity Generation (MWh): 
215,000
Capacity Utilization Rate: 43.2%
YEKDEM Expiry Date: 2020

Mersin

Çorum

Balıkesir

Bursa
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Galata Wind contributes 
to the sustainable 

development of Turkey 
with its wind and solar 

power plants. 
Çorum PV
(Unlicensed)
Installed Capacity: 9.4 MW
Annual Average Electricity Generation (MWh): 
14,000
Capacity Utilization Rate: 20.0%
YEKDEM Expiry Date: 2027

Erzurum PV
(Unlicensed)
One of the most productive power 
plants in its distribution region 
Installed Capacity: 24.7 MW
Annual Average Electricity Generation 
(MWh): 40,000
Capacity Utilization Rate: 23.0%
YEKDEM Expiry Date: 2028

Erzurum

(*) Capacity Utilization Rates are calculated with the MWe power of the plants.. 
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About Galata Wind

With Gold Standard and VCS certified wind and solar power 
plants across Turkey, Galata Wind generates 100% renewable 
energy. The Company also designs solar power systems to be 
placed on the roofs of residences, schools, workplaces, gas 
stations and factories, allowing them to generate their own 
energy.

A subsidiary of Doğan Holding since 2012, Galata Wind Energy 
reduces approximately 400,000 tons of carbon emissions 
annually via its 100% clean electrical energy generated from 
renewable resources. Boasting an installed capacity of 269 MW, 
Galata Wind aims to reduce Turkey’s dependence on foreign 
supply of energy by utilizing renewable energy sources, and to 
become the clean electricity provider with an environmentally 
friendly, reliable and sustainable business model.

Mersin WPP, one of the Company’s wind power plants, received 
its generation license in 2007 and was commissioned in 2010. 
Meanwhile, Şah WPP received its license in 2008 and was 
commissioned in 2011.

Making additional capacity investments of 12 MW in Şah WPP 
and 9 MW in Mersin WPP in 2013, Galata Wind further invested in 
state-of-the-art turbines of 20.7 MW in Mersin WPP increasing its 
total capacity to 62.7 MW in 2017. 

Galata Wind invested in the unlicensed solar power area in 
the 2017-2018 period and acquired Çorum PV. Galata Wind 
acquired Erzurum PV in the 2018-2019 period.

Galata Wind received the preliminary license of its Taşpınar WPP 
project in 2017 and initiated its construction works in 2020, 
upon the issuance of its license. Taşpınar Wind Power Plant was 
commissioned with full capacity as of March 2021. 

The Company’s subsidiary Sunflower Solar aims to ensure 
that every household generates its own clean energy with 
commercial and industrial solar roof projects. The Company also 
conducts research into alternative and niche technologies such 
as electric vehicle charging stations and battery systems.

Investing into the future with green, clean and renewable energy 
power plants, Galata Wind undertakes to expand its portfolio 
exclusively through renewable energy activities.

In line with the investment vision of its main shareholders Doğan 
Holding, the Company continues to contribute to the Turkish 
economy with its team of expert, well-equipped and agile 
professionals. Continuing to work towards a sustainable future 
since its inception, Galata Wind invests in the future with the 
efficient power plants in its portfolio.

Investing in the future with 
renewable energy power plants, 
Galata Wind undertakes not to 
add any energy assets other than 
renewable ones to its portfolio.
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By 2025, Galata Wind aims to have increased the capacity of 
its portfolio to 500-550 MW, exclusively with renewable energy 
investments through capacity extentions at its own power plants, 
acquiring new WPPs and PVs in Turkey, participating in YEKA 
tenders to be held by the government and acquiring small and 
medium-sized power plants, or else by developing projects 
abroad. The Company’s ultimate goal is to provide its investors 
with environmentally friendly, clean, sustainable and foreseeable 
profit margin and cash flow by including renewable power plants 
with guaranteed purchase agreements and long-term bilateral 
agreements in its portfolio. 

Headquartered in İstanbul/Üsküdar, Galata Wind’s Şah WPP is 
located in Balıkesir/Bandırma; Mersin WPP is located in Mersin/
Mut; Taşpınar WPP is located in Bursa/Nilüfer, Çorum PV is 
located in Çorum/Merkez and its Erzurum PV is located in 
Erzurum - Aziziye, Hınıs and Karayazı.
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Our Vision and Mission

OUR VISION  
To create sustainable value for our country and stakeholders 
with our competent employees, by generating electrical 
energy exclusively from renewable sources in line with 
our environmentally friendly, respectful and transparent 
management principles. 

OUR MISSION 
To become a preferred, exemplary, pioneering and respectable 
institution that first comes to mind in Turkey and in the region 
with an environmentally friendly, reliable and sustainable 
business model, while reducing Turkey’s foreign dependence 
on supply of energy by using national renewable energy 
sources. 

Galata Wind Annual Report 2021
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Galata Wind At A Glance
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Our Principles, Essential Values and Policies 

At Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş.;
• We appreciate the value,
• We bring innovation,
• We act with responsibility and transparency,
• We approach our work with passion,
• We achieve together,
 as in the values of Doğan Holding.

Customer Satisfaction: The satisfaction of our customers 
and the community is the focal point of all of our activities. We 
complete and deliver our commitments on time and in full. 

Continuous Improvement: We monitor our processes with 
performance indicators on quality, the environment, occupational 
health & safety and energy, and strive to improve our system 
before irregularities occur. 

Highly Qualified Employees: We work as a goal-driven team that 
is specialized in its area of endeavor, and that possesses a high 
level of knowledge, loves its work, takes responsibility, is proud 
of its accomplishments, well-equipped, and free from personal 
conflicts. 

Protecting Human and Environmental Health: We consider 
mitigating all risks that may harm human and environmental 
health within the scope of our business processes and informing 
the public to be integral parts of our activities.

Environmental Policy
Our environmental policy covers all activities that directly or indirectly 
affect the management, energy generation and maintenance processes 
at Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. and its plants. Our Environmental Policy: 
• Protecting the environment, 
• Preventing pollution at its source and reducing the negative impact of 

our activities on the environment, 
• Providing the human and technological resources necessary to 

reduce our environmental impact,
• Minimizing waste, 
• Determining and mitigating the risk of environmental emergencies, 
• Improving our employees by providing them with environmental 

awareness training, 
• Meeting the requirements of relevant environmental legislation, 
• Working continuously to improve our environmental management 

systems.
• Committing in investing in domestic, renewable and clean energy,
• Setting objectives for regularly measuring our impact on climate 

(greenhouse gas emissions),
• Engaging in activities to reduce our emissions in line with our 

commitments,
• Undertaking to share the obtained results of our climate mitigation 

activities with our stakeholders.

Information Security Policy 
Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş has determined the following main policies 
to manage all types of information generated by our Company in 
compliance with legislation, and by applying risk methods according to 
the principles of “confidentiality, integrity and accessibility”: 
• Complying with the requirements of Information Security Standards, 
• Complying with all legislation regarding Information Security, 
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• Identifying risks to information assets and managing those risks 
systematically, 

• Constantly reviewing and improving the Information Security 
Management System, 

• Providing training to develop technical and behavioral 
competencies to increase Information Security awareness.

Occupational Health and Safety Policies 
Based on the view that the most fundamental and valuable 
element of an organization is its employees and other interested 
parties, according to our OHS policy to minimize accidents, 
occupational diseases and damages, and with the aim of 
creating a healthy and safe working environment and ensuring its 
continuity, Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. represents and undertakes to: 
• Determine its OHS targets, develop programs to achieve these 

targets and continuously improve OHS management and 
performance by monitoring the implementation and results,

• Conduct training sessions for our employees to develop, 
establish and maintain Occupational Health and Safety 
awareness, 

• Comply with Occupational Health and Safety Legislation, Laws 
and Regulations, 

• Prevent potential work accidents, occupational diseases and 
harmful environmental impacts.

Customer Satisfaction Policy 
At Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. we focus on customer satisfaction and 
legal requirements and carry out our activities in line with our 
vision, mission and values. We have established our “Customer 
Satisfaction Policy” on our respectable and reliable identity 

in order to respond to your requests, recommendations and 
complaints, improve our quality standards, provide a better 
service and maintain our leading position in the industry. 

As your solution partner, we believe our customers deserve the 
best, and we are delighted to share our “Customer Satisfaction 
Policy.”

Energy Policy
• We commit to all our stakeholders that the energy we produce 

will solely be of renewable origin.
• Our aim is to reduce our energy consumption on an annual 

basis through continuous development activities, increase our 
energy efficiency and reduce energy losses. 

• In order to achieve our goal, we take into account our 
production variables, climatic conditions, total working times 
and other potential effects, make a statistical prediction 
regarding our energy consumption and set improvement 
targets based on this projected value. 

• We prepare remedial action plans to achieve our goals. 
• We regularly monitor our energy consumption. We compare 

our actual energy consumption with the projected values and 
assess our performance. 

• In all our procurement processes that will affect our 
performance, we focus primarily on energy efficiency in our 
assessments and make decisions accordingly. 

• We inform our employees about our policy and purpose 
through various communication tools and training sessions and 
aim to raise their awareness. 

• We respect and implement all legislation and standards we are 
obliged to comply with.
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Certificates

Galata Wind’s head office and all its plants possess the 
certificates below:

• ISO 9001:2015 Quality Management System 
• ISO 14001:2015 Environmental Management System
• ISO 45001:2018 Occupational Health and Safety Management 

System
• ISO 10002:2018 Customer Satisfaction Management System 
• ISO 50001:2018 Energy Management System

In addition to these certificates, the Company’s head office and 
wind power plants possess the ISO/IEC 27001:2013 Information 
Security Management System certificate.

Obtained in 2015, the certificates are renewed every 3 years 
and are subject to an interim audit every year. All certificates 
have been renewed for 3 years in 2021. 

 

With its respectable and reliable 
identity, Galata Wind always 
prioritizes integrated quality 
management system approach and 
legal requirements and carries out its 
activities in line with its vision, mission 
and values.
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Financial Indicators
In analyzing and interpreting the Company’s financial standing and results, the financial information below should be considered along with other 
financial information included in the Consolidated Financial Statements and Footnotes.  

2021 2020 2019
Consolidated Income Statement (TRY million)
Sales 540.23 335.20 248.42
Gross Profit 394.86 246.50 173.47
Other Operating Expenses, net 40.43 45.06 15.89
EBIT 405.34 274.31 175.12
EBITDA 428.07 263.80 193.14
Net Financial Expenses -208.98 -75.59 -91.05
Net Profit for the Period 170.91 156.36 64.27
Earnings Per Share 0.0032 0.0029 0.0020
Price/Earnings Ratio(%) 18.25
Gross Profit Margin (%) 73.1 73.5 69.8
EBIT Margin (%) 75.0 81.8 70.5
EBITDA Margin (%) 79.2 78.7 77.7
Net Profit Margin (%) 31.6 46.6 25.9
Consolidated Statements of the Financial Position (TRY million)
Total Assets 1,767.59 1,620.62 1,278.65

Current Assets 389.09 171.50 182.02
Cash and Cash Equivalents 158.92 66.12 132.68

Non-Current Assets 1,378.50 1,449.12 1,096.63
Property. Plant & Equipment 880.68 849.66 386.40
Intangible Assets 312.94 319.69 325.21
VAT Receivables 244.36 306.81 332.19

Total Liabilities 687.06 693.38 497.77
Current Liabilities 288.05 302.49 98.86
Non-Current Liabilities 481.85 390.89 398.91

Short-term and Long-term Borrowings 632.28 535.72 400.51
Total Equity 997.69 927.24 780.88
Net Debt 610.98 627.26 315.75
Net Financial Debt* 473.36 469.60 267.84
Capital Expenditure** 85.51 425.07 11.91
ROA (%) 9.7 9.6 5.0
ROE (%) 17.1 16.9 8.2
Net Financial Debt/EBITDA (%) 1.1 1.8 1.4
Net Financial Debt/Equity (%) 0.5 0.5 0.5
Financial Debt/Assets (%) 0.4 0.3 0.3
Current Rate 1.35 0.57 1.84
Current Assets/Total Assets 0.22 0.11 0.14
Current Liabilities/Total Liabilities 0.42 0.44 0.20
Total Liabilities/ Total Assets 0.44 0.43 0.39

* Short-term borrowings short-term portions of long-term borrowings long-term borrowings cash and cash equivalents  have been taken into consideration. 
** Cash outflows from the purchase of tangible and intangible assets 
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Revenue (TRY million) Gross Profit Margin (TRY million)

EBITDA (TRY million) EBITDA Margin (%)

Capital Expenditure (TRY million)* Net Financial Debt/EBITDA 

* Cash outflows from the purchase of tangible and intangible assets
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Public Offering Process

The process that started on January 27, 2021, for the Public 
Offering of 30% of the shares of Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. has been 
finalized in a record time of 2 months following the application 
made to the Capital Markets Board (CMB) on March 4, 2021, and 
the approval of the prospectus by the CMB on April 9, 2021. 
Galata Wind shares started to be traded at Borsa Istanbul on April 
22, 2021.

In the process meticulously managed by a team consisting of 
Galata Wind Board of Directors, Financial Affairs, Operation 
and Legal Departments and Doğan Holding Executive Board, 
Financial Affairs, CMB, Corporate Relations and IT departments, 
Garanti BBVA was the leader of the intermediary consortium, and 
BASEAK Attorney Partnership was the legal advisor.

Following the approval of the CMB, the book-building process 
was held on April 15-16, 2021 and the results were announced 
via the Public Disclosure Platform (KAP) on April 18, 2021. With 
809,966 bids accepted, it has become the second book-building 
process that attracted the most interest. During this period, a 
record 868,939 bids were received from domestic and foreign 
investors.

As a result of the IPO, Doğan Holding, who is the owner of Galata 
Wind shares received more than TRY 800 Million, generating a 
significant amount of value. 

Investor Group Planned Collection Request Distribution
Nominal 

Value (TRY) Rate
Number of 

Investors
Nominal 

Value (TRY) Rate
Number of 

Investors
Nominal 

Value (TRY) Rate
Foreign Corporate 13,369,787.00 10% 16 113,804,836.00 10.6% 10 39,146,736.00 24.4%
Domestic Corporate 53,479,148.00 40% 326 673,083,385.00 63% 199 42,783,319.00 26.7%
Company Employees 1,336,978.70 1% 41 1,810,813.00 0.2% 41 1,570,148.00 1%
Domestic Individual 65,511,956.30 49% 868,556 280,149,186.00 26.2% 809,966 76,937,237.00 48%
TOTAL 133,697,870.00 100% 868,939 1,068,848,220.00 100% 810,216 160,437,440.00 100%

A record 868,939 bids were 
received from investors at Galata 
Wind public offering - first green public 
offering in Turkey. 
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Galata Wind’s IPO is also of great importance since it was the first 
green public offering in Turkey.

Successfully completing a comprehensive sustainability rating 
audit process by Vigeo Eiris, an affiliate of Moody’s, in order 
to realize a green public offering, Galata Wind ranked in the 
“Robust” category with an ESG rating of 57/100 as a result of the 
Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) assessment.

Galata Wind’s public offering has been finalized in line with the 
sustainability vision of Doğan Holding and became one of the 
major building blocks of the Holding’s sensitivity in this regard. 

Additionally, Galata Wind became the first group company within 
the Holding to officially determine its sustainability commitments.

Engaged in the generation of renewable electricity, Galata 
Wind, is one of the few companies listed on the Stock Exchange 
in Turkey in terms of its field of activity and strategy. In order 
to differentiate itself from its competitors in the sector, it has 
made its activities available for the supervision of international 
organizations and taken significant steps to ensure the 

sustainability of this strategy. The main reason why Galata Wind 
realized Turkey’s First Green Public Offering is not only that it is 
a company that generates electricity from renewable energy, 
but also its international vision and its transparent sustainability 
commitments. 

Galata Wind commits that it will:

• Not invest in fossil resources other than renewable resources,
• Become carbon zero within its operations (Scope 1) until 2025,
• Validate its carbon emission reductions until the expirations 

of the Gold Standard and VCS and have its carbon credit 
issuances verified, 

• Increase the rate of women in executive staff to over 30% 
within 2 years,

• Have at least one female member on the Board of Directors.
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Investor Relations & Stock Performance

The Investor Relations Department 
participated in and organized  
over 75 teleconferences, video 
conferences and face-to-face 
meetings, including the roadshows 
held in 2021.

Investor and Shareholder Relations Department
Following its public offering on April 22, 2021, the Galata 
Wind Enerji A.Ş. Investor Relations function was carried out by 
the Investor Relations Department of Doğan Holding. Galata 
Wind established its own Investor Relations Department in 
mid-December 2021. As of December 20, 2021, the person 
responsible at the Investor and Shareholder Relations Unit is: 

Investor Relations Director and Corporate Governance 
Committee Member 
Halide Müge Yücel 
Capital Market Activities Level 3 License (207941) 
Corporate Governance Rating License (701487) 

Investor Relations Contact Information:
Telephone: +90 216 556 9474
E-mail: ir@galatawind.com.tr
Website: http://www.galatawindenerji.com

The aim of the Investor Relations Department is to disclose 
corporate information other than that which is non-public, 
confidential and constitutes trade secrets in an accurate, consistent 
and timely manner so as not to cause information asymmetry. The 
department also acts as a bridge between the Company and the 
capital market regulators and participants. In order to raise the 
profile of the Company and provide communication and information 
flow in relation to the Company’s activities, financial situation and 
strategies, the department also maintains bilateral communication 
between the Board of Directors and domestic and foreign investors 

and shareholders. The Investor Relations Department reports directly 
to CEO, Burak Kuyan. H. Müge Yücel, was assigned as the Director 
and Member of the Corporate Governance Committee on December 
21, 2021. In addition to ensuring the Company’s compliance with 
the obligations under Capital Markets legislation, managing the 
daily activities of the Department, expanding the shareholder base 
and corporate governance, H. Müge Yücel is also responsible for 
coordinating the sustainability practices within the Company.

The Investor Relations Department participated in and organized over 
75 teleconferences, video conferences and face-to-face meetings, 
including the roadshow held in 2021. All incoming information 
requests were responded to via telephone, e-mail, or one-on-one 
meetings without exception in accordance with the Public Disclosure 
Policy of the Company and in line with publicly available information. 

Exercise of Shareholders’ Right to Obtain Information
The Investor Relations Department plays an important role in 
protecting shareholder rights and facilitating the exercise of these 
rights. No exceptions are made in relation to the rights of the 
shareholders to examine and obtain information. Additionally, all 
information other than that which non-public, confidential and 
constituting trade secrets is submitted to the shareholders in line 
with the Company’s Public Disclosure Policy. For this purpose, the 
corporate website (www.galatawindenerji.com) is updated regularly 
with Turkish information and statements, and it is planned to make 
available the English version of the website in the first quarter of 
2022. 
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The right to appoint a Special Auditor is not specifically regulated 
in the Company’s Articles of Association, and the company 
management does not restrict any private audit process. The 
Company acts in accordance with Article 438 of the Turkish 
Commercial Code. Accordingly, each shareholder may request the 
appointment of a special auditor from the General Assembly when 
necessary; even if not on the agenda, provided that they have 
exercised their right to obtain and review information. If the General 
Assembly approves this request, the Company or each shareholder 
can apply to the commercial court of the city where the Company’s 
head office is located within 30 days to appoint a special auditor. 
No request was received during the period regarding the 
appointment of a special auditor. 

General Assembly Meetings
The Ordinary General Assembly of Galata Wind regarding the 
financial year 2020 was held at the Company’s head office on 
February 19, 2021, ahead of the public offering. During the 
meeting, PwC Bağımsız Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali 
Müşavirlik A.Ş. was appointed as the independent auditor for the 
accounting period between January 1, 2021, and December 31, 
2021.

The General Assembly meetings are regulated with an internal 
guideline in accordance with Article 14 titled “General Assembly” 
of the Articles of Association. Galata Wind holds its General 
Assembly meetings in line with this internal guideline, which was 
amended and approved at the Extraordinary General Assembly 
dated December 21, 2021. 

Accordingly, the invitation to General Assembly meetings will 
be made by the Board of Directors within the framework of the 
Turkish Commercial Code, Capital Markets Law and the Company’s 
Articles of Association. The material event disclosures are made 
via the Public Disclosure Platform (KAP) and the Electronic General 
Assembly System (EGKS). In order to ensure maximum shareholder 
participation, the meeting is announced on the corporate website 
and on the e-COMPANY portal of the Central Registry Agency at 
least 21 days before the General Assembly meeting. 

At the Extraordinary General Assembly held on 04.03.2021, 
before going public, the new term Board of Directors was elected, 
and Çağlar Göğüş was elected as the Chairman of the Board 
of Directors and Burak Kuyan as the Chairman of the Executive 
Board, separating the duties of the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors and the Chief Executive Officer. At the Extraordinary 
General Assembly meeting held on 04.03.2021, amendments 
were approved and included within the Company’s Articles of 
Association, as approved by the Capital Markets Board letter dated 
26.02.2021 and numbered E-29833736-110.03.03 2450, and by 
the Ministry of Commerce, General Directorate of Domestic Trade 
authorization, dated 01.03.2021 and numbered E.50035491- 
431.02-00061885680.
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Investor Relations & Stock Performance
At the Extraordinary General Assembly dated December 21, 2021, 
a total of 40,257,911,865 shares, of which 10,100 in person 
and 40,257,901,765 by proxy were represented in the General 
Assembly, out of 53,479,145,765 shares corresponding to total 
capital of TRY 534,791,457.65. Each agenda item was voted on 
separately and announced before the meeting was finalized by a 
count of votes. The following agenda items were discussed: Voting 
of the Members of the Board of Directors in accordance with Article 
363 of the Turkish Commercial Code, amendments to the Articles of 
Association, amendments to the “Internal Guideline on the Working 
Rules and Principles of the General Assembly, and changes to the 
structure of the Board of Directors and the remuneration of the 
Members of the Board of Directors and Senior Managers. During the 
General Assembly Meeting, the issue of whether the shareholders 
who control the management of the Company, Members of the Board 
of Directors, executive managers with administrative responsibilities, 
their spouses and blood relatives and relatives by marriage up to 
second degree will be allowed to carry out important transactions 
that may lead to conflicts of interest with the Company or its 
subsidiaries, and/or have the right to act on behalf of themselves 
or a third party in the same area of activity as the Company or its 
affiliates, or own unlimited shares in a business operating in the same 
area of activity as the Company or its affiliates was also discussed 
as a separate item. It was noted in the meeting minutes that no such 
transaction had taken place during the reporting period and that 
the Board of Directors was not informed regarding any person with 
access to company information also operating in the same area of 
activity as the Company.

The amendments made to the Company’s Articles of Association 
within the framework of the authorizations received in 2021 were 
on the agenda of both Extraordinary General Meetings. At the 
Extraordinary General Assembly dated 04.03.2021, Article 2 titled 
“Company Title,” Article 3 titled “Purpose and Subject,” Article 4 titled 
“Company Headquarters and Branches,” Article 6 titled “Capital,” 
Article 7 titled “Share Certificates and Types of Share Certificates,” 
Article 8 titled “Merger and Division Provisions,” Article 9 titled “Board 
of Directors,” Article 10 titled “Authority of the Board of Directors,” 
Article 12 titled “Division and Meetings of the Board of Directors,” 
Article 13 titled “Auditor,” Article 14 titled “General Assembly,” 
Article 15 titled “Determination and Distribution of Profit,” Article 
17 titled “Amendment of Articles of Association,” Article 19 titled 
“Announcements,” Article 20 titled “Legal Provisions,” and Article 21 
titled “Bond Issuance” were amended, Article 22 titled “Donations 
and Aids.” 

In addition, at the Extraordinary General Assembly dated 
21.12.2021, Article 6 titled “Capital” and Article 9 titled 
“Remuneration of the Board of Directors and Members of the Board 
of Directors” were amended. In addition, the size of the Board of 
Directors was increased from 6 to 7 members and each member 
was elected for a term of 1 year. It is possible to see all changes 
made regarding the Articles of Association on the Public Disclosure 
Platform (https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/987240). Further, the 
most up-to-date version can readily be retrieved under the “Articles 
of Association” subheading in the “Corporate Governance” section 
on our corporate website.

All amendments to the Articles of Association can be accessed 
on the Public Disclosure Platform (https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/
Bildirim/987240) and the current version of the Articles of 
Association (https://galatawindenerji.com/kurumsal-yonetim/#Esas-
Sozlesme) is available under the “Articles of Association” title from 
the “Corporate Governance” menu on our corporate website. 

Voting Rights and Minority Rights
There are no privileges regarding the voting rights within the scope 
of the Company’s Articles of Association. Each share grants one vote 
at the Ordinary and Extraordinary General Assembly meetings. CMB 
regulations on voting by proxy are strictly enforced. All shareholders 
are provided with the opportunity to vote equally, conveniently and 
appropriately. Information on the structure of the Company’s shares 
as well as the voting rights and voting privileges granted by the 
shares are specified in the General Assembly disclosure documents. 
It is clearly stated that one share grants one vote and no voting 
privilege is granted to any group of shareholders. At the General 
Assembly meetings, the shareholders may be represented by other 
shareholders or through a proxy they will appoint, in line with the 
regulations regarding voting by proxy under the Capital Markets 
Law. Shareholders may participate in General Assembly meetings 
electronically in line with Article 1527 of the Turkish Commercial 
Code and Article 14 of the Articles of Association. Although a rate of 
less than 5% is specified in the Articles of Association regarding the 
exercise of minority rights, Galata Wind shows ultimate care in the 
exercise of minority rights in compliance with the provisions of the 
Turkish Commercial Code.
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Privileged Shares
According to the current shareholding structure described on page 
40 of the Annual Report, there are no privileged shares in the 
Company. 

Stock Performance
Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. shares are traded on Borsa Istanbul A.Ş. as 
of April 22, 2021 and the share price was TRY 5.84 as of 
December 31, 2021. Details regarding the stock performance of 
the Company are given below:

2021 Stock Performance
Stock Exchange Borsa Istanbul
BIST Ticker GWIND
Reuters Ticker GWIND.IS
Bloomberg Ticker GWIND.TI
Initial Public Offering 22 April 2021
Total Number of Shares (million) 534,8
Free Float Rate 27%

TRY USD
Share Price (31.12.2021) 5,8400 0,4381
Lowest (02.07.2021) 3,2600 0,3756
Highest (17.12.2021) 6,3100 0,3863
Market Cap. (31.12.2021) 3.123,23 234,32
Daily average trading volume 19.3 Million

Changes Occurring from the Period-End to the Issuance of the 
Report
An “EIA Positive Decision” was taken by the Ministry of 
Environment, Urbanization and Climate Change on 20.01.2022 for 
the 42.58 MW Hybrid SPP project planned to be built  
in Taşpınar WPP.
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Capital and Shareholding Structure

Galata Wind continues its activities 
as a subsidiary of Doğan Holding, 
one of Turkey’s leading holdings.

Galata Wind’s shareholder structure as of 31.12.2021 is as follows:

Full Name/Title of Shareholder (*) Share (TRY) Share (%)
Voting Right 

Ratio (%)
Doğan Şirketler Grubu Holding A.Ş. 390,654,017.65 73.05 73.05
Other 144,137,440 26.95 26.95
Total 534,791,457.65 100 100
 
(*) Real persons and legal entities that possess more than 5% or more of the shares or voting rights in the capital

There has been no change in the issued capital of the company as of December 31, 2021. During the reporting period, the company 
was first offered to the public on April 22, 2021. 
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Dividend Distribution Policy
GALATA WİND ENERJİ A.Ş. DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION 
POLICY  
Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. (“Company”) makes dividend distribution 
decisions, and discloses it to the public, in line with the Turkish 
Commercial Code, Capital Markets Legislation, Capital Markets 
Law, CMB regulations and resolutions, tax laws, provisions of 
other applicable legislation, as well as the Articles of Association, 
and resolutions of the General Assembly.  

Accordingly: 
1. As a principle, the portion “net distributable profit for the 

period” corresponding to at least 5% of the issued capital 
calculated as per Capital Markets Legislation, Capital Markets 
Law, CMB regulations and resolutions is to be distributed, 
taking into account the financial statements issued in 
compliance with the Capital Markets Legislation, Capital 
Markets Law, CMB regulations and resolutions. 

2. In case a dividend distribution exceeding 5% of the 
issued capital is wished to be distributed from the “net 
distributable profit for the period” calculated within the scope 
of Article 1, the financial statements, the financial status, 
and the investment plans of our Company are taken into 
consideration as well as the general economic outlook and 
the market conditions. 

3. The dividend distribution proposal is disclosed to the public 
as per Capital Markets Legislation, Capital Markets Law, and 
CMB regulations and resolutions, within the legal deadlines. 

4. In case the “net distributable profit” calculated in line with 
the legal records kept within the scope of the Turkish 
Commercial Code and the tax laws is: 

 a. lower than the amount calculated as per Article 1, the “net 
distributable profit” calculated as per the legal records kept 
within the scope of this article hereby is taken into account 
and is distributed in its entirety, 

 b. higher than the amount calculated as per Article 1, action 
is taken as per Article 2. 

5. In case there is no “net distributable profit” as per the 
legal accounting records kept within the scope of the Tax 
Legislation and the Uniform Account Plan (“Accounting 
System Practices General Communiqué”) published by the 
Ministry of Finance; dividend might not be distributed even 
as per the Capital Markets Legislation, Capital Markets Law, 
CMB Regulations and Resolutions. 

6. In case the calculated “net distributable profit” is below 
5% of the issued capital, it is possible that no dividend be 
distributed. 

7. The upper limit of the aid and donations that will be made 
by the Company within the accounting period in compliance 
with the Capital Markets Legislation, Capital Markets Law, 
CMB Regulations and Resolutions, and as per the principles 
set forth in the Articles of Association shall be determined 
by the General Assembly. No donations may be made 
in amounts exceeding the limit set forth by the General 
Assembly, and the donations made shall be added to the 
“net distributable profit” base. 

8. The dividend distribution shall start at the periods permitted 
by the Capital Markets Legislation, Capital Markets Law, CMB 
Regulations and Resolutions, and in any case, as of the end 
of the accounting period. 

9. In line with the Capital Markets Legislation, Capital Markets 
Law, CMB regulations and resolutions, and the provisions of 
the Articles of Association, and as per the resolutions of the 
General Assembly, the Company may distribute the dividend 
in cash and/or “bonus shares,” or may pay it in installments.

10. The Company may also pay dividends to individuals 
who are not shareholders, in line with resolutions by the 
General Assembly. In such a case, an action shall be taken 
in compliance with the Turkish Commercial Code, Capital 
Markets Legislation, Capital Markets Law, CMB Regulations 
and Resolutions, and the provisions of the Articles of 
Association.

11. The Company may decide to distribute, and may distribute, 
“advance dividend” in line with the Turkish Commercial 
Code; Capital Markets Legislation, Capital Markets Law, CMB 
Regulations and Resolutions, Tax Laws, the provisions of 
other relevant legislation, the Articles of Association, and the 
General Assembly Resolution. 

12. Investments requiring significant amounts of cash outflow 
to increase the share value, significant issues affecting the 
financial structure, important economic, market or other 
uncertainties and problems outside the control of the 
Company shall be taken into account in making dividend 
distribution decisions, and determining the dividend 
distribution amount and percentage. In that case, even if 
there is a “net distributable profit for the period” base, it is 
possible not to make a dividend distribution, or to propose 
a dividend distribution at a lower amount and a percentage 
than those calculated as per the above criteria. 

At the Ordinary General Assembly meeting dated 19.02.2021, 
it was decided to distribute a “cash” dividend amounting to TRY 
100,000,000 in total. The dividend distribution was completed 
on 31.03.2021.
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Taşpınar WPP was 
commissioned at full 
capacity in March 2021.

Milestones
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2006
• The Company was established as GY Enerji 

Danışmanlık Proje Mühendislik Üretim Ticaret 
ve Sanayi Limited Şirketi.

2007
• The Company’s name was changed to Galata 

Wind Enerji Limited Şirketi.

2012
• The name of the company holding the license 

for Şah WPP was changed to Galata Wind 
Enerji Anonim Şirketi and it was acquired by 
Doğan Group. 

• Akdeniz Elektrik Üretim A.Ş., which holds 
the license for Mersin WPP was acquired by 
Doğan Group.

2014
• Galata Wind and Akdeniz Elektrik were 

merged under Galata Wind, whereby the 
license for Mersin WPP was transferred to 
Galata Wind. 

2017
• On 20.12.2017, an additional capacity of 21 

MW was commissioned in Mersin WPP.

2018
• On 15.03.2018, Çorum PV was acquired.
• On 07.06.2018 it was merged under Galata 

Wind.

2019
• On 15.03.2019, Erzurum PV was acquired.
• On 31.12.2019 it was merged under Galata 

Wind.

2020
• Construction of Taşpınar WPP was initiated.
• On 28.10.2020, partial Ministry acceptance 

of Taşpınar WPP was made and generation 
activities were initiated.

• 100% of the shares of Sunflower Solar Güneş 
Enerjisi Sistemleri Ticaret Anonim Şirketi were 
acquired.

2021
• Taşpınar WPP was commissioned at full 

capacity in March.
• On 04.03.2021, an application was made 

to the Capital Markets Board for the 
Company’s public offering.

• The Capital Markets Board approved the 
Prospectus on 09.04.2021.

• The book-building process was conducted 
on 15-16.04.2021. 

• On 22.04.2021, the Company commenced 
trading on Borsa Istanbul under the GWIND 
ticker. 

Galata Wind At A Glance
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Board of Directors
Çağlar Göğüş
Chairman
Çağlar Göğüş earned his B.Sc. degree in Business Administration at Bilkent University in 
Turkey, and his MBA from the University of Florida. He began his professional career in 1996 
as a Senior Analyst at Coopers & Lybrand (currently PwC). In 2000, Following his tenure as 
Senior Analyst and consultant at Arthur Andersen and AT Kearney, he joined the Peppers 
& Rogers Group. Later becoming an international partner at Peppers & Rogers, he initially 
served as the General Manager overseeing after-sales services in all regions. Göğüş played 
an important role in Peppers & Rogers’ growth in the EMEA region and beyond. Through his 
consultancy work for over fifty major companies and regulatory authorities across a range of 
geographic areas, he has gained special expertise in strategic growth and transformation. He 
has attained vast experience over the years in the new economic order as well as in classic 
economics.

Göğüş joined the Doğan Group in 2015 as an independent board member for Hürriyet 
Gazetecilik. After holding this position for one year, he served for over two years as Hürriyet 
Gazetecilik’s Chief Executive Officer (CEO). During his tenure, he oversaw important projects, 
including those involving digital transformation, efficiency, profitability, the redefining of 
business processes and the designing of a corporate identity for Hürriyet Emlak (Hürriyet 
Real Estate and Properties).

Göğüş is married and has a daughter and son.

Bora Yalınay
Vice Chairman
Bora Yalınay has over 20 years of experience in international audit companies, and local and 
international public companies. His areas of expertise include financial restructuring, investor and 
analyst relations, financing, public offerings, cost optimization, financial planning, and analysis.

Bora Yalınay graduated from the Bilkent University, Department of Economics in 1997. Having 
begun his career that year at the Istanbul offices of Deloitte auditing firm, he most recently 
worked as a senior manager. He worked at the Deloitte Canada offices between 2000 and 2002.

Following his auditing experience of over a decade, and Yaysat financial control experience of 1 
year, he continued his career as the Group Financial Audit General Manager with Yıldız Holding 
in 2009. He was the CFO of Ülker Bisküvi between 2010 and 2016. During the process that 
began with the financial restructuring of the company in 2010, he carried out several acquisitions, 
company sales and merger projects, completed overseas financing projects of USD 1 billion, 
and led the secondary public offering process in 2013. He worked as the Vice President of Ülker 
Bisküvi in charge of Turkey, Saudi Arabia, Egypt, Romania, Kazakhstan, Lebanon, and Pakistan 
operations between 2015 and 2016. During that time, he led a team of over 200 finance 
professionals across six geographies. He has also led the financial operations of the central 
procurement company of Yıldız Holding within the scope of his responsibilities with Ülker.

Bora Yalınay has worked as the CFO with the Gürallar Group, the world’s sixth largest glass 
producer exporting to over 130 countries, between 2016 and 2019, having conducted the 
Group’s first overseas financing and expansion projects.

Bora Yalınay holds a Certified Public Accountant certificate and speaks fluent English. He has one 
son.
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Burak Kuyan
Board Member, Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer
He graduated from the Istanbul University, Faculty of Business Administration in 1998 and 
later completed his MBA program at Virginia Tech University in 2002. He then obtained 
a PhD in Business Administration and Finance at Işık University. Upon graduation, Mr. 
Kuyan worked as a Private Portfolio Manager at Finans Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş. He 
joined Doğan Group in 2005 as Assistant Specialist in Strategical Planning and Business 
Development. Along  with the Group’s investments in the energy field, he was appointed 
Energy Director of Doğan Holding in 2012. Kuyan, who has been a Member of the Board 
of Directors and Managing Director of Galata Wind since 2014, has also been serving as 
the General Manager of the Company since 2017. The head of all energy investments and 
operations of the Doğan Group, Kuyan has also been the Chairman of the Board of Directors 
of the Energy Trading Association (ETD) since 2019. He is also a Board Member of the Solar 
Energy Investors Association (GUYAD) and the Electricity Generators Association (EÜD).

Burak Kuyan is married and has one child.

Ayhan Sırtıkara
Board Member
Ayhan Sırtıkara, born in 1976, graduated from the Middle East Technical University, Faculty of 
Economics and Administrative Sciences, Political Science and Public Administration. Having 
gained work experience in Audit, Corporate Finance, Accounting, Tax, Financial Analysis and 
Business Management, he holds the Certified Public Accountant (SMMM) certificate.

Beginning his auditing career at Sanko Holding in 2003, Mr. Sırtıkara served as Internal Audit 
Manager at Doğan Yayın Holding between 2005-2010. Between 2010 and 2013, he worked 
as the Analysis and Evaluation Director within Doğan Holding’s Financial Affairs Unit. Ayhan 
Sırıkara, who was the Vice President of Management Coordination from 2013-2017, remains 
the General Secretary at Doğan Group of Companies.

He is also a PETDER Board Member representing Aytemiz Akaryakıt A.Ş., of which he 
is a Board Member, and is a member of the board of directors of various Doğan Group 
Companies. He is married and has two sons.
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Board of Directors
Neslihan Sadıkoğlu
Board Member
Neslihan Sadıkoğlu, who is the Vice President for Corporate Communication and 
Sustainability in Doğan Group, has over 20 years of experience in all areas of communication 
such as corporate communication, reputation and crisis communication, media relations, 
brand management, marketing and social responsibility and sustainability communication.
 
Upon graduating from the Galatasaray University, Faculty of Communication, Sadıkoğlu 
began work at CNN Türk’s Public Relations unit in 1999, and was appointed Corporate 
Communications Director in 2002. Subsequently, she continued her career at Vakko Holding 
as Communications Coordinator, at Step Halı as Corporate Communications Director, at 
Doğan Burda Magazine Group as Corporate Communications Director and at Douglas 
Parfumeri as Turkey Marketing Director.
 
Neslihan Sadıkoğlu started to work as the Advisor to the Chairwoman of the Board of 
Directors at Doğan Holding in 2016 and was appointed as Doğan Holding’s Vice President 
for Corporate Communications and Marketing on March 1, 2017.
 
Leading the sustainability efforts of Doğan Holding and completing the Cambridge University 
Sustainability Leadership program in 2020, Neslihan Sadıkoğlu continues her duties. 
 
Sadıkoğlu speaks English and French.
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Ozan Korkmaz
Independent Board Member
Ozan Korkmaz, who is the founding partner of APLUS Energy and SmartPulse Technology 
companies, has more than 15 years of experience in the energy sector. 

His areas of expertise include energy demand and price forecasting modeling, feasibility and 
engineering studies of electricity generation investments, operational regime optimization 
in thermal and hydroelectric power plants, electricity transmission & distribution & retail tariff 
modeling and consultancy. 

Before founding APLUS, Ozan Korkmaz, who has studies in the academic field related to 
energy markets, worked as a consultant on numerous energy generation and distribution 
projects during this period. After graduating from the Middle East Technical University, Civil 
Engineering Faculty, Korkmaz completed his MSc. degree in Hydroelectric Energy in the 
same department and continues his PhD. studies at Istanbul Technical University in the field 
of Energy Engineering. 

Hüseyin Faik Açıkalın
Independent Board Member
After earning a Bachelor of Science degree in Business Administration from the Middle 
East Technical University, Faik Açıkalın began his banking career in 1987 as a management 
trainee at Interbank. He subsequently held various positions, including Internal Auditor, 
Relationship Manager, Branch Manager and Marketing Manager at Interbank, Marmarabank, 
Kentbank, Finansbank and Demirbank. In May 1998, he joined Dışbank— later renamed 
Fortis following its acquisition by the eponymous international finance group—as Executive 
Vice President. Later that year, he was appointed Chief Operating Officer (COO) responsible 
for coordination and communication between the Board of Directors and business units. He 
also assumed his position as a Member of the Credit Committee. In June 1999, Açıkalın was 
appointed Deputy Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and a member of the Board of Directors. 
In December 2000, he became CEO of Dışbank. Following the acquisition of the majority 
shares of Dışbank by Fortis in July 2005, he continued to serve as CEO of the bank after 
it was renamed Fortisbank. Within that period he worked in the international management 
of Fortis. In October 2007, he resigned from his duties at Fortisbank and became CEO of 
Doğan Gazetecilik. In April 2009, Açıkalın was appointed Executive Director of Yapı Kredi’s 
Board of Directors and also appointed Chairman of the Executive Committee.

Serving as Yapı Kredi’s CEO since May 2009, in addition to his current role, Açıkalın was also 
appointed as CEO of Koç Financial Services in 2010. Furthermore, in August 2011, Açıkalın 
became the President of Koç Holding’s Banking and Insurance Group. Açıkalın continues 
to serve as Chairman of Yapı Kredi Malta, Yapı Kredi Invest, Yapı Kredi Leasing, Yapı Kredi 
Factoring, Yapı Kredi Bank Nederland NV, Yapı Kredi Bank Azerbaijan, Yapı Kredi Bank 
Moscow, Yapı Kredi Koray Real Estate Investment Trust, and Koç Finansman A.Ş., as Vice 
Chairman of Banque de Commerce et de Placements S.A. and Allianz Yaşam ve Emeklilik 
and as Director of the Banks Association of Turkey. At the end of 2017, Açıkalın relinquished 
his duties at Koç Holding, YKB and its subsidiaries. Hüseyin Faik Açıkalın has been serving as 
an Independent Board Member on Doğan Holding’s Board of Directors since March  
30th, 2018.
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Executive Board & Senior Management
Burak Kuyan, 
Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer
You can find his CV in the Board of Directors section.

Zeki Onur Aytekin
Chief Financial Officer
Z. Onur Aytekin began work as an independent auditor at KPMG upon graduating from 
the Bilkent University, Department of Economics in 2006. He carried out independent 
audits of many sectors, notably banking, non-bank financial institutions, automotive and 
construction, as a manager and senior manager. Between 2014 and 2018, he worked as 
the Finance Director and CFO at Kuehne + Nagel, operating in the logistics industry; and 
İskan Gayrimenkul operating in the construction industry. Aytekin, who started working within 
Doğan Holding in 2018, first took office as Assistant General Manager in charge of Finance 
and Financial Affairs at Doğan Yayınları. In December 2021, he was appointed as CFO of 
Galata Wind. He speaks English. Onur Aytekin is married and has two children.

Özlen Ertuğrul Cendere
Chief Legal Officer
Ozlen Ertugrul Cendere graduated from Marmara University Faculty of Law in 1997 and 
graduated from Indiana University School of Law in 2006 in Master of Law (LL.M.) with 
an Award for Outstanding Academic Performance. She commenced work as a lawyer at 
Doğan Şirketler Grubu Holding A.Ş. in 2008, was appointed as Legal Manager and Senior 
Legal Manager in subsequent years, and took part in many projects, notably the M&A’s of 
energy investments. Cendere, who specializes in corporate law, contract law and M&A, was 
appointed as Chief Legal Counsel to Galata Wind in September 2019. She speaks English, 
and she is married with two children, a girl and a boy.
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Mehmet Ali Gürpınar
Chief Operations Officer
After graduating from the Faculty of Mechanical Engineering at Istanbul Technical University 
in 2009, Gürpınar received an MSc. degree in 2011 from the Nordic Five Joint Programme in 
Innovative Sustainable Energy Engineering at Kungliga Tekniska Högskolan (KTH- Stockholm) 
and in Wind Engineering from Danmarks Tekniske Universitet (DTU-Copenhagen). 
Meanwhile, he worked as a master thesis student at DTU’s National Sustainable Energy 
Laboratory in Risø. Gürpınar commenced work as an Energy Assistant Specialist at Galata 
Wind within the Doğan Holding MT (Management Trainee) Program in October 2012. He 
undertook various duties within the company in the fields of electricity retail sales, portfolio 
management, domestic and international electricity trading, power plant operations, new 
investments and business development. Gürpınar continues his duties as COO and Business 
Development Director. He speaks English and is a Professional Coach.

Halide Müge Yücel
Director and Head of Investor Relations & Corporate Governance Committee Member
H. Müge Yücel was born and raised in Germany and completed her undergraduate 
education in Marketing at Michigan State University in 1999. She also holds a Masters 
in International Management (2001) and International Finance (2003). She joined Doğuş 
Otomotiv in 2008 after an 8-year career abroad where she gained significant experience 
in property investment, strategic management, project planning and financing. She also 
continued her duty as the person responsible for Governance Rating. 

H. Müge Yücel joined Galata Wind in December 2021 as the Director of Investor Relations. 
Yücel, who is a member of the Corporate Governance and Sustainability Committees of 
Galata Wind, will also assume important roles in the Company’s Sustainability, Corporate 
Governance and ESG activities. Yücel is licensed as a Governance, Risk and Compliance 
Professional, and is a Financial Planning and Analysis certificate candidate. She holds the 
CMB Advanced, Corporate Governance Rating, Derivative Instruments and Credit Rating 
licenses. She speaks English and German.
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2021 Review and 
2022 Expectations

With investments supporting a high 
level of profitability and foreseeable 
cash flow, Galata Wind aims to 
be the leading renewable energy 
company of Turkey.

As the pandemic lingered into the year 2021, business and 
economics continued their search for a better way of doing 
business. Vaccinations helped the recovery, yet navigating 
into a better future did not turn out quite as expected. 
Covid-19 became one of the biggest risks yet, but also a great 
opportunity to reset business and identify potential future growth 
opportunities. Amidst all that was happening, Galata Wind took 
the opportunity to go public. This heralded the first Green IPO 
in Turkey. Since April 2021, Galata Wind has been focused on 
improving both its routine operational business, and also on its 
promised targets. The Feed-in-Tariff system (YEKDEM) allowed 
for renewable energy plants to enter the system until July 
2021. That said, Galata Wind managed to start generation at its 
Taşpınar WPP in the first quarter of 2021. Hence, the USD based 
Feed-in-Tariff system for this plant will continue for 10 years. This 
is an important factor as Mersin WPP had exited the same system 
at the end of 2020, as did Sah WPP at 2021 year-end. 

Volatility in the currency markets has also been ongoing in 2021. 
The surge in Turkish Lira depreciation began in November 
peaked in December The Turkish Lira depreciated 75% against 
the USD, and 61% against the EUR. While this pressured the 
Company’s costs, it also provided an opportunity to increase 
Galata Wind’s revenues. Nearly doubling the revenue from TRY
335.2 million to TRY 540.2 million includes not only the 
aforementioned TRY depreciation effect, but also electricity 
generation growth, as well as increases in electricity spot prices. 

In 2021, WPP generation rose 26.3% y-o-y to 690,417 MWh, 
whereas SPP generation remained in parallel to the prior year’s 
figures, generating 54.059 MWh. Average electricity spot prices 
rose by 82.3% to 508,10 TRY/MWh (55,60 USD/MWh) y-o-y. 

With investments supporting a high level of profitability and 
foreseeable cash flow, Galata Wind aims to be the leading 
renewable energy company of Turkey. Thanks to the Company’s 
low indebtedness, strong capital structure and profitable 
investments, Galata Wind has also achieved a very convincing 
level of EBITDA of TRY 428.1 million, an increase from TRY 
263.8 million, up 62% y-o-y. As a result of currency loss due to 
the Company’s foreign currency borrowing, net profit remained 
below expectations, even though it was 9% higher than last year.  

As part of the Company’s growth strategy, Galata Wind will 
remain focused on holding the commitments given during the 
IPO. Capacity extensions, new green-field investments as well 
as relevant opportunities are among Galata Wind’s focus point 
for the next 3-5 years, which would lead to a near doubling 
of installed power to 500-550 MW. The company’s motivation 
for 2022 is to firstly grow organically by experiencing a full 
year of generation at the Taşpınar WPP. Secondly, according 
to the “Regulation Amending the Electricity Market Licensing 
Regulation” published in the Official Gazette dated 8 March 
2020, it is permitted to add secondary source capacity to 
existing power plants within the scope of the same generation 
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license using different technologies; so-called Hybrid power. 
This amendment allows Galata Wind to build additional new 
solar plants in its wind-farms – starting with Taşpınar WPP. 
Developments continue to add a Hybrid solar plant with an 
additional capacity of 42,58 MW to its existing power plant 
portfolio.

In addition to the Hybrid solar project, Galata Wind closely 
follows acquisition opportunities in Turkey and abroad. In Turkey 
especially, there is an interest ongoing with those power plants 
included in the Feed-in-Tariff system over the past 1-2 years. 
Abroad, the Company is interested in wind and solar plants that 
are ready-to-built projects with long-term PPAs and/or green-field 
projects to be developed in Southern Europe, the Balkans and 
Eastern Europe.

New YEKA (Renewable Energy Resource Areas) tenders for solar 
and wind power are expected to be announced by the Ministry. 
Galata Wind will be bidding in these tenders to the extent that 
they comply with its investment perspective. Finally, there is 
space to increase the capacity of our existing power plants. 
Capacity increases are investments that can contribute very 
quickly to both the national economy and the Company’s growth 
vision, as their infrastructure is already in place.

In 2022, Taşpınar, Erzurum and Çorum will remain within the 
Feed-in-Tariff system (YEKDEM), whereas Mersin and Sah 
will trade with bilateral agreements on the spot market. As 
energy prices are expected to increase, so too, are spot prices 
anticipated following, which in turn is likely to have a positive 
effect on the company’s revenue and EBITDA levels. Since the 
Company expects minor volatilities in the currency market, Galata 
Wind assumes delivering a stronger net profit in 2022 compared 
to 2021. 

Further details as to the risk management and potential risks 
the Company may encounter, can be found in the Management 
Report titled “Risk Section.” 
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Corporate Credit Rating

The Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency (BRSA) declared 
in its decision numbered 9133 dated 10.09.2020: “According 
to the most current information of the Banks Association of 
Turkey Risk Center, it has been decided to get a rating from a 
rating agency authorized by the Board until 30.6.2021 so that 
companies other than banks and financial institutions with a total 
risk of TRY 500 million and above, including the loan requested 
in the banking sector, can use loans. It has also been decided 
that the aforementioned rating grade shall keep its validity in 
accordance with the provisions in sub-clause (g) of paragraph 
4 of article 12 of the Regulation on Principles Regarding the 
Authorization and Activities of Rating Agencies and paragraph (f) 
of paragraph 8 of article 15 as of the loan application date.”

Consequently, Galata Wind undertook its rating process in the 
first quarter of 2021 with JCR Eurasia Rating (JCR). JCR evaluated 
the consolidated structure of Galata Wind in an investment grade 
category at national level and assigned the ratings a “A(Trk)” on 
the Long-Term National Scale with “Positive” outlook and as “A-1 
(Trk)” with “Stable” outlook on the Short-Term National Scale. On 
the other hand, the Long Term International Foreign and Local 
Currency Ratings have been assigned as “BB+/Negative”. 

Long Term Short Term

International 

Foreign 
Currency

BB+ B

Local Currency BB+ B

Outlook
FC Negative Negative

LC Negative Negative

Issue Rating - -

National

Local Rating A (Trk) A-1 (Trk)

Outlook Positive Stable

Issue Rating - -

Among the key strengths determined were the Company 
operating consistently with positive profit margins with an 
improvement in 2019 and 2020, a high level of equity quality 
through high paid-in capital, maintaining asset quality and 
conservative capital base, a strong earnings and cash flow 
capabilities, sectoral support encouraging the use of renewable 
energy, utilization of swap agreements enabling the Company 
reduce its net short foreign exchange position, a robust parental 
shareholding structure due to being a Dogan Group company. 
On the key constraints JCR determined that operations are 
in capital-intensive industries squeezing net working capital 
indicators, changes in regulatory environment put pressure on 
investment appetite, ongoing uncertainties arising from the global 
Covid-19 pandemic, put force on the global economic outlook. 

Considering these mentioned strengths and constraints, the 
Long-Term National Rating for Galata Wind has been assigned 
as “A (Trk)”. Sustainable operational performance, high level 
of equity quality, maintaining asset quality, highly experienced 
team, as well as ongoing uncertainties globally, the company’s 
Long and Short-Term National ratings has been determined as 
“Positive”. Level of debt ratio, profitability ratios, the attainability of 
the Company’s budgeted projections are to be monitored in the 
upcoming period. The macroeconomic indicators at national and 
international markets, as well as market conditions and possible 
negative effects of Covid-19 pandemic about the sector will be 
monitored. 
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Risk Management System and Report 
of the Governing Body
RISK MANAGEMENT

Corporate risk management at Galata Wind has been established 
to monitor financial, operational, strategic, information 
technologies, occupational health & safety and compliance 
risks. These risks are monitored and managed by the relevant 
managers of the Company. Within the scope of Galata Wind’s 
ISO 9001 Quality Management System risks are determined, 
evaluated and prioritized on the general business structure as 
well as its processes. The probabilities and the degree of control 
effectiveness for these risks are identified. Aspects whether 
risks are intentional, unintentional, realized, probable events, 
tendencies or similar factors are taken into account. Various 
methods are used in the management and processing of risks. 

Early Risk Detection Committee
The Early Risk Detection Committee was established with the 
Board of Directors resolution dated 09.08.2021, and comprised 
pursuant to Article 378 of the Turkish Commercial Code and 
the CMB’s Corporate Governance Communiqué (II-17.1). The 
Committee will be in force until the Ordinary General Assembly 
Meeting, where 2021 consolidated financials for the year will be 
discussed. The composition of the committee is as stated in the 
Corporate Governance section. 

Activities of the Committee
The purpose of the Early Risk Detection Committee within 
the Board of Directors is to early detect operational, strategic, 
financial and compliance risks that may endanger the existence, 
development and continuation of Galata Wind. Further, it takes 
and implements the necessary measures regarding the identified 
risks, develops necessary policies for the execution of risk 
management processes as well as it manages and reports the 
risks in accordance with the Company’s risk taking profile. Based 
on risk management strategies, the committee is responsible 
for designing effective internal control systems in order to 
determine, implement and comply with risk management policies, 
implementation methods and systems. In order to fulfill the risk 
monitoring function effectively, the Committee may request 
information, opinions and reports from the relevant departments 
when deemed necessary. 

RISK FACTORS 

Galata Wind’s risk perspective is effectively managed as 
it complies with several rules and regulations. Its risks are 
continuously revisited and reevaluated according to its field of 
operations, scale and business structure. As the business evolves 
so will the risks of the company as well, and shall therefore 
not be limited with the ones presented here. Galata Wind is 
supported by the Risk Management Group of Dogan Holding 
where financial and non-financial risks are evaluated jointly. 

FINANCIAL RISKS

Galata Wind is exposed to various financial risks due to its 
activities. These risks are market risk (including currency risk, fair 
value risk, price risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity 
risk. Galata Wind’s overall risk management program is aimed at 
minimizing the volatility of financial markets and potential adverse 
effects on the Company’s financial performance. We make 
limited use of derivative financial instruments in order to protect 
ourselves from various risks we are exposed to.

Exchange Rate Risk
Galata Wind actively monitors its exchange rate risk, on the 
basis of the Company’s commercial transactions. It has foreign 
currency risk arising from exchange rate changes due to the 
conversion of the amounts of foreign currency denominated 
loans into the local currency. These risks are monitored and 
limited with the analysis of the foreign exchange position and 
derivative instruments. And also natural hedge mechanism is 
applied to mitigate exchange rate risk as all TL denominated 
collections converted to foreign currencies daily.

Interest Rate Risk
Galata Wind has financial liabilities, which exposes the Company 
to interest rate risk. Currently, the financial liabilities consist of 
fixed rate and floating rate borrowings which stays very low level 
compared to market. Galata Wind also diminishes interest rate 
risk by interest rate swaps and fixed income financial instruments.
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Risk Management System and Report 
of the Governing Body
Credit Risk
Ownership of financial assets carries the risk of the counterparty 
not fulfilling the terms of the contracts. It covers these risks 
by limiting the average risk for each contracting counterparty 
(excluding related parties) and by taking collateral if necessary.

Liquidity Risk
In monitoring the financial standing of the Galata Wind, financial 
sensitivities are carefully considered. Prudent liquidity risk 
management consists of providing sufficient cash, enabling 
funding through adequate credit facilities, and the ability to close 
short positions. Hence, available cash reserves or cash inflows 
are tracked to match the company’s cash outflows in a timely 
manner to balance the cash flow of the company. Due to the 
dynamic nature of the business environment, the Company has 
sought flexibility in funding by keeping credit lines available. 

Financing-related liquidity risk refers to the failure to fulfill the 
financing liability because of imbalances in cash inflow and 
outflow and the cash flow inconsistencies related to maturity 
period at a reasonable cost. Galata Wind keeps track of the 
maturity distribution of the Company’s derivative and non-
derivative financial liabilities.

Capital Risk Management
Galata Wind’s objectives when managing capital are to ensure 
the continued existence of the company in order to maintain 
an optimal capital structure in order to provide returns for 
shareholders, benefits for other shareholders and to reduce the 
cost of capital. To maintain or reorganize its capital structure, 
the Group may change the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, 
and sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital using the net liability/total capital 
ratio. Net liability is calculated by deducting cash and cash 
equivalents and tax liabilities from the total liability amount. Total 
capital is calculated by adding equity and net liability as shown in 
the consolidated statement of financial position.

OPERATIONAL RISK

Compliance Risk
Galata Wind operates in a highly-regulated sector. The regulating 
and auditing authority in relation to the Company’s main fields of 
activity shall rest with the Energy Markets Regulatory Authority 
(EPDK/EMRA). In this connection, the Company is obliged to 
comply with all amendments to the legislation to be made by the 
EMRA via board decisions and regulations. The Company carries 
out all its operations particularly in line with the Law no.6446 
on Electricity Market and Law no.5346 on Utilizing Renewable 
Energy Resources for Electricity Generation and the applicable 
secondary legislation. Galata Wind further is obliged to comply 
with the regulations, circulars, directives and opinions that may 
be published by the Transmission System Operator, TEİAŞ, and 
Distribution System Operators, YEDAŞ and ARAS EDAŞ for the 
operation of its power plants.

Legal Risk
Legal actions may be taken against Galata Wind within the 
scope of the Company’s ordinary activities and the Company 
may be subjected to arbitration awards. The Company’s 
customers, suppliers and/or employees may be parties to the 
legal actions that may be taken by third parties. The Company 
may be subjected to various lawsuits that may be initiated 
against the Company by the employees who quit job at their 
own will or whose employment contract was terminated by the 
Company involving overtime pay/compensation claims and/or 
different lawsuits related to the Company’s activities. In addition, 
decisions that may be made about the EMRA may also affect the 
Company’s activities, and the Company may have to file lawsuits 
against the decisions made by the other regulatory agencies 
including the EMRA and it is possible for these lawsuits to be 
concluded against the Company.

Information Technologies Risk 
The efficient and uninterrupted functioning of Galata Wind’s 
information technology infrastructure is of vital importance for 
the Company’s activities. The Company’s power plants are 
largely automated. The systems and networks may be subject 
to breakdowns and interruptions. The interruptions in the 
Company’s information technology systems not only may cause 
problems in the Company’s generation capacity, but may also 
cause problems in the administrative, industrial, commercial and 
financial control systems. Continuous monitoring mechanisms 
and action plans are in order via the scope ISO 27001:2013 
Information Security Management System. 
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Cyber-Attack Risk
As a growing global risk, Galata Wind may be exposed to cyber-
attacks and the Company’s activities may be interrupted. The 
Company may fail to perform its confidentiality obligations such 
as protection of personal data and its contractual obligations 
due to interruptions in the activities caused as a result of 
cyberattacks, which may thus result in the imposition of legal and 
contractual sanctions on the Company. Under the Presidential 
Circular dated 06.07.2019 and no 2019/12, an “Information and 
Communication Security Guide” was approved and published in 
24.07.2020 which includes the information and communication 
security measures that should be taken by the public institutions 
and the operators providing critical infrastructure services, 
including energy sector. Within the scope of the same Circular, an 
“Information and Communication Security Supervision Guide was 
also published in October 2021 to announce the protocols that 
the above mentioned operators providing critical infrastructure 
services should follow and implement. Galata Wind undergoes 
periodic penetration tests via accredited firms as well as 
continuously monitors, analyses, limits (if necessary) and reacts to 
all network communications.  

Qualified personnel risk
Galata Wind’s performance is dependent on its experienced 
management team and other qualified personnel. The efficiency 
and performance of the Company’s power plants are directly 
related to the technical and administrative staff being qualified 
and having sufficient experience. It is of vital importance for the 
technical team working during routine operations and more 
importantly in case of emergencies at power plants in highly 
dangerous category in particular to have the adequate skills, 
experience and expertise. 

It is highly important for experienced staff to be recruited with a 
view to ensuring uninterrupted operations of the Company. The 
sector is highly competitive in terms of the engineer, technician, 
administrative officer and manager staff required by the Company 
for carrying out its activities. 

Subcontractor’s Risk
Galata Wind uses subcontractors for the provision of services 
such as security services and maintenance of the power plants. 
Pursuant to the Labor Law, the Company is jointly and severally 
responsible for non-compliance by the employees of its 
subcontractors with occupational health and security legislation 
and failure by the subcontractors to pay its own employees’ 
salaries, SSI premiums or labor receivables. In addition, the 
Company is also jointly and severally responsible together with 
its sub-contractors for any and all damages and losses to be 
caused by its sub-contractors in relation to the work they perform 
on behalf of the Company. 

Occupational Health and Safety (OHS)
The electricity generation power plants of the Company are 
classified under “highly dangerous” category. Thus, accidents 
may occur or dangerous situations to result in disruptions 
may arise during the operations. Aside from events such as 
explosions at switchyards/transformer sites, or fire at control 
building, wind turbines and/or solar panels, work accidents 
involving electric shock may be some of the risk encountered. 
In light of the most fundamental and valuable component 
constituting an institution is its employees and the other related 
parties, Galata Wind takes these risks very seriously and employs 
training courses to raise, establish, and ensure the continuity 
of, awareness on Occupational Health and Safety among our 
employees. Programs are in place that minimize accidents, 
occupational diseases, and damages, to create a safe and 
healthy working environment, and to ensure the continuity 
thereof. These risks are further monitored under the ISO 
45001:2018 certificate. 

Climate Risk
Renewable generation is closely affected by the climate risk. 
Wind formation is a direct result of the sunbeams hitting on Earth. 
Global warming changes the density and the angle of these 
sunbeams; therefore, indirectly affects global wind formations. 
Galata Wind considers global warming as the largest climate 
risk. The company’s assets could be damaged by sudden wind 
changes in the forms of hurricanes and/or tornados as well 
as temperature change in the forms of icing and/or hailstorms 
which are direct results of global warming. Indirectly, fluctuant 
and unstable wind conditions and inconsistent solar irradiation 
might affect the electricity generation of the assets locally. These 
risks are assessed from a financial perspective both considering 
possible income losses and new CAPEX/OPEX costs that might 
be occur. 
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Audit Committee Report

Internal Audit and Internal Control Activities
Galata Wind has not established any internal department. On the 
other hand, it is reviewed by an employee from the Internal Audit 
Department of Doğan Holding through risk-based evaluations in 
order to ensure to use and maintain the systems and procedures 
in their full integrity and consistency with the information and 
time. Audits have been carried out with regard to the authenticity 
of the financial reporting system, the compliance of the 
Company’s activities in investment and business procedures with 
legal and internal regulations, efficiency and productivity of the 
activities, security, and reliability of the information systems. In this 
context, in 2021, the Company was inspected through internal 
audits in accordance with the quality management system of the 
Company and relevant ISO standards; additionally, the energy 
plant within the facility was also audited. Since there is no internal 
audit department within the Company, relevant reportings are 
submitted to the Audit Committee that functions in compliance 
with the legislation and international standards directly.

There are some measures implemented for instant evaluations 
and inspections because the internal control activities are 
ongoing processes. The internal control system implemented 
by the supervisors and employees forms the main defence area 
while the Chief Financial Officer constitutes a second defence 
line by directly focusing on the operational level.

Audit Committee Evaluations
Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in terms of 
the accounting system of the Company, public declaration of 
the financial statements, functionality, and efficiency of the 
Company’s internal control and internal audit systems. In 2021, 
the Committee convened to discuss about the first public 
offering of the Company and evaluated the procedures to 
implement. The Committee offered the Board further evaluations 
and recommendations concerning the compliance with laws 
and regulations under the supervision of IPO. The Committee 
evaluations in regard to the independent audit and the public 
declaration of the Company’s financial statements have been 
satisfactory. The recommendations submitted to the Board have 
been meticulously followed and implemented.
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Turkish Energy Market

In 2021, Turkey’s total installed 
capacity increased 4.1% year-
on-year to 99,820 MW.

In 2021, the total installed power of the Turkish electricity market 
increased by 4.1% y-o-y to 99,820 MW (2020: 95,891 MW). 
While hydraulic plants have the highest share in Turkey with 
31.5%; the contribution of wind power plants is 10.6% and the 
solar power plants hold a share of 7.8%.

In 2021, electricity generation in Turkey increased by 8.1% y-o-y 
to 331,492 GWh (2020: 306,703 GWh). Some 49.5% of this 
generation is natural gas and imported coal; contribution from 
domestic coal is 15%; from hydraulic power plants is 16.9%; from 
wind farms is 9.4%; from geothermal and biomass power plants 
is 5.2%; and generation of solar power plants hold a share of 
4.1%. In 2021, electricity consumption in Turkey rose by 7.7% 
compared to the previous year and reached 329,634 GWh 
(2020: 306,109 GWh). Some 50.6% of the country’s demand was 
met by using domestic resources (2020: 56.5%).

Annual average electricity prices showed an all-time high 
increase of 82.3% in 2021 over the previous year to 508.10 TRY/
MWh (2020: 278.72 TRY/MWh). Although TL depreciated by 
25% against USD in 2021, electricity prices in USD still increased 
by 38.6% to 55.60 USD/MWh (2020: 40.11 USD/MWh). The 
significant increase in the country’s consumption, especially 
in the summer months and after, due to both seasonality and 
Covid-19 normalization, and the insufficient energy supply 
have been the biggest factors in electricity price increases. 
The shift of supply from hydraulic-based production to natural 
gas and imported coal-based production due to the dry year 
further destabilized the balance; because natural gas and coal 
prices have increased exponentially in the global markets in 
2021. The domestic supply range of Turkey is sufficient to 
cover approximately 50% of the demand, and therefore; the 
rest of the energy is imported. In this context, we believe that in 
2022 and beyond, especially security of supply, more efficient 
use of domestic resources, resource diversification, increased 
investment in renewable and domestic energy resources will be 
on the agenda frequently.

In YEKAs, one of the renewable energy support mechanisms 
of our country, a total of 1000 MW SPP tenders were held 
for 74 projects in 36 different cities within the scope of YEKA 
GES-3 (Mini YEKA SPP) in April and May 2021. Bidding prices 
ranged from 18.2 kr/kWh to 32 kr/kWh (wt. avg.: 21.5 kr/kWh). 
The tenders for YEKA GES-4 and YEKA GES-5 for 1000 MW 
and 1,200 MW respectively, to be held in 2022, were also 
announced. On the wind energy side, YEKA RES-3 with a total 
capacity of 850 MW, with capacities of 20-90 MW in 75 different 
provinces, was announced. The tenders, which were planned to 
be held in October 2021, were postponed to March 2022 due to 
Covid-19.

Galata Wind has 3 Wind Power Plants (“WPP”) and 2 Solar Power 
Plants (“SPP”). The total installed power of these power plants is 
269 MW. Galata Wind’s wind farms generated a total of 690,417 
MWh of electricity in 2021. In 2021, the share of Galata Wind’s 
Şah WPP, Mersin WPP and Taşpınar WPP power plants in Turkey’s 
total wind energy installed capacity was 2.2% and their share in 
wind-based electricity generation was 2.2%. Galata Wind’s solar 
power plants generated a total of 54,059 MWh of electricity in 
2021. 

Turkey’s share in total solar energy installed power was 0.5% and 
its share in solar-based electricity generation was 0.5%. Şah WPP, 
Taşpınar WPP, Çorum SPP and Erzurum SPP were included in the 
YEKDEM scheme in 2021. Mersin WPP, on the other hand, sold 
its electricity at spot prices through bilateral agreements. As of 
2022, Şah WPP is out of the YEKDEM scheme. 
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Our Portfolio

Şah WPP’s annual net 
production was  
321.8 GWh in 2021.

Şah WPP
Location: Balıkesir/Bandırma 
Installed Capacity: 105 MWm/105 MWe
License Date: 10.04.2008 (49 years)
Start of Production: 19.05.2011
1. Capacity Increase: 24.05.2013
Turbines: 35 Vestas V90 3 MW
Personnel: 1 Manager, 5 Control Operators, 2 Administrative Affairs

Wind Power Plants

Wind Power Plants

321.8
344.2326.8

2019 2020 2021
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Mersin WPP’s annual  
net production was 
221.9 GWh in 2021.

Mersin WPP
Location: Mersin/Mut 
Installed Capacity: 62.7 MWm/56.85 MWe
License Date: 05.07.2007 (49 years)
Start of Production: 19.03.2010
1. Capacity Increase: 14.02.2013
2. Capacity Increase: 08.12.2017
Turbines: 14 Vestas V90 3 MW + 6 Vestas V112 3.45 MW
Personnel: 1 Manager, 5 Control Operators, 3 Administrative Affairs

The installed capacity of Mersin WPP was increased by 5.85 MWe on 28.05.2021 
to 56.85 MWe.

Net Production (GWh)

221.9200.2
186.8

2019 2020 2021

Our Portfolio

Wind Power Plants
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Taşpınar WPP’s annual net production 
was 146.7 GWh in 2021.

Taşpınar WPP
Location: Bursa/Nilüfer 
Installed Capacity: 67.2 MWm / 60 MWe
License Date: 03.09.2020 (49 years)
Start of Production: 28.10.2020
1. Capacity Increase: 25.02.2021
2. Capacity Increase: 25.03.2021
Turbines: 14 Nordex N149 4,8 MW
Personnel: 1 Manager, 4 Control Operators, 2 Administrative 
Affairs

Net Production (GWh)

146.7

2021

Wind Power Plants Having the first manufactured turbines in Turkey with a blade 
length of 75 meters, the power plant is expected to generate 
around 190 GWh annually, according to the wind assessment 
reports of the power plant. Taşpınar WPP is able to meet the 
electricity needs of 52,313 persons in their daily life, including 
residential and industrial use, subway transportation, public offices, 
and environmental lighting. In terms of residential consumption 
only, Taşpınar WPP generates electricity that can meet the 
electrical energy needs of 63,609 houses.

During the permit and construction process of Taşpınar WPP, it 
became possible to install power plants based on more than 
one source with the amendment dated 08.03.2020 made in the 
Regulation on Electricity Market Licenses. According to this new 
situation referred to as the “Hybrid Regulation” in the industry, it is 
now possible to install a solar power plant in the license area of 
Taşpınar WPP. As a result of the application made to the EMRA, the 
installation of a hybrid power plant with a capacity of 42.85 MW 
was approved with the Authority Resolution dated 05.08.2021.

Allowing electricity generation from multiple sources in a single 
production facility, the hybrid systems make it possible for power 
plants to operate more efficiently with a longer availability and 
to generate more electricity within the limits of the installed 
capacity. Thanks to the hybrid power plants, the impact of 
seasonality is minimized and the operation times of the power 
plant can be increased with the possibility to generate from solar 
energy when wind speed is low, and from wind energy during 
sunless hours. In addition to production efficiency, the Hybrid PV 
investment planned to be made in Taşpınar WPP has prominent 
advantages such as lower investment and operational costs. 
Another advantage is that since wind generation is already within 
the scope of YEKDEM (Renewable Energy Resources Support 
Mechanism, the Feed-in-Tariff mechanism in Turkey) as the primary 
source, the electricity to be generated from the hybrid solar PV 
shall also utilize from YEKDEM pricing as the secondary source. 
 

Our Portfolio
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Solar PV Plants

Net Production (GWh)

13.5
14.4

13.9

2019 2020 2021

Çorum PV
Location: Çorum/Merkez 
Installed Capacity: 9.4 MWp / 8 MWe
Lisans Tarihi: Unlicensed
Start of Production: 19.12.2017
Equipment: Jinko Solar 320 W Polycrystalline Panel, SMA 60 kW Inverter

Çorum PV’s annual  
net production was  
13.5 GWh in 2021.

Our Portfolio
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Solar PV Plants

Net Production (GWh)

40.6
39.9

38.8

2019 2020 2021

Erzurum WPP’s annual 
net production was 
40.6 GWh in 2021.

Erzurum PV
Location: Erzurum/Aziziye-Hınıs-Karayazı 
Installed Capacity:
Aziziye: 13.5 MWp / 10.8 MWe
Hınıs: 8.7 MWp / 7 MWe
Karayazı: 2.5 MWp / 2 MWe
Lisans Tarihi: Unlicensed
Start of Production: 31.12.2018
Equipment: Smart Solar 360-366 W Mono Perc Panel, Huawei 60 kW Inverter

Our Portfolio
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Sunflower Solar

A total of USD 286 
thousand EPC projects 
have been carried out.

Having already undertaken EPC contracts with a capacity of 527 kWp 
since 2018, Sunflower Solar aims to achieve the 10 MW target for 
commercial and industrial rooftop solar projects and to enable each 
house to generate its own clean energy. In this scope, a total of 
USD 286 thousand EPC projects have been carried out in 2021. 

Additionally, the company plans to carry out various projects 
in more niche and innovative areas such as battery technologies, 
inverter technologies and installation of electric vehicle charging stations 
in the electricity sector.

Rooftop Solar PV Projects:
 
Doğan Holding PV: 99.0 kWp / 82.8 kWe 
Other: 427.65 kWp / 345.0 kWe 

Our Portfolio
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Investments

In 2021, Galata Wind 
commissioned the Taşpınar WPP 
with an investment of USD 75 million.

Located in the village of Korubaşı in the Nilüfer district of Bursa, 
the construction of Taşpınar WPP started in 2020 and was 
commissioned at full capacity in March 2021. With an installed 
capacity of 67.2 MWm/60 MWe, the power plant features 14 
Nordex N149 turbines. Each turbine has an installed capacity 
of 4.8 MW. With a tower length of 125 m and a blade length of 
75 m, these turbines have a maximum height of 200 m from 
the ground. Despite challenges in logistics and installation, the 
construction was completed in 7 months. 

The total amount invested in the power plant is around USD 75 
million. The power plant is expected to generate approximately 
190 kWh of electricity on an annual basis. Following its inclusion 
in the YEKDEM (Renewable Energy Resources Support 
Mechanism) list in 2021, the power plant started to transfer 
the electricity it generates to the national grid with a purchase 
guarantee. YEKDEM duration is 10 years, and is set to expire at 
the end of 2030. Since the towers, blades and generators of all 
turbines installed at the power plant are manufactured in Turkey, 
the Additional Local Content incentive will be granted during the 
first 5 years of the YEKDEM period. In other words, Taşpınar WPP 
will sell the electricity it has generated at a unit price of 94 USD/
MWh between 2021 and 2025, and at a unit price of 73 USD/
MWh in 2026 and 2030. 

Galata Wind’s portfolio has grown approximately 1.5 times in 
terms of installed capacity thanks to Taşpınar WPP. The Company 
expects approximately 25% of its electricity generation volume 
to derive from Taşpınar WPP. It is expected that the power plant 
will contribute USD 17.9 million in the first 5 years and USD 13.9 
million in the second 5-year period to Galata Wind revenue. 

Sunflower Solar, a subsidiary of Galata Wind, delivered various 
rooftop PV installations in 2021. Including the 99 kWp/82.8 kWe 
project established on top of the Doğan Holding building in 
Üsküdar/Altunizade, the total turnkey value of all the delivered 
projects is approximately USD 286,000. All of the projects have 
begun generating electricity in 2021, saving costs via offseting 
the consumption of the facilities that they are installed upon. For 
the turnkey projects, Sunflower Solar has undertaken all duties 
ranging from project development to equipment supplying 
and assembling the PVs. It has also provided services such as 
construction supervision and procurement of panels.
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Information Technologies/Digitalization

Galata Wind spent approximately 
TRY 2 million for information 
technology research in 2021.

Investing in the future with renewable energy, Galata Wind 
closely monitors developments in the field of information 
technologies. In line with the new obligations and audit 
mechanisms brought specially to the energy sector by the SOME 
(Cyber Incident Response Team) Regulation issued by EMRA and 
the Information and Communication Security Guide published 
by the Digital Transformation Office of the Presidency of the 
Republic of Turkey, Galata Wind made significant software and 
hardware investments in 2021. Aiming to digitalize all company 
processes to the extent possible, Galata Wind allocated a budget 
of USD 300,000 for information technology research in 2021. 

The biggest contribution of digitalization to Galata Wind is 
to increase operational efficiency and to keep updated. The 
sector in which we operate is closely affected by technological 
developments, and our vision is to be among the companies 
that lead, not follow, these developments. In this sense, Galata 
Wind took part in the Medium and Large-Sized Enterprises 
category in the Digital Transformation Center project developed 
in partnership with TÜRKONFED and İş Bankası in 2021. We 
started to work with a tech consultancy startup “Bandwitt” for 
Digitalization Projects and determined priority areas as cyber 
security, accounting, purchasing, documentation and archiving, 
budget reporting and SCADA monitoring processes. As a result 
of the initial phase, Galata Wind signed an agreement with 5 
different companies that are worth approximately TRY 750,000. 
These projects will continue to go live in 2022.

On the hardware side, Galata Wind ensured that each power 
plant is separated from the head office with their local internet 
and intranet networks. Additionally, Galata Wind updated its 
headquarter’ s server and internet infrastructures to operate 
separately from the Doğan Holding head office. These works 
have also contributed to the company’s cyber security liabilities. 
Galata Wind has spent around TRY 1.1 million these projects.

In 2022, Galata Wind aims to sustain the digitalization projects 
and move to phase two; focusing on Human Resources, Power 
Plant Operations, Finance and Budget Planning processes. 
Aiming to update its cyber security infrastructures, the Company 
plans to form an Information Technologies team to operate within 
Galata Wind for all these software and hardware infrastructures. 
The Company budgeted USD 360,000 for investment in 
information technologies in 2022.
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At Galata Wind we generate clean 
energy for a clean future.

Sustainability Approach
Sustainability is at the heart of our business. We deal with nature’s 
unique powers, wind and sun, as our core business. As Galata 
Wind, we are generating 100% renewable and environmentally-
conscious electricity and by doing so, we are working on 
reducing Turkey’s dependency on foreign energy resources. We 
are committed to protecting the environment, investing only in 
renewable and clean energy and engaging in activities to reduce 
emissions in line with our commitments. Our stakeholders and 
our community are the fundamentals of our vision, as we seek 
to create sustainable value for our country and clients, through 
improving our employees by providing awareness-raising 
trainings on environmental sentience. We pursue to continuously 
improve by monitoring our processes through specific indicators 
we set in quality, environment, occupational health and safety 
and energy performance, identifying and mitigating risks and 
potential emergency outcomes. This way we strive to protect 
human and environmental health as we engage in activities and 
set objectives that make a clean, green future possible. These 
beliefs are the foundation of our views on sustainability.

Sustainability Policies and Procedures
Galata Wind takes important steps to provide for a clean and 
green future. As the sector is highly regulated, some of the 
policies and procedures in place are the natural outcome of 
being ISO certified, while some are required by law. Galata Wind 
proves to have a long track record of holding the ISO 9001, 
14001, 45001, 10002 and 50001 as well as the ISO/IEC 27001 
in its headquarter as well as its power plants. These standards 
and the pertaining policies such as quality management, 
customer satisfaction, environment, information security, 
occupational health and safety and energy can be found in the 
“Galata Wind at a Glance” Section titled “Our Principles, Essential 
Values and Policies.”

ISO trainings
During each ISO periodic auditing process, certain trainings 
on the topics of Integrated Management Systems, Customer 
Complaint Management, Information Security Management, 
Information Security Awareness, Energy Management, 
Energy Saving and Efficient Use, Environmental Safety, Waste 
Management, are given to the personnel. Below are the man/
hours of ISO trainings conducted.

Total Man/hours Location

2019 86 Şah WPP, Mersin WPP, HQ

2020 - -

2021 84 Şah WPP, Mersin WPP,  
Taşpınar WPP, HQ

Carbon Offset
According to the United Nations Framework Convention on 
Climate Change (UNFCCC), a carbon offset is a reduction and/
or removal of greenhouse gases, mainly carbon dioxide (CO2), 
in order to compensate for such greenhouse gas emissions 
occurring elsewhere. Carbon offsets are measured in tons 
of carbon dioxide-equivalent (CO2e) and are generated via 
projects such as renewable energy power plants since they 
do not emit any greenhouse gases while they are operating. 
Verified Emission Reductions (VERs) are a type of carbon offset 
mechanisms that utilize exchange of carbon credits in the 
voluntary market. Voluntary market covers projects that are 
verified outside of the three Flexible Mechanisms of the Kyoto 
Protocol. Therefore; carbon credits are certified via a voluntary 
certification process and verified by an independent third party 
review. Following verification, within the voluntary market, the 
carbon credits may be purchased by individuals, companies 
and organizations to mitigate their emissions so that they can 
meet their own reduction goals of being carbon neutral and/or 
net-zero. One VER carbon credit is equivalent to 1 tons of CO2 
emissions (CO2e). VERs are calculated in compliance with one 
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of various standards. The standards set guidance to define how 
emission reductions shall be measured and provide international 
assurance for trading of the VERs. Gold Standard for Global 
Goals (GS4GG) and Verified Carbon Standard (VCS-VERRA) are 
the two most used standards by the carbon offset projects.

All of Galata Wind’s power plants generate renewable energy. 
Due to the source of its clean energy, Galata Wind reduces 
carbon emissions to the atmosphere and therefore is eligible 
for carbon offset projects and utilizing carbon credits. Due to 
Turkey not having a binding target in the Kyoto Protocol, Galata 
Wind generates VERs for the voluntary market. We certify our 
carbon credits via the Gold Standard for Global Goals (Mersin 
WPP, Şah WPP, Taşpınar WPP, Çorum SPP and Erzurum/Aziziye 
SPP) and Verified Carbon Standard (Erzurum/Hınıs SPP). Our 
power plants are assigned periods of time in which we may 
continue to verify carbon credits and trade our issuances. We, as 
Galata Wind, have been sustaining the validation and verification 
processes for all our eligible power plants since 2012 and have 
during the IPO, officially committed to continue to do so until the 
end of the monitoring periods. The amount of annual carbon 
credits generated via our power plants are mentioned in the next 
section.

As a result of the above mentioned actions, Galata Wind do not 
have Scope-2 emissions. However, within our routine operations 
we do generate Scope-1 emissions. As Galata Wind, we have 
also officially committed to cancel out our Scope-1 emissions by 
the end of 2025. It is our utmost aim to become a Zero Carbon 
company.

Environmental Approach
Galata Wind continues to conduct operations at the power 
plants in its portfolio in compliance with all applicable legislation. 
The Company is also committed to eco-friendly principles in its 
business activities.

For all its power plants, Galata Wind has obtained the official 
authorization certificates and documents stipulated by “Law on 
Forests” No. 6831, “Regulation on the Licenses and Permits 
Required by the Law on Forests”; “Environmental Law” No. 
2872, “Regulation on Permits and Licenses Required by the 
Environmental Law”; Regulation No. 29274 on “Procedures and 
Principles Governing the Signing of Water Consumption Rights 
Agreements for Generating Power in the Electricity Market”; 
and Regulation No. 29865 on “Electricity Market Licenses.” In 
addition to the quality compliance studies supported by the ISO 
14001 Environmental Management System and ISO 50001 
Energy Management System certificates at all power plants, the 
Company has completed the Gold Standard and VCS application 
process as part of its efforts to reduce carbon emissions.

Achieving a total CO2 emission reduction of 1,432,532 tons 
in the first validation period between 2010 and 2018 for Şah 
WPP and Mersin WPP, Galata Wind has already been issued a 
reduction of 797,889 tons until the beginning of 2021, in the 
second validation period between 2018 and 2026. There will 
be a third validation period for these power plants, covering the 
years 2026-2032. As of 2021, an annual average reduction of 
280,000 tons of CO2 emissions is expected to be issued until 
2032.

Included in the Gold Standard process in 2020, Taşpınar WPP 
will continue to execute its rights until 2035. Continuing its first 
validation period, Taşpınar WPP is expected to be issued an 
annual average CO2 emission reduction of 100,000 tons.

Çorum PV and Erzurum PV were included in the Gold Standard 
and VCS processes in 2018. The two power plants have already 
been issued a total of 44,821 tons of CO2 emission reduction 
in the first validation period. The right to have the emission 
reduction validated will expire in 2032 for the Çorum plant, in 
2033 for the Erzurum Aziziye plant, and in 2038 for the Erzurum 
Hınıs plant. Galata Wind aims to reduce an average of 27,000 
tons of CO2 emissions annually from all PVs.
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Galata Wind has conducted 
afforestation activities in various 
locations within the vicinity of Şah WPP.

With maximum dedication to meeting the environmental 
sensitivities and social needs of people in those regions 
where its power plants are located, Galata Wind carries out 
awareness studies on the environment and energy. Taking the 
Grievance Mechanism duties very seriously, Galata Wind has 
given “Complaint Books” to the headmen of villages located 
near the power plants; with these books, the Company monitors 
the feedback of the locals regarding the environment and 
other social issues. These books are periodically subjected to 
independent audits. 

Participating in afforestation campaigns in different districts of 
Balıkesir within the scope of environmental preservation efforts, 
Galata Wind has planted approximately 1,500 trees to date. In 
addition, the Company supplies vehicles, personnel and various 
devices to the Bursa Directorate of National Parks and Wildlife 
Protection. Conducting projects related to the feeding of wild 
birds and roe deer during the winter, Galata Wind pays utmost 
attention to the protection of the environment since Şah WPP is 
located within the forest and wildlife protection zone.

The main part of Şah WPP is located within the borders of the 
Bursa-Karacabey Ovakorusu Wildlife Protection Area. For this 
purpose, Galata Wind takes utmost care in its routine activities 
and operates without harming the wild boar, deer, fox and bear 
species in the region. 

The expenses of the five personnel working in the Ovakorusu 
Bear Shelter and Rehabilitation Center, the only bear shelter in 
Turkey, is covered by Galata Wind. Established on an area of 
approximately 100 decares, the shelter provides a safe habitat 
for 81 bears. In addition to surgical procedures necessary for the 
neutering and treatment of bears, the shelter carries out studies 
to improve their life quality.

In addition to these, Galata Wind supported a research study 
on the Sustainability of Wildlife in accordance with protocol by 
shooting a documentary with the Ministry. 

At Mersin WPP and Taşpınar WPP, which are located near the 
migration routes of birds, birdwatching and ornithologic activities 
are conducted in compliance with IFC’s Environmental and Social 
Performance Standards every six months and reported to the 
relevant institutions. 

Corporate Sustainability and ESG Rating Certificate 
Galata Wind’s business model is to be in harmony with the 
environment. Wind and sun, the powers of nature are at the heart 
of our operations. As such, several policies are in place for the 
protection and utilization of these powers. Galata Wind believes 
in the growth and resilience of its operations, and the impact it 
has on the environment and society. Sharing this information, 
the capacity of a future that is clean and green as well as the 
management view on sustainability can be a challenge, which is 
why we have solicited a sustainability rating. 

In the pre-IPO process, Galata Wind underwent an independent 
ESG and Sustainability rating process conducted by Vigeo 
Eiris/ Moody’s1. As of April 2021, Galata Wind is in the “Robust” 
category, based on an overall score of 57/100. Galata Wind 
displays strong willingness and capacity to integrate ESG factors 
into its strategy, operations and risk management, with advanced 
performance on issues related to human capital, legal security 
and operational efficiency, and limited ones when it comes to 
reputation.  

1Vigeo Eiris (V.E) was acquired by Moody’s Corporation in 2019 and officially became a part of Moody’s ESG Solutions Group in 2020. The V.E brand name is now being 
retired and replaced with Moody’s ESG Solutions.
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In this rating process, the strengths of the Company were 
determined as a 100% renewable energy mix, advanced 
mitigation of operations’ impacts on surrounding communities 
and robust health and safety management measures. The 
weaknesses were found to be the reliance on the parent 
company for audit and internal controls, the Board members’ 
independence to be below international standards of 
good governance and the limited disclosure on executive 
remuneration. 

Since the IPO in April 2021, Galata Wind has completed several 
improvements and developments. The Company added two 
Independent Board Members, established the Corporate 
Governance Committee, the Audit Committee as well as the 
Early Risk Detection Committee. It changed the structure of the 
Board of Directors and increased the member size. Further, 
it made several additions and amendments to the Articles of 
Association, it published important policies, including one on 
remuneration. The rating process was a valuable addition to 
the management perspective. While the company operates in 
compliance with several rules and regulations and abides also 
by its own principles, this rating process made clear, that the 
communication of its operations, working principles and policies 
to its stakeholders is as important. The ESG rating process will 
be repeated in 2022 to assess the improvements made after the 
IPO process. We believe that we will certainly increase our score. 

Social Responsibility Policy
Galata Wind’s main purpose is to provide for a clean and green 
future. Within this framework, it works towards achieving social 
responsibility and to give back to its country and the people. 
At Galata Wind, social responsibility is related to managing its 
work processes in such a way as to leave a positive impact on 
the society. While the company is operating in an area with the 
main focus on sustainability, it has yet to write out each policy, 
procedure and principle it works by. This is why, before going 
public in 2021, the company has adopted Dogan Group’s Social 
Responsibility policy. The policy can be found on the corporate 
website www.galatawindenerji.com.

Corporate Social Responsibility Projects
Believing that a strong and contemporary community can 
only be achieved by raising contemporary generations who 
respect universal values and contribute to the solution of social 
and economic problems, Galata Wind attaches importance to 
participating in social responsibility activities to raise community 
awareness and create positive effects. Galata Wind strives 
to ensure the sustainable development of the community by 
fulfilling its social and environmental responsibilities. 

Galata Wind focuses on the following principles in its social 
responsibility activities:

a. Implementing environmental solutions by identifying areas of 
development that will minimize the environmental impacts of its 
activities, 
b. Developing or supporting projects that will advance the 
community both economically and socially, 
c. Contributing to raising contemporary generations by 
conducting projects in the field of education, 
d. Achieving the highest quality in human resources by 
providing the necessary working environment for the individual 
development of employees, 
e. Raising awareness for the solution of social problems with 
publications and/or the support given to valuable projects carried 
out by other organizations,
f. Raising the awareness of domestic violence, women’s rights 
and the education of girls through effective social responsibility 
projects, 
g. Emphasizing human rights and equality; condemning all kinds 
of discrimination based on language, race, color, gender, political 
opinion, belief, religion, sect, age, physical disability and other 
reasons, 
h. Prioritizing the scalability and sustainability of all social 
responsibility activities. 

Believing that the value of organizations is measured by their 
ability to give back to society, Galata Wind focuses on public 
benefit in all activities and encourages its employees to work 
voluntarily on social responsibility projects.

In this context, Galata Wind grants scholarships to university 
students once a year in the cities where its power plants are 
located. Galata Wind has provided an assistance of TRY 2,500 
per student to a total of 70 university students in Mersin, Çorum, 
Bandırma, Bursa and Erzurum. Furthermore, within the scope 
of the Anatolian Scholars Project at Koç University, Galata Wind 
covers the entire education expenses of one student every 
year. In 2021, Galata Wind covered the education expenses of a 
student, amounting to approximately TRY 150,000.
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Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. aims to provide 
a safe working environment.

Occupational Health & Safety Policy
In 2021, Galata Wind renewed the ISO 45001:2018 Occupational 
Health and Safety certificate of its power plants and head office, 
extending the certification period until 2023.

Prioritizing the health and safety of its employees, Galata Wind 
shares the responsibility of ensuring health and safety in the 
workplace with all its employees, regardless of their titles. All 
employees show maximum effort in complying with health and 
safety policies to ensure safety in the workplace. 

Galata Wind is committed to acting in accordance with 
Occupational Health and Safety regulations and believes that 
activities to improve Occupational Health and Safety are the 
shared responsibility of employees. Accordingly, employees are 
obliged to inform their supervisors in the event that they become 
aware of an unsafe situation at the workplace. Encouraging 
its employees to take responsibility for the safety of their own 
workplace, Galata Wind carries out regular risk analyses and takes 
measures to minimize the risks determined by such analyzes.

Galata Wind aims to identify the elements that may cause work 
accidents and occupational diseases beforehand, and to prevent 
these risks so as to provide a safe working environment. The 
Company provides Occupational Health and Safety trainings to its 
employees on a regular basis to create a safe work environment 
for its employees and to raise their awareness of Occupational 
Health and Safety. Reviewing the training subjects in regular 
intervals, Galata Wind aims to identify new and up-to-date issues 
in advance.

Since the power plants of Galata Wind are classified in the “Highly 
Hazardous Areas” category, utmost care is given to Occupational 
Health and Safety issues. In addition to legal training sessions, 
Plant Managers also provide internal trainings. 

Conducting Occupational Health and Safety practices through 
JHSUs (Joint Health and Safety Unit), Galata Wind plans to employ 
a personnel specialized in Occupational Health and Safety to 
carry out routine monthly inspections of its power plants. Galata 
Wind has allocated a budget of approximately TRY 4,000,000 for 
OHS improvements in 2022. 
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Occupational Health & Safety Trainings
Galata Wind gives utmost attention the OHS trainings given to its 
employees. It is both our operational priority and legal liability to 
conduct these trainings and audit the procedures. 

OHS trainings include first aid, fire safety, search&rescue, 
occupational accidents, legal rights and regulations, occupational 
diseases, and technical engineering and occupational risks. 

Below are the man/hours of OHS trainings conducted in the 
windfarms for Galata Wind employees.

#Employees Hours

Total 
Man/
hours Location

2019 21 16 336 Şah WPP, Mersin WPP
2020* 21 16 336 Şah WPP, Mersin WPP

2021 27 16 432
Şah WPP, Mersin WPP, 

Taşpınar WPP

*During the construction period of Taşpınar WPP an on-site certificated OHS auditor 
was present at all times documenting all trainings so that they were given properly 
and on time. 6 of Galata Wind personnel were given 16 hours of OHS training. 

Below are the man/hours of Basic First Aid trainings conducted 
in the windfarms for Galata Wind employees. Initial training is 16 
hours/employee and refresher trainings are 8 hours/employee. 
These training are valid for 2 years.

#Employees Hours

Total 
Man/
hours Location

2019 6 8 48 Mersin RES
2020 - - - -
2021* 9 / 6 8 / 16 72 / 96 Şah RES, Taşpınar RES

* In 2021, the new employees of Taşpınar WPP had the training for the first time. 
(Initial training of 16 hours/employee for 6 employees) 

The employees in the HQ of Galata Wind are also subject to OHS 
trainings; however, with different liabilities and man/hour schemes. 
Due to Covid-19 pandemics, the OHS, first-aid, and fire safety 
trainings that were given in 2019 were prolonged for the last 3 
years due to the low hazard class of Galata Wind HQ. Normally, 8 
hours of OHS trainings for the entire HQ personnel, 16 hours of 
Basic First Aid and 8 hours of refresher trainings for 1 employee, 
and 2 hours of fire safety trainings for 6 employees are needed 
every 2 years; resulting in 146 man/hours of average total training 
time. In 2022, all of the trainings will be renewed for the HQ. 

As Galata Wind, we do enforce our sub-contractors to behave as 
we do on this matter as well.

Below are the man/hours of OHS trainings conducted for the O&M 
personnel via the sub-contractors. These OHS trainings are valid for 
2 years.

#Employees Hours

Total 
Man/
hours Location

2019 5 16 80 Şah WPP, Mersin WPP
2020 7 16 112 Şah WPP, Mersin WPP

2021 4 16 64
Taşpınar WPP,  
Erzurum SPP

Below are the man/hours of OHS trainings conducted for the 
security guards via the sub-contractors. These OHS trainings are 
valid for 2 years. 

#Employees Hours

Total 
Man/
hours Location

2019 5 16 80 Şah WPP, Mersin WPP
2020 5 16 80 Şah WPP, Mersin WPP

2021 30 16 480
Taşpınar WPP, Çorum 

SPP, Erzurum SPP

Human Rights Policy
Being a part of Doğan Group, Galata Wind adheres to the 
international declarations, principles, agreements and conventions 
that our country is a party of, mainly the Human Rights articles 
set forth in the Constitution, in all our activities, and we place 
importance in respecting all the rights of our employees. We are 
developing the necessary methods of operation to create a working 
environment whereby human rights are respected, and to ensure 
that we do not partake in activities which directly or indirectly violate 
human rights. 

We treat our employees equally without any discrimination on 
the basis of religion, ethnicity, language, race, age, skin color, 
nationality, social origin or gender. Galata Wind is committed  
to present a safe working environment for our employees,  
away from all harassment, abuse, exploitation, and violence  
and we do not tolerate mandatory or forced employment.  
Our detailed policy can be found on the corporate website  
www.galatawindenerji.com.

Equal Pay for Equal Work Approach
Galata Wind has adopted the principle of “equal pay for equal work” 
as stated in its remuneration policy. At Galata Wind, we value the 
labor rights and believe individuals in the same workplace should 
be given equal pay. Our Company therefore has established job 
descriptions for, and the assignments of, company employees, as 
well as their performance and rewarding criteria, which were also 
announced to the employees. When determining and updating 
wage levels, market tendencies and performance assessments are 
taken into account and the annual wage increases are reflected on 
the wages in periods deemed suitable by the employer. 
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Human Resources
Human resources is an important and accordingly our main 
objective is to become an organization that our employees are 
happy and proud to be part of. We are aware that a sustainable 
growth is only possible with the employee engagement and for 
this reason we aim to grow our Group with colleagues who are 
quick, proactive and responsible and having strategic thinking 
skills. Galata Wind values its employees and it seeks to inform its 
stakeholders on the manner it supports its employees. Being part 
of Dogan Group, the human resources culture had been adopted 
and so did the policy. The policy can be found on the corporate 
website www.galatawindenerji.com.

In line with its Human Resources goals, Galata Wind aims to 
maintain high-quality and qualified human resources with acute 
awareness of social responsibility, to contribute to the training and 
development of these resources, to implement innovative human 
resources practices that reward success and to always provide its 
employees with the best.

In this context, Galata Wind provides an effective communication 
and motivation environment where its employees can express 
their creativity and ideas. It implements an inclusive management 
policy that combines different perspectives and knowledge, 
taking into account the work-private life balance.

Prioritizing the health of its employees during the pandemic, 
Galata Wind switched to remote working for head office 
employees. In addition, important practices such as social 
distance rules, preventive hygiene measures and online 
training were implemented for both head office and power 
plant employees. The Covid-19 Crisis Management Procedure, 
which was implemented company-wide in 2020, has been fully 
implemented, and employee health and safety has been carefully 
monitored.

Galata Wind successfully completed the recruitment and 
orientation/adaptation processes of new employees recruited in 
line with emerging needs in 2021. In March 2021, the individual 
targets of all head office employees, regardless of their title, were 
determined and migrated to the digital system. In December, the 
target achievement and competency evaluation process was also 
completed digitally. 

In 2021, a reward system was implemented for all employees 
who achieved success according to the performance results of 
the previous year. Additionally, in line with the 2020 Performance 
Management outputs, online training sessions suitable for the 
development opportunities of employees were determined and 
provided.

In order to enhance the development of potential talent, ICF 
Certified Coaching Trainings were conducted.

Implementing a reverse mentoring program in order to ensure 
that employees of different generations better understand each 
other’s expectations, Galata Wind supported the developmental 
journey of its employees in 2021 by assigning mentors born in 
1990 and after to Generation-X managers.

Within the scope of talent management activities, the 9 Box 
system was implemented regarding performance system results 
and potential measurement tools, n-1 level backup plans were 
developed with the committees and development needs were 
determined.

Following the IPO on April 2021 and new investments, newly 
emerging needs were determined to conduct an organizational 
structure study for 2022. The new structure is integrated into 
digitally accessed ERP systems.

Our main objective is to become an 
organization that our employees are 
happy and proud to be part of.

Corporate Sustainability
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Also in 2021, Galata Wind improved the side benefits of all 
employees based on title and provided its employees with online 
gift cards during the pandemic in order to celebrate special 
occasions such as birthdays, holidays and New Year’s Eve, as in 
previous years.

In 2022, within the scope of Human Resources Management, 
Galata Wind is planning to: 
• Reward success, 
• Seamlessly complete the recruitment process of additional staff,
• Conduct Management Trainee programs to support young 

talent,
• Implement development plans for backup talent and long-term 

training programs planned for Leadership Development within 
the scope of talent management,

• Contribute to the development of potential talent by including 
supervisors who successfully complete ICF-certified coaching 
training in the internal coaching program, 

• Form project groups to strengthen the employer brand, raise 
internal social responsibility awareness and conduct new social 
responsibility projects. 

The primary goal of Galata Wind is to implement the “Flexible 
Working Hours” method by January 22. Furthermore, Galata Wind 
plans to implement the “Working From Home/Remote Working 
Method” one day a week, regardless of the pandemic process.

Employee Profiles and Women Empowerment
As Galata Wind, we always are keen on working with the most 
equipped personnel in their field. We do appreciate a thorough 
expertise and experience but we also value and support the 
dynamism and enthusiasm of young colleagues with great desire 
for learning. We believe that education is one of the vital keys 
for success and therefore, promote higher education among our 
employees in harmony with the working hours. 

Women empowerment is in the foundation of Galata Wind. We 
cherish the work set forth by our women colleagues. In 2021, we 
achieved the unusual and welcomed a young, newly graduated 
woman team member who both works as an engineer and also 
is in charge of administrative affairs in Taşpınar WPP. We aim 
to increase the participation of women in the sector not only in 
technical positions but also executives. Our parent company 
Dogan Group currently has a Chairwoman and 4 more women 
Board Members, a ratio of 45% in total. With this exact vision, 
during our IPO, we have officially committed to increase the 
number of women executives in the HQ over 30% in 2 years and 
have at least 1 woman present in the Board of Directors. We are 
proud to state the we have already fulfilled the latter of these 
commitments and already raised the bar higher. 
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As of 2021 year-end, Galata Wind has 50 employees and below are some key indicators on our employee profile.

Galata Wind HQ WPPs
Job Title vs. # #Women #Men #Women #Men
Part-time 1 - - -
Housekeeper - - - 9
Admin. Staff / Exec. Assistant 1 1 - 2
Technician - - - 14
Asst. Specialist 1 1 - -
Engineer - - 1 -
Specialist 2 1 - -
Sen. Specialist - - - -
Asst. Manager 1 - - -
Manager 3 4 - 3
Sen. Manager - - - -
Director 2 1 - -
Deputy General Manager - 1 - -
CEO - 1 - -
Grand Total 11 10 1 28
Grand Total 21 29

Labor Profile HQ WPPs
#Women #Men #Women #Men

Blue Collar - - - 9
Grey Collar - - - 16
White Collar 11 10 1 3
Grand Total 11 10 1 28
Grand Total 21 29

Gender Profile # %
Women 12 24
Man 38 76
Grand Total 50 100

As of end-2021, Galata Wind’s 
employee count is 50.

Corporate Sustainability
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Age Profile

Gender vs. Age
30 and 

below (%) 31 – 35 (%) 36 – 40 (%) 41 – 45 (%) 46 – 50 (%)
51 and 

over (%) Average Age
Women 10 - 4 6 4 - 35.5
Men 6 6 22 16 12 14 42.6
Grand Total 16 6 26 22 16 14 40

Educational Profile
Levels Gender # % %

Primary School
W - -

12
M 6 12

Secondary School
W - -

2
M 1 2

High School
W 2 4

6
M 1 2

Vocational High School
W - -

24
M 12 24

Academy
W - -

12
M 6 12

University
W 7 14

28
M 7 14

Higher Education
W 3 6

16
M 5 10

Grand Total 50 100 100

Below is the employee growth of Galata Wind in the last 3 years.

Employee Growth
# of Employees (year-end) 2019 2020 2021
Women 8 8 12
Men 30 31 38
Grand Total 38 39 50

Employee Growth
# of Employees (year-end) 2019 2020 2021
HQ 17 15 21
WPPs 21 24 29
Grand Total 38 39 50

Galata Wind’s employee turnover rate is an indication on how the company values its employees and does its best to have a happy 
and contributing working atmosphere. Below is the turnover rate of employees for the last 3 years. 

Employee Turnover Rate

Turnover Rate (%)
Average # of 

Employees
# of 

Recruitments % Turnover # of Exits % Turnover
2019 38 12 45.6 4 11.1
2020 37 4 10.8 3 8.1
2021 44 15 40.9 5 11.4
Grand Total 40 10.3 25.9 4 10
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Remuneration Policy
Unless a resolution to the contrary is made by our Board of 
Directors, the duties of the “Remuneration Committee” are 
carried out by the Corporate Governance Committee, as also 
governed by the Corporate Governance Communiqué (II-17.1) 
(“Communiqué”) of the Capital Market Board (CMB).

A-General
Taking into consideration the market conditions as well as the 
balances within the Company, Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. (“Company”) 
has adopted the principle “equal pay for equal work.”

“Market tendencies” and “performance assessments” are taken 
into account when determining and updating wage levels.

The annual wage increases are reflected on the wages in periods 
deemed suitable by the employer in the determined rations with 
the approval of the Chief Executive Officer.

Certain “fringe benefit packages” are also provided for all 
employees in addition to their salaries, in accordance with their 
titles.

Senior executives and other staff members who have a say in the 
management may also receive “bonuses” or “awards” depending 
on their performance.

Informatory meetings are held for employees on matters such as 
the financial situation of the company, salaries, career, education 
and health, and opinions are exchanged.

Job descriptions for, and the assignments of, company 
employees, performance and rewarding criteria are announced 
to the employees. Efficiency is taken into consideration when 
determining the salaries and other benefits given to the 
employees. The company may create share acquisition plans for 
its employees.

B-Corporate Governance Committee

Corporate Governance Committee;

a) sets the principles, criteria, and the practices to be applied in the 
remuneration and performance evaluation of the members of 
the Board of Directors and senior executives with administrative 
responsibilities, taking into consideration the long-term goals of the 
Company as well, and monitors them,

b) submits proposals to the Board of Directors with regards to the 
remuneration for the members of the Board of Directors and 
senior executives with administrative responsibility, taking into 
consideration the extent by which the criteria used for such 
remuneration is met.

Furthermore, the Board of Directors conducts self-criticism and 
performance evaluation for the Board, for the members, and for the 
senior executives with administrative responsibility.

C-Board of Directors

As per the provisions of Article 394 of the Turkish Commercial Code, 
provided that the relevant amounts are determined with the Articles 
of Association or via a resolution of the general assembly, attendance 
fees, salaries, awards, bonuses, and shares from the annual profit can 
be paid to the members of the Board of Directors. Members of the 
Board of Directors, who have executive duties, may be given monthly 
remuneration as well as related fringe benefits because of their duties 
in the company, in addition to the “attendance fee” they receive in 
their capacity as members of the Board of Directors.

These remuneration principles hereby for the members of the Board 
of Directors and executives with administrative responsibilities, which 
are prepared in writing, are submitted for the information of the 
shareholders as a separate agenda item for the general assembly 
meeting, and the partners are given an opportunity to express 
their opinions on this matter. Our remuneration policy is available 
on the corporate website of the Company at the address www.
galatawindenerji.com.

Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. has 
adopted the principle  
“equal pay for equal work.”

Corporate Sustainability
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Dividends, share options, or payment plans based on company’s 
performance are not used in the remuneration of Independent 
Members of the Board of Directors. However, care is exercised to 
ensure that the remuneration of Independent Board Members is 
at a level to ensure that their independence is maintained.

The company does not lend, extend credit, extend the terms of 
debts or loans given, improve the terms and conditions thereof, 
make available loans under the name of personal loans through 
a third party, or give guarantees such as sureties for any member 
of the Board of Directors or executives with administrative 
responsibility.

Remuneration and all other benefits (all benefits such as cash, 
shares, bonuses, cash, shares or derivatives based on shares 
such as other regular and incidental payments, share purchase 
options given to employees within the scope of share acquisition 
plans, non-cash payments such as ownership of houses, 
automobiles, etc. and/or such properties being allocated for use) 
that are provided to the members of the Board of Directors and 
senior executives with administrative responsibility are disclosed 
to the public in a consolidated manner after being classified 
through the annual report.

Indemnity Policy
According to the Turkish Labor Law, the Group is obliged to pay 
severance payments to its personnel who have been terminated 
without any reason, called up for military service, passed away, 
or who have reached retirement age (58 for women, 60 for 
men) after completing 25 years (20 years for women) of service, 
provided that they have completed one year of service. The 
amount payable is equal to a maximum of one month’s salary 
for each year of service, limited to the severance pay ceiling 
announced within the framework of the coefficients determined 
by the decision of the Public Servants Arbitration Board No. 
2012/1 and announced by the Ministry of Finance.

Disclosure Policy

1. Objective
The purpose of Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. (“Galata Wind” or 
“Company”) “Disclosure Policy” (“Disclosure Policy”) is to 
provide information to the stakeholders and investors (“capital 
market participants”) about the past performance and the 
future expectations of the Company with an active and open 
communication. Within this scope, the provisions of the Capital 
Market Law (“CML”), Capital Market Board (“CMB”) Regulations and 
the other relevant legislation (“Capital Market Legislation”) shall be 
complied with. With the exception of information that constitutes 
“trade secrets,” the Company believes that sharing information 
with the public about its strategies related with its activities, critical 
issues, risks and growth opportunities will create a more efficient 
market for the Company’s capital markets instruments.

With regards to public disclosure, the Company shall comply with the 
Capital Market Legislation as well as the Turkish Commercial Code 
(“TCC”), Borsa İstanbul A.Ş. (“Exchange”), and Merkezi Kayıt Kuruluşu 
A.Ş. (Central Securities Depository) (“MKK”), and exercises maximum 
care to implement the principles set forth in the CMB Corporate 
Governance Principles.

The Disclosure Policy has been prepared in line with CMB’s II-
15.1 “Material Events Disclosure Communiqué” and the II-17.1 
“Communiqué on Corporate Governance.”

2. Scope
It has been prepared by the Board of Directors within the framework 
of the Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”), Capital Markets Legislation; 
Capital Market Board (“CMB”), and Borsa İstanbul A.Ş. (“BIST”) 
regulations, taking as the basis the CMB Corporate Governance 
Principles. The Disclosure Policy determines the principles of written 
and verbal communication with all employees of Galata Wind as well 
as all affiliated companies operating under it, consultants, official 
authorities, customers, suppliers, creditors, investors, trade unions, 
various non-governmental organizations, potential individuals who 
are contemplating investing in the company, analysts (collectively 
“stakeholders”) and shareholders.

3. Responsibility
Galata Wind Board of Directors is responsible for the 
implementation, supervision, periodic review, and the development 
of the Disclosure Policy. The Board of Directors may exercise such 
power either by itself, or delegate it to natural persons or legal 
entities. The Corporate Governance Committee shall assist the 
Board of Directors in matters related with the Disclosure Policy.

The Disclosure Policy approved by the Board of Directors is made 
public through the Public Disclosure Platform (“KAP”) and the 
Corporate Website of the Company (www.galatawindenerji.com). 
In case there are changes in the Disclosure Policy, the new text 
approved by the Board of Directors is announced through KAP and 
the Corporate Website, and is presented for the information of the 
shareholders in the first general assembly to be held.

4. Methods and Means of Public Disclosure
The below communication methods and means for the 
implementation of the Disclosure Policy are as follows:

a) Material events disclosures announced through the Public 
Disclosure Platform KAP, and the Company General Disclosure 
Form

b) Financial statements and footnotes, activity reports, corporate 
governance compliance reports, etc. announced through the 
Public Disclosure Platform KAP,

c) Corporate Website (“www.galatawindenerji.com“),
d) Presentations, information notes, disclosure, and promotional 

documents prepared for investors,
e) Face-to-face meetings or teleconferences held with the 

shareholders,
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f) Other documents such as prospectuses, circulars, and 
announcements texts required to be prepared in line with the 
CMB regulations,

g) Ads and announcements issued via Turkish Trade 
 Registry Journal and daily newspapers,
h) Press releases through written, visual, audio, and social media,
i) Explanations through data distribution organizations such as 

Reuters, Forex etc.

4.1. Galata Wind Corporate Website  
(“www.galatawindenerji.com“)
The Corporate Website is actively used in public disclosure as 
recommended by the CMB Corporate Governance Principles. 
Disclosures on the Company’s Corporate Website are not a 
substitute for notifications and material disclosures required by 
the provisions of the Capital Market Legislation.

All disclosures made by Galata Wind to the public through the 
Public Disclosure Platform (“KAP”) are accessible through the 
Corporate Website. The Corporate Website is configured and 
relevant sections are provided accordingly. All measures are 
taken to ensure the security of the Corporate Website.

The “Corporate Communications Department” is responsible 
for coordinating the preparation of the Galata Wind Corporate 
Website. Corporate Website contains areas dedicated to 
shareholders and investors. The contents of these areas are 
prepared by the Investor Relations Department. These areas are 
structured in a detailed manner to ensure that the capital market 
participants can monitor company performance in the best way.

The official documents announced through the KAP within the 
scope of CMB regulations are also posted on the corporate 
website, making it easier for investors to access such documents.

The Corporate Website is prepared in Turkish and English with the 
content and format stipulated by the CMB Corporate Governance 
Principles. Particularly, information about the general assembly 
meetings to be held, information document about agenda items, 
other information, documents and reports on agenda items, and 
information on methods of attendance in the general assembly 
meeting are posted inconspicuously on the Corporate Website.

Efforts to improve the Corporate Website are carried out 
continuously.

4.2. Disclosure of Financial Reports to the Public and Authorized 
Individuals
The Financial Reports of the Company are prepared within the 
scope of CMB II-14.1 “Communiqué on the Principles of Financial 
Reporting in Capital Market,” and in accordance with the Turkish 
Accounting Standards (“TAS”) and the Turkish Financial Reporting 
Standards (“TFRS”) issued by the Public Oversight, Accounting and 
Auditing Authority (“KGK”). Annual financial statements are disclosed 
in full and six-monthly financial statements are disclosed after being 
subject to limited independent auditing.

Prior to public disclosure, financial statements and footnotes are 
submitted to the Board of Directors for approval, with the affirmative 
opinion by the Audit Committee, in compliance with the CMB 
regulations. After the statement of liability is signed, the financial 
statements, the footnotes thereof, and the independent audit 
report, if any, are disclosed in KAP. The financial statements and 
the footnotes thereof can be accessed retrospectively through the 
Company’s Corporate Website.

In addition to the information disclosed in the financial statements 
and the footnotes, in order to ensure that the analyses required 
by the investors can be carried out, additional information such 
as Galata Wind’s individual (solo) net cash and liabilities, foreign 
currency positions and investment information as well as Net Asset 
Value (“NAV”) can be provided within the scope of the investor 
presentations prepared for each financial statement period. 

Galata Wind is a company that 
internalizes its policies.
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Furthermore, summarized financial indicators for significant 
consolidated subsidiaries consolidated in the financial statements 
of Galata Wind can be included in the investor presentation sets 
posted on the Corporate Website at quarterly periods.

4.3. Disclosure of the Activity Reports to the Public and 
Authorized Individuals
The Activity Report is prepared with the coordination of the 
Investor Relations Department (“YIB”) in compliance with the 
Capital Market Legislation and the CMB Corporate Governance 
Principles; it is approved by the Board of Directors with the 
affirmative opinion of the Corporate Governance Committee, and 
disclosed to the public through KAP and the Corporate Website.

Hard copies of the annual activity reports, which can be accessed 
in Turkish and in English on the Corporate Website, are available 
through the Investor Relations Department YIB. Furthermore, 
the interim activity reports prepared on a quarterly basis are 
disclosed to the public through KAP, and are made available for 
the investors on the Corporate Website in Turkish.

4.4. Disclosure of Material Events to the Public and Authorized 
Individuals
The Financial Affairs Department is authorized and responsible for 
carrying out the material events disclosure requirements of Galata 
Wind.

As a principle, material events disclosures are signed by the 
General Manager-Chief Financial Officer, the Investor Relations 
Department Manager and/or Legal Consultant and sent to 
KAP. Names of individuals authorized to make material event 
disclosures on behalf of the Company, and changes therein are 
notified to the Exchange.

Material event disclosures are also posted on the Corporate 
Website in Turkish.

List of Individuals with Administrative Responsibility
Galata Wind’s list of “individuals with administrative responsibility” 
consists of individuals who are members of the Galata Wind Board 
of Directors, as well as those individuals who directly or indirectly 
have regular access to internal information related to Galata Wind 
as well as individuals who are authorized to make administrative 
decisions that affect Galata Wind’s future growth and business 
goals. Galata Wind board members and senior executives are 
publicly disclosed through KAP and the Corporate Website.

4.5. Other Notifications and Authorized Individuals
Notifications other than those listed above (prospectus, circulars, 
etc.) shall be signed in accordance with the powers set forth in the 
signature circular of the Company, and disclosed to the public.

4.6. Individuals Authorized to Make Public Disclosures
In addition to the above-mentioned notices, written and verbal 
information requests by the capital market participants shall be 
fulfilled in writing and/or verbally, within the limits of the powers 
specified by the Investor Relations Department, and with the 
knowledge and the approval of a senior authority, depending on 
the content of such request.

Press releases via printed and visual media, and Reuters, 
Forex etc. data distribution channels may only be made by the 
Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), or the Deputy 
General Manager-CFO.

Unless specifically assigned otherwise, employees of the 
Company other than the Investor Relations Department may 
not answer any questions received from the capital market 
participants. Information requests received are to be forwarded to 
the Investor Relations Department.

5. Communication With The Capital Market Participants
Galata Wind does not/may not provide directions with regards to 
its expectations associated with its activity results, and its share 
price to the capital market participants.

Unless otherwise stated in the Disclosure Policy, only persons 
authorized to make public disclosures may contact the capital 
market participants on behalf of Galata Wind. An authorized 
representative of Galata Wind Investor Relations Department 
YIB shall be present at all interviews held with the capital market 
participants. In the non-public interviews held with capital market 
participants, no information that is not yet publicly disclosed and 
that is material/private (inside information) is disclosed.

5.1. Face to face meetings or phone conversations
Telephone and/or face-to-face interviews with capital market 
participants, either individually or in groups, are an important 
part of Galata Wind’s investor relations development programs. 
However, Galata Wind does not provide any information on such 
matters that have not been disclosed to the public before; it does 
not disclose inside information that was not previously disclosed 
to the public, nor does it update such information previously 
disclosed to the public, in such settings.
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5.2. Presentations and/or speeches
Galata Wind may publicly announce the presentations, 
teleconferences, and speeches to be delivered for the capital 
market participants in advance, to the extent possible and 
through its maximum efforts. Galata Wind exercises care to not 
participate in such organizations that have not been publicly 
announced in advance. All or a summary of the presentations 
and/or explanatory information notes that have been prepared 
may be posted on the Corporate Website after the presentation, 
teleconference, and the speech have ended, pursuant to the 
decision of the Company. Galata Wind makes every effort to direct 
the relevant individuals to post presentations made in a planned 
and certain schedule, to the extent possible, on the Corporate 
Website.

5.3. Meetings Held Following the Public Disclosure of Financial 
Reports
Galata Wind is aware of the fact that regular meetings will be 
held with the capital market participants by telephone and/or 
tele-conference. Galata Wind may share the images and/or audio 
records of such meetings or the presentations used in these 
meetings with the brokerage institutions/fund managers following 
the meeting and/or post them on the Corporate Website. Galata 
Wind shall inform the relevant parties about the date and time of 
the interview, the access information, information about whether 
the access will be carried out simultaneously or through the 
pre-recorded tapes, through the information note that will be 
sent. This information may be included on the Corporate Website 
subsequently.

5.4. Analyst Reports
Galata Wind deems the analyst reports as the property of the 
company having prepared the analyst reports, and does not 
publish them on the Corporate Website. Galata Wind does not 
revise, confirm, or approve analyst reports or revenue models, 
does not assume responsibility for them, and does not distribute 
them. However, under certain limited circumstances and upon 

request, it can revise analyst reports to prevent misinforming the 
public provided that it uses only the information disclosed to the 
public and historical information, and provided that it is restricted 
to a specific subject. Galata Wind discloses to the public the 
names of the analysts preparing reports about the Company and 
their affiliated institutions on its Corporate Website.

5.5. Quiet Period
Galata Wind, in order to prevent asymmetric information 
distribution and unauthorized disclosure about activity reports, 
avoids discussing with capital market investors, during specific 
periods of the year, its financial results and about other relevant 
subjects. These periods are called “quiet periods.” For Galata 
Wind, the quiet period starts on the 15th of the month following 
the quarterly interim periods and the annual accounting period, 
and will end one working day following the disclosure of the 
financial reports to the public. During the quiet period, Galata 
Wind:

a) will not talk about the financial status of the company at one on 
one meetings or group meetings with capital market investors 
with the exclusion of information that has been already 
disclosed.

b) Unless it deems necessary, and provided that the provisions of 
the Capital Market Legislation are reserved, it will not provide 
comments about its activities and financial status,

c) With the exclusion of information already disclosed to the 
public, questions posed during one on one meetings or 
meetings with small groups will not be answered, and no 
explanations shall be given to such groups. In such a case, 
the relevant explanations shall be provided in the Corporate 
Website.

During the quiet period, individuals authorized to make public 
disclosure on behalf of Galata Wind may attend conferences, 
forums, and panels and make speeches and statements 
therein as per the terms and conditions set forth in the section 
“Communications with Capital Market Participants.”

Galata Wind is aware of the fact that 
regular meetings will be held with 
the capital market participants by 
telephone and/or tele-conference.
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6. Verification of News And Rumors
As a principle, Galata Wind does not provide any opinions about 
market rumors and speculations, or about news and rumors which 
are obvious to be incorrect, lies, and incorrect, and does not 
make public disclosures. When the Company becomes aware 
of such news and rumors of this nature in the market, individuals 
authorized to make public disclosure may consider making a 
press release stating that not providing comments and opinions 
about hearsays and rumors circulating in the market is a part of 
Company’s Disclosure Policy.

In the event of news or rumors about Galata Wind and its 
subsidiaries being circulated in the press and media outlets, or 
made known to the public for the first time through other means of 
communication are different from previously disclosed information, 
important to the extent to affect investment decisions of investors 
or the value of capital market instruments, our Company will issue 
a disclosure to announce to the public whether the news and 
rumors are true, adequate or not.

In principle, the following rules are applicable by Galata Wind in 
fulfilling the obligation for verification:
a) If the news and the rumor are not important to be included in 

the definition of “inside information,” no explanation is provided 
about the matter in principle. Nevertheless, the Corporate 
Communications Department assesses whether it would be 
useful to issue a press release about such news or rumors that 
do not require a material disclosure as per the CMB regulations.

b) For news and rumors in the nature of inside information, no 
action shall be taken if a material disclosure had been made 
previously or if the disclosure was made by other public 
disclosure instruments within the scope of the CMB regulations.

c) In principle, no comments are made for rumors, hearsay, and 
obviously unfounded news not originating from Galata Wind. 
However, if it is deemed necessary to protect the interests of 
Galata Wind and its investors, a material event disclosure may 
be made for such unfounded news. Independently from the 
material event disclosure, a press release may be made by the 
Corporate Communications Department if deemed necessary. In 
such cases, Galata Wind reserves all its legal rights as well.

d) A material event disclosure is made on the subject if there are 
any false or incorrect news that may be considered as insider 
information by Galata Wind, which may significantly affect the 
value of Galata Wind’s shares and the investors’ investment 
decisions.

e) In case news related to the deferred information covers 
important details, is originating from the Company, and is true, 
the reasons for the relevant postponement are deemed to be no 
longer the case, and the relevant disclosure is made. If the news 
about deferred information is wrong, no explanations may be 
provided, as there is no leakage of information.

f) The circulation or the recognition of the media outlet where 
such news is published is also taken into consideration during 
the course of the relevant evaluation to be made.

7. Measures For Ensuring Confidentiality of Inside Information Up 
Until Public Disclosure

List of individuals with access to inside information
Individuals who work regularly under an employment contract or 
otherwise, and who have regular access to inside information are 
notified to MKK and necessary updates are made within two working 
days at the latest in case of any changes in such information.

Individuals with administrative responsibility are considered to be 
persons who have access to inside information as well as per the 
relevant legislation.

The following are included in the notification of individuals who have 
access to inside information:
a) The name of the individual with access to inside information, T.R. 

identification number or passport number, and MKK registration 
number, if any

b) The reason such individual is on the list,
c) The date when the list was prepared and updated,
d) Whether the individual is among those with administrative 

responsibilities.

The list of individuals with access to internal information is updated 
under the following conditions:
a) When there is a change in the reason why an individual is in the list,
b) When it is required to add a new individual to the list,
c) When an individual in the list no longer has access to inside 

information.

The Company ensures that such individuals with access to inside 
information are aware of the obligations set forth in the Capital Market 
Law and the relevant legislation, and the sanctions associated with 
the misuse of such information.

Individuals with access to inside information are obliged to maintain 
the confidentiality of inside information during the course of the 
formation of such inside information, and until such inside information 
becomes the subject of a material event disclosure.

Persons with access to inside information may not, in principle, share 
such inside information with third parties, without a confidentiality 
agreement, etc. If it is discovered that inside information has 
been disclosed or leaked to third parties unintentionally by these 
individuals, a material events disclosure shall be made immediately 
upon conclusion that the confidentiality of the information will not be 
able to be ensured within the scope of CMB regulations.

In cases where individuals with access to inside information are 
required within the ordinary course of business life, to share 
such information with third parties, it is only possible to do so if a 
confidentiality agreement is signed between the parties.
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8. Public Disclosure of Forward Looking Assessments
It is not obligatory to make public disclosures for forward looking 
assessments. Galata Wind may disclose its expectations from 
time to time in accordance with its Disclosure Policy. In case the 
Company wishes to make a public disclosure about its forward 
looking assessments evaluations, the following principles must be 
complied with:
a) Forward looking assessments may be disclosed to the public 

with a written approval of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 
and the Deputy General Manager - CFO authorized by a board 
resolution or by the Board of Directors.

b) Forward looking assessments are disclosed to the public 
by the Company management at most four times a year. 
Such disclosure may be made in the form of a material event 
disclosure, or through activity reports announced within 
the framework of CMB’s regulations on financial statements 
or through presentations for informing investors provided 
that they are disclosed via Public Disclosure Platform (KAP). 
However, when a significant change occurs in the publicly 
disclosed forward looking assessments, it is mandatory that 
such disclosure be made in accordance with the provisions of 
the relevant legislation, without being subject to such number 
restrictions set forth herein.

c) The explanations related to the forward looking assessments 
shall include the reasons of these differences in case there is a 
significant difference between the issues publicly disclosed and 
the actualizations.

The written documents where the Company explains its 
expectations shall expressly indicate that potential risks, 
uncertainties, and other factors may significantly cause to 
differentiate actual results from expectations. Galata Wind 
declares its expectations verbally only in pre-planned and 
scheduled meetings and organizations. Expectations can only be 
made by individuals authorized to make public disclosures, and 

by expressly referring to the above warning notices or by making 
references to a written and publicly available document (a press 
release, information document, a previous disclosure within the 
scope of the Capital Market Legislation, a presentation etc.).

Forward looking information in the public disclosures shall be 
announced together with the rationale and statistical data on 
which the estimates are based. Such information shall not contain 
exaggerated and unfounded predictions, shall not be misleading 
and shall be associated with the financial status and operating 
results of the company.

In case the expectations and the basis thereof that appear 
in the disclosed information, in regular financial reports are 
not actualized, or in case it is discovered that they will not be 
actualized, the revised information, charts, and reports revised 
with the justifications thereof shall immediately be disclosed to the 
public.

Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct
Since its addition to the Dogan Group structure, Galata Wind has 
deeply adopted the values and priorities of the Group and made 
them its own. The Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct build a 
foundation and a common approach to specific issues of relevant 
importance to the company and stakeholders. Precedent conflict 
of interest scenarios that may take place among and in between 
employees, business partners and the organization are presented 
in the code. It further comprises principles and rules employees 
should adhere to. Since 2021, the Ethics Hotline is in operation, 
where Dogan Group employees including Galata Wind can get 
clarification on uncertain situations, as well as report behaviors or 
practices that may violate the code. 

Since its addition to the Dogan Group 
structure, Galata Wind has deeply 
adopted the values and priorities of 
the Group and made them its own.
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The Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct of Galata Wind is as 
follows; 

Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. classifies its code of ethics under three 
main categories:

1. Conflicts of Interest
The main principles regarding conflicts of interest and their 
management are as follows.
• Our employees cannot use their duties and powers in any way 

for the benefit of themselves, their families or third parties to 
acquire personal gain. 

• Our employees cannot directly or indirectly receive gifts, 
acquire benefits or accept debts in connection with company 
activities from persons or companies that have a business 
relationship with Galata Wind.

• Our employees cannot provide gifts or benefits to third parties 
that will affect their impartiality, decisions and behaviors. 

• The company’s resources and facilities cannot be used to 
support political activities. Political activities, donations to 
political parties or their candidates, and political campaigns are 
prohibited within Galata Wind. 

Details of the above-mentioned items are as follows below.

1.1. Gifts that can be Given 
Gifts to be given to parties that have a business relationship 
with Galata Wind must comply with the rules specified in this 
document. Accordingly, the following rules have been determined 
in relation to the gifts to be given. 
• The basic rule is that no monetary payment or easily 

redeemable gift is given, regardless of the amount. However, 
traditional gifts that our employees may give in line with their 
status and position due to special or general celebrations 
(wedding, engagement, birthday, etc.) are excluded from this 
scope. 

• The value of the gift given cannot exceed TRY 500. In 
exceptional cases, the approval of the Department’s top 
management is necessary. 

• The gifts should not aim to affect the impartiality, decision 
and behavior of the counterparty in relation to any business, 
agreement and bureaucratic transaction in which Galata Wind is 
involved. 

1.2. Acceptable Gifts 
Our employees cannot request any personal payments or gifts 
from third parties that have a business relationship with Galata 
Wind and cannot engage in any activity that appears to be such 
a request. Provided that they are within the framework of honesty 
and goodwill, gifts can only be accepted in accordance with the 
rules below. 
• Our employees can not in any way accept cash payments, 

regardless of the amount. This includes easily redeemable 
instruments (gift cards, etc.). 

• A non-monetary gift can be accepted provided that its value 
does not exceed TRY 500, it is not connected with any 
business or agreement concerning Galata Wind, and it does not 
aim to influence our employees in these matters. 

• In case a non-cash gift whose value exceeds TRY 500 is 
offered, the employee should not accept the gift in question. 
However, in the event of a gift offer that does not cause a 
conflict of interest, such gifts may be accepted with the written 
approval of the Management. Written approval is obtained from 
the top manager of the department. Approvals must be retained 
by the party who requested such approval. 

1.3. Gifts to be Given to Public Officials 
In the event a gift will be given to a public official or a public 
servant, the current decision of the Ethics Committee on this 
issue, available at the http://www.etik.gov.tr web address, should 
be complied with. 

1.4. Business Meals 
Whether inviting to or participating in a business meal event, 
utmost care should be taken to ensure that the invitation is 
suitable for its purpose. In principle, it is essential that a business 
meal event is held in a place suitable for the business meal 
concept and the respective locations of the participants. 

1.5. Political Activities 
Galata Wind respects its employees’ right to individually 
participate in political activities. However, those participating in 
political activities must make it clear that they are not representing 
the views of Galata Wind. The following are expected from our 
employees who participate in political activities: 
• Making it clear that the employee is not representing Galata 

Wind in any way. 
• Strictly avoiding the use of Galata Wind resources (including 

working hours, telephones, paper, e-mail, and other assets) in 
performing or supporting individual political activities. 

1.6. Side Jobs 
Our employees cannot work in a second job against 
remuneration, both on working days, on weekends, national 
holidays and general holidays, and on annual paid leave days. 
Activities carried out against royalty such as cultural, artistic or 
scientific studies should be notified to the Human Resources 
Department. In addition, employees must obtain the written 
approval of the CEO when they receive an offer for a consultancy 
or similar position that requires payment or if they hold a direct or 
indirect share in a company that gives them the right to control 
their management. On the other hand, our employees may 
participate in voluntary activities (legal charities, associations or 
non-governmental organizations, etc.), provided that they do not 
omit their duties and responsibilities at Galata Wind. However, 
corporate title and position cannot be used for such activities.
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1.7. Personal Investments 
Our employees cannot make personal investments with the 
shares or other investment instruments of companies which may 
cause a conflict of interest with their duties and responsibilities in 
Galata Wind when managing their personal investments.

2. Relations with Stakeholders
The basic principles that employees should comply with regarding 
their relations with each other, business partners, customers, 
suppliers, etc. are as follows. 
• In relations with customers, suppliers and persons/institutions 

Galata Wind conducts business with, the principles of honesty, 
trust, consistency, professionalism, long-term relations and 
respect for mutual interests are respected. 

• It is aimed to satisfy all needs and expectations of customers 
with our services and products. 

• Rival products are not discredited and no misleading 
advertisements are made. 

• Within the scope of Human Resources Management, 
discrimination on the basis of race, ethnicity, nationality, 
religion and gender is strictly prohibited; equal opportunities 
are provided to people under equal conditions, performance 
and efficiency are taken into account in remuneration and 
promotion, and an “open-door policy” is followed. 

• Employees are provided with a safe and healthy working 
environment and opportunities to develop their careers. 

• We prioritize the protection of the environment and natural life, 
consumer rights and public health, and the regulations on these 
matters are followed. 

• Known or suspected rule violations should be reported to 
the Department Manager or Human Resources Management 
before taking any action. 

• Employees should dress simply and elegantly, suitable for 
the business environment, and should avoid clothing that is 
incompatible with the image of Galata Wind or that expresses a 
certain political opinion.

• In terms of business decisions, employees should focus only 

on the interests of the company, rather than individual and 
family concerns. Furthermore, in the event of any uncertainty 
during the decision-making phase, the public interest should be 
prioritized. 

• Employees show utmost care to business expenses and act 
upon savings and cost awareness. Employees show maximum 
effort in protecting company assets.

• Unless duly authorized, employees cannot take any actions or 
make statements that will bind the company. 

• Business activities are conducted in accordance with the 
applicable legislation, articles of association, internal regulations 
and corporate policies. Time and other restrictions specified in 
information requests from official authorities are complied with. 

• Employees carry out their activities in a fair, transparent and 
accountable manner. 

• It is essential that relations between employees are maintained 
with mutual respect, trust and collaboration. 

• All employees play their role in the protection and improvement 
of the respectable image of Galata Wind. In this context, all 
employees make sure that their personal behavior and actions 
are in compliance with the applicable legislation and general 
business ethics. 

• Galata Wind prioritizes its social responsibilities. We comply 
with regulations on environment, consumer and public health. 
Galata Wind supports and respects internationally recognized 
human rights. We fight against all forms of corruption, including 
extortion and bribery. 

2.1. Communication 
False, misleading and exaggerated information should be strictly 
avoided in communications with customers or other institutions. 

2.2. Media Researches and Interview Requests 
All interviews are given in accordance with the “Public Disclosure 
Policy” of Galata Wind. Employees cannot make any statements 
to the press on corporate matters without being authorized by the 
Chief Executive Officer or the Chairman of the Board of Directors. 
Written approval of the top manager of the relevant department 

It is aimed to satisfy all needs  
and expectations of customers with 
our services and products.
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is should be taken in order to speak at meetings held by others 
such as congresses, conferences, seminars and panels. Likewise, 
no articles, letters or images can be prepared using the job title at 
Galata Wind without approval. 

2.3. Pricing  
In pricing the products and services provided by the company, 
our employees are obliged to comply with internal regulations 
and legal requirements on this regard. Compliance with the rules 
specified in this document and the reputation of Galata Wind are 
taken as basis in pricing. 

2.4. Customer Complaints 
All complaints submitted by our customers regarding our 
products and services should be communicated to the relevant 
departments to achieve a quick and accurate solution. All kinds 
of significant and extraordinary complaints that may affect the 
reputation of Galata Wind should be communicated to the 
Executive Committee through Department Managers without 
delay. 

2.5. Legal Demands Regarding Stakeholders 
Documents and information demanded by authorized bodies 
regarding our stakeholders can only be provided upon the 
approval of the Legal Affairs Department. 

2.6. Actions Contrary to Competition Laws 
Under no circumstances can our employees engage in actions 
or agreements that could abuse our dominant position or affect 
pricing and marketing policies and violate competition regulations. 
In the event of any uncertainty, the Legal Affairs Department 
should be consulted before taking any action. 

2.7. Legal Issues 
In the event an employee is involved in any criminal or 
administrative investigation (as a witness, defendant or suspect), 
detained, arrested, interrogated or convicted for any reason, 
the employee in question must immediately notify his/her 
Manager and the Human Resources Management in writing; if 
written notification is not possible, the relevant parties should be 
informed verbally. Human Resources Management informs the 
Legal Affairs Department and under the directions of the Legal 
Affairs Department, an attorney is assigned to the employee when 
necessary.

3. Information Flow 

3.1. Information Security 
All kinds of information held by Galata Wind are confidential and 
it is prohibited to transfer such information to third parties. Within 
this scope; 

• All company information and the personal data of employees, 
customers and partners are treated with privacy.

• Employees cannot disclose confidential and non-public information 
and use them to gain benefits for themselves or on behalf of 
others. 

• Restrictions on copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets and patents 
are respected. 

• Information of our customers is kept confidential within the scope 
of the protection of personal data. Unless ordered by authorized 
bodies, such information cannot be disclosed to third parties. 

3.2. Corporate Information 
Trade secrets, financial data, customer/employee data and 
information, materials, programs and documents obtained during 
employment, computer and telecommunication systems, hardware, 
software and all the works, agreements and products developed by 
the employees during their tenure in Galata Wind are confidential 
and owned by Galata Wind. Information of third parties obtained 
within the scope of our activities is also within this scope. It is strictly 
prohibited to use such documents during or after the employment 
period for personal advantage or for the advantage of third parties, 
institutions and organizations. The patent right of the inventions 
belongs to Galata Wind. 

3.3. No Insider Trading 
Employees who possess non-public or confidential information 
regarding the company, its customers, or transactions are prohibited 
from using this information in the trading of all kinds of capital market 
instruments or financial instruments, including stocks, to obtain 
personal gains or to use this information for the purpose of obtaining 
gains for third parties. 

3.4. Information Systems 
No software developed or procured from outside by Galata Wind 
can be used, provided to third parties and copied for any purpose 
(personal or work-related) without authorization or permission. 

3.5. Confidentiality of Electronic or Other Information 
It is forbidden for our employees to use Galata Wind equipment, 
systems or e-mail system to prepare, store or send their personal 
and private information. In the event they use such systems, they 
will be deemed to have waived the confidentiality of their personal 
information. The employees responsible for the supervision and 
security of the organization will have the right to review such 
information.

3.6. Other 
Any information security violation that is not specified above but 
detailed under the Information Security Policy will be deemed to 
have violated the Code of Ethics.
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Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy
As a member of the Dogan Group family, Galata Wind utilizes its 
same policy for anti-bribery and anti-corruption. Doğan Group, 
and therewith Galata Wind, has a zero-tolerance policy on 
bribe and corruption. All employees and third parties acting on 
behalf of the Group are required to comply with the anti-bribery 
and anti-corruption rules, national and international laws and 
regulations and the Doğan Group Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption 
Policy. The policy can be found on the corporate website www.
galatawindenerji.com.

Donation & Aid Policy

1. Objective
The objective of the donation and aid policy is to set forth the 
principles of donations and aids made by Galata Wind within the 
scope of its corporate social responsibility activities.

2. Scope
Galata Wind and its subsidiaries constitute the scope of the 
donation and aid policy. Galata Wind companies may create their 
unique policies in compliance with the principles set forth in this 
policy hereby.

3. Goal
The goal of the donation and aid policy is to ensure that the 
donations and aids are made in compliance with the relevant 
laws and regulations as well as Galata Wind’s corporate social 
responsibility approach, to determine the principles thereof, and 
to govern the associated powers.

4. Definitions and Abbreviations

4.1. Company: Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş.

4.2. Galata Wind Group: They are Galata Wind, and the direct or 
indirect subsidiaries, affiliates, and business partnerships of Galata 
Wind.

4.3. Document: Any and all kinds of written texts including 
procedures whereby Galata Wind’s policies, regulations, procedures, 
and business processes are prepared in writing, and are open for the 
access of the relevant employees, and any other similar written texts.

4.4. Name of Document: Relevant subject of the document

4.5. Articles of Association: Galata Wind articles of association

4.6. CMB: Capital Market Board

4.7. CMBl: Capital Market Board Law

4.8. Controlled Copy: These are the documents that are reproduced 
from the original document with a wet (original) signature, have a red 
mark (stamp) that indicates that the document is a valid document that 
is in effect, and that, when revised, the new revision will be distributed 
in return for a signature by the individual in charge, and that the old 
revision will be withdrawn. When the original document is revised, it 
is mandatory to track the copies with the persons to whom they have 
been distributed.

4.9. Donations: They are donations made to the recipient, without 
anything in return, and that are conditional or unconditional.

4.10. Aids: It is the partial or a full supply of goods or services 
needed, without expecting anything in return, upon the request of the 
other party and on condition that the use of such aid is documented/
reported etc. to be in accordance with the purpose of the aid.

4.11. TCC: Turkish Commercial Code

4.12. TCO: Turkish Code of Obligations

Doğan Group, and therewith Galata 
Wind, has a zero-tolerance policy 
on bribe and corruption.

Corporate Sustainability
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5. Roles and Responsibilities

5.1. The Board of Directors
a) oversees the creation of the donations and aids policy within 

the framework of the legislation.
b) approves the donations and aids policy that is created, and the 

updates to be made as needed.
c) approves the institutions and organizations to which donations 

and aids will be made and given.
d) approves the amount of donations and aids to be made within 

an accounting period, and oversees the implementation 
thereof. The Board of Directors proposes to the General 
Assembly to set an upper limit for donations and aids.

e) It monitors the compliance of the donations and the aids with 
the Galata Wind policies, TCC, CMBl, CMB Regulations and 
Decisions, TCO, Tax Laws, other relevant legislative provisions 
as well as the Articles of Association and Resolution of the 
General Assembly.

5.2. Executive Committee:
a) Reviews the donations and aids policy created and the updates 

thereof to be made when needed, and sends them to the 
Board of Directors for approval.

b) Identifies the institutions to be given donations and aids as 
well as the type and the quantity of the donation to be made in 
line with the corporate social responsibility approach of Galata 
Wind, and sends them to the Board of Directors for approval.

c) Checks the compliance of the donations and the aids with 
the Galata Wind policies, TCC, CMBl, CMB Regulations and 
Decisions, TCO, Tax Laws, other relevant legislative provisions 
as well as the Articles of Association and Resolution of the 
General Assembly.

d) Monitors the compliance of the donations and the aids to be 
made within an accounting period with the principles set forth in 
this policy hereby, and the implementation thereof.

5.3. Deputy General Directorate in Charge of Financial Affairs
a) Responsible for preparing, developing, and updating the 

donations and aids policy.
b) Coordinates and ensures that the donations in cash are sent to 

the bank accounts of the relevant institutions and that donations 
in kind are delivered.

5.4. Information Technologies Directorate: It is the responsibility 
of the Galata Wind Information Systems Department Manager 
to post on the corporate portal the document that has been 
prepared.

5.5. Galata Wind Corporate Communication Department: It is 
the responsibility of the Galata Wind Corporate Communication 
Department Manager to internally disseminate the document that 
has been prepared.

5.6. Investor Relations Department is in charge of regulating the 
relations of Galata Wind with the corporate investors, portfolio 
managers, analysts, and current and potential shareholders in 
line with this policy, and to carry out the public disclosures in a 
transparent and simultaneous manner for all relevant parties. 
Posting the document that has been prepared in the website 
is the responsibility of the Galata Wind Investors Relations 
Department Manager.

6. Principles of Implementation
The articles of association must contain a provision in order for 
Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. (“Galata Wind” or the “Company”) to make 
donations In cases not specified in the articles of association, the 
limit of the donation to be made is determined by the general 
assembly.

In line with its corporate social responsibility practices, our 
Company can make donations and give aids to the following 
entities provided that it does not disrupt its objectives and 
subject-matter, in compliance with the provisions of the Turkish 
Commercial Code (“TCC”), Capital Market Law (“CMBl”), Capital 
Market Board (“CMB”) Regulations and Decisions, Turkish Code of 
Obligations (“TCO”), Tax Laws and the other relevant legislation as 
well as the Company Articles of Association and the Resolution of 
the General Assembly:

a) Departments included in the general budget, administrations 
with annexed budgets,

b) Provincial special administrations,
c) Municipalities and villages,
d) Foundations granted tax exemption by the Cabinet of Ministers
e) Associations regarded as beneficial for the public good,
f) Institutions and organizations carrying out scientific research 

and development activities, universities, educational institutions, 
and similar individuals or institutions.

Within the framework of its corporate social responsibility 
activities, Galata Wind can make donations and give aids in areas 
of education, health, sports, culture-art, environment, etc. that are 
of the nature of investments in the future, development and youth 
of the country.

The donations and aids may be made in cash and/or in kind.

The upper limit for the donations and aids to be made in 
accordance with the Capital Markets Legislation, CMBl, CMB 
Regulations and Decisions and as per the principles set forth 
in the Company’s Articles of Association is determined by the 
General Assembly with the recommendation of the Board of 
Directors.. The donations and aids are made and given with the 
recommendation of the Executive Committee and the approval of 
the Board of Directors within the upper limit that has been set.
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No donations may be made in amounts exceeding the limit set 
forth by the General Assembly, and the donations made within an 
accounting period shall be added to the “net distributable profit” 
base.

Galata Wind may make donations and aids in compliance with the 
CMBl and in accordance with the CMB Regulations and Decisions, 
provided that the “net distributable term profit” is calculated in line 
with the financial statements disclosed to the public.

The donations and aids made by the company must not 
be contrary to the provisions of the hidden income transfer 
provisions set forth in the CMBl and the CMB Regulations and 
Decisions, the TCC, TCO, and the other relevant legislation, the 
necessary material disclosures in line with the CMBl and the CMB 
Regulations and Decisions must be made, and the donations 
made within the year must be presented for the information of the 
partners in the ordinary general assembly.

The Galata Wind companies, the shares of which are not traded 
in Borsa İstanbul A.Ş., can make donations and aids provided 
that “net distributable term profit” is calculated as per the most 
recent monthly financial statements that have been prepared and 
finalized in line with the legal records kept within the scope of the 
Turkish Commercial Code and the Tax Laws.

Galata Wind may create foundations for social purposes for its 
members, may take part in and help such foundations.

Protecting and Processing Policy of Personal Data
This Policy applies to all personal data of natural persons 
including but not limited to our employees, employee candidates, 
interns, intern candidates, visitors, online visitors, supplier officials, 
supplier employees, subcontractor employees, shareholders / 
partners, members of the board of directors, product or service 
buyers and potential product or service buyers subject to data 
processing by Galata Wind.

Our policy applies to all processing activities related to personal 
data within Galata Wind and has been dealt with and prepared in 
accordance with LPPD and other legislation on personal data and 
international standards in this field. The policy itself can be found 
on the corporate website at www.galatawindenerji.com

Personal Data Storage and Destruction Policy 
This Policy covers all personal data of natural persons including 
employees, employee candidates, interns, intern candidates, 
visitors, online visitors, supplier officials, supplier employees, 
subcontractor employees, shareholders / partners, members 
of the board of directors, product or service buyers, potential 
product or service buyers and other third parties being processed 
by Galata Wind.

The policy is about the storage and destruction of these personal 
data processed by the Galata Wind in all kinds of electronic 
and printed media, and has been dealt with and prepared in 
accordance with LPPD and other legislation on personal data and 
international regulations and guidance documents in this field. 
The policy itself can be found on the corporate website at  
www.galatawindenerji.com

Corporate Sustainability

Based on the amendment made to the Corporate Governance Communiqué, numbered II-17.1 and published on October 2, 2020, our 
Company will start disclosing the information expected within the scope of the Sustainability Principles Framework within the Corporate 
Sustainability Report in the anticipated time frame. 

Statement of Compliance to Sustainability 
Principles Framework
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After Galata Wind Enerji’s initial public offering in April 2021, the company has started to implement some of the Corporate Governance 
Principles issued by the Capital Markets Board of Turkey. The company has not undergone a Corporate Governance Rating. 

Corporate Governance

On April 22, 2021, the Company was started to trade on the 
Borsa Istanbul under the ticker “GWIND” and has been subject 
to the regulations of the Capital Markets Board ever since. As 
per the Communiqué on Corporate Governance no. II-17.1 
prepared by the Turkish Capital Market Board and published 
in the Official Gazette dated 03.01.2014 and numbered 
28871, the Company strived to adopt the principles of equality, 
transparency, accountability and responsibility. Article no. 24 
under the “Corporate Governance Principles” in the Articles of 
Association stipulates that the Company and its bodies shall 
follow the principles mandated by the Capital Market Board. The 
activities and Board decisions that do not observe the mandatory 
principles shall be deemed as invalid and violation of the 
Articles of Association. The Capital Market Board’s regulations 
on corporate governance shall be followed throughout the 
application of the Corporate Governance Principles and the 
transactions which are important to the Company’s activities with 
the relevant parties.”

Galata Wind Enerji puts in considerable effort to comply with the 
mandatory principles, and it also aims to implement the optional 
principles in the upcoming period. Additionally, the Company 
aims to initiate the corporate governance compliance rating 
system and thus to appear in BIST Corporate Governance Index.

There has been no conflict of interest among the applied 
principles as well as the principles that have not been applied 
yet. In this regard, the principles that have not been applied yet 
are summarized below. 

The Aid and Donation Policies and the Profit Distribution Policies 
have been established and are planned to be submitted for 
approval during the Ordinary General Assembly meeting. 

As stated in the invitations, general assembly meetings are held 
open to the public including the stakeholders and the media 
without any right to speak, and these meetings are not included 
in the Articles of Association. 

For a clear separation of powers between the Chairman and 
Chief Officer/General Manager while going public, the Company 
has re-designated the Board of Directors and separated the 

Corporate Governance Principles 
Compliance Statement

relevant powers, which are not included in the Articles of 
Association separately. Following the Ordinary General Assembly 
Meeting, an Internal Directive on Codes and Procedures on the 
Governance and Presentation will be prepared, and the duties of 
Chief Executive Officer/General Manager and the Chairman will 
be identified and segregated.

Our Board of Directors has established the working principles 
to ensure that the Remuneration and Nomination Committees 
are carried out by the Corporate Governance Committee within 
the scope of the committees that have been established in 
compliance with the Corporate Governance Principles of the 
Capital Market Board. To emphasize our prioritization in terms 
of diversity during the public offering, one (1) female member 
has been elected for the Board in the Extraordinary General 
Assembly held on 21.12.2021, which, in return, increased the 
rate of female members in the Board to 15%; however, no policy 
involving a goal of the Female Board of Directors has been 
defined yet. 

Additionally, the principle article no. 4.5.5 is partially followed 
because the Independent Board Members are preferred to take 
part in all committees. 

As per article 4.6.5 of the Corporate Governance Principles, 
the Board Membership payments (daily allowances) defined by 
the General Assembly are included in the annual report. The 
Company management considers the financial rights of the 
Managing Members of the Board and senior management as a 
trade secret within the scope of the competitive power; they are 
declared to the public collectively as part of the Annual Report. 

Pursuant to the Capital Markets Board’s decision no. 2/49 dated 
10.01.2019, our Corporate Governance Compliance Report 
Template (URF) and Corporate Governance Information Form 
Template (KYBF) can be accessed via the Corporate Governance 
button on the Public Disclosure Platform. https://www.kap.org.tr/
en/sirket-bilgileri/ozet/4969-galata-wind-enerji-a-s
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Stakeholders are persons, institutions or interest groups that 
are related with the achievement of the goals or activities of 
the Company such as employees, creditors, clients, suppliers, 
several non-profit organizations. The Company protects the rights 
of the stakeholders in its transactions and activities which have 
been regulated in legislation and reciprocal contracts. In case 
the rights of the stakeholders are not protected by the relevant 
legislation and reciprocal contracts, those rights are protected 
within the framework of bona fides principles and within the 
capabilities of the corporation.

Supporting the Participation of the Stakeholders in the 
Company’s Management
The Company has made an effort to implement channels for 
the participation of stakeholders in management. Continuous 
enhancements and best practices are considered within the 
Corporate Governance Principles Framework. The Disclosure 
Policy determines the principles of written and spoken 
communication with all employees of Galata Wind, as well as 
all affiliated companies operating under it, consultants, official 
authorities, customers, suppliers, creditors, investors, trade 
unions, various non-governmental organizations, potential 
individuals who are contemplating investing in the Company, 
analysts (collectively “stakeholders”) and shareholders.

Shareholders: The participation of shareholders and the 
protection of their rights are ensured within the framework of 
applicable laws and regulations. On the other hand, shareholders 
- who are not controlling shareholders that directly take part 
in management - participate in management via General 
Assemblies.

Stakeholders

The company is making an effort in complying with mandatory 
and non-mandatory corporate governance principles. 
Accordingly, in 2021 the company has established the following 
policies: Disclosure Policy, Dividend Distribution Policy, 
Remuneration Policy and Donation & Aids Policy. Aside from 
these policies, Human Resources, Human Rights, Occupational 
Health and Safety, Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption, Social 
Responsibility, Compensation, Protection and Processing of 
Personal Data, Personal Data Storage and Destruction policies 

Corporate Governance Policies
and Ethical Principles and Code of Conduct. The operational 
scope of the company is a highly regulated area, which is 
why it is also necessary to have various standards, policies 
and procedures in place. That said, pertaining to ISO Quality 
Standards and Policies, the following policies are also in place; 
Quality management system; Environmental management 
system; Information Security Management System; Corporate 
Governance System; Customer Satisfaction Management System; 
Energy Management System.

Employees: As a general principle, the Company seeks to 
be one that its employees can be happy and proud to be a 
part of. While involving employees is an important part of the 
culture, the Company seeks to provide a suitable environment 
where employees can improve themselves individually and 
professionally. In line with this, opportunities are provided in 
terms of development and training, as well as the rewarding of 
high performance and providing appropriate and constructive 
feedback to those who give a lower than expected performance. 
Online platforms have been established for the convenient and 
efficient submission of requests, suggestions and opinions. 
While the current employee performance appraisal runs on 
a 90-degree basis, the company is working to implement a 
360-degree performance appraisal application in the coming 
period. Even though no employee representative is currently 
present on the Board, the Company values its employees’ 
feedback and has determined an employee representative, who 
collects information periodically and presents it to the CEO and/
or the CFO. 

Customers: In line with the Company’s vision, mission and 
values, customer satisfaction and legal requirements remain 
in the foreground at all times. The Company has created its 
“Customer Satisfaction Policy” to meet customer requests, 
suggestions, and complaints with its respectable, strong, and 
trustworthy character, and to elevate quality standards to an even 
higher level in order to provide better services and remain a 
pioneer in the industry. In line with this philosophy, the Company 
is ISO 10002:2018 certified. 

Outsourced Services: The business the Company is engaged 
in requires demands occupational health and safety not only for 
its own employees, but also for that of its related parties to be in 
place. The ISO 45001:2018 standard is therefore upheld with 
outsourced service providers through the working of the internal 
control and audit mechanisms. 
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The Function of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors acts as the governing body of the 
company with their primary goal to provide leadership to the 
company and deliver shareholder value over the long term. By 
meeting regularly, creating policies for the company oversight 
and management, the Board of Directors keeps the company’s 
risk, growth and return at optimal levels and in balance. The 
company’s vision and mission as well as its strategic decisions 
helps the Board of Directors manage and represent the company 
through rational and prudent risk management in the creation of 
long term benefits. The Board of Directors further monitors how 
the company’s operations and activities comply with legislation, 
the Articles of Association, internal regulations and policies, 
supports the decision on manpower and financial resources that 
the company would require and audits the performance of the 
management. 

Working Principles of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors conducts its activities in a transparent, 
accountable, fair and responsible way. The company has 
established a governance structure which enables the Board 
to focus on the key areas of responsibility that affect the long-
term success of the business. The effective communication 
with shareholders is a key component of the working principles 
which is why the Board of Directors works in close cooperation 
with the Investor Relations Department. Among the duties 
and responsibilities of the Board of Directors, continuous and 
effective collaboration with executives may be necessary 
and when deemed necessary, these participate in the Board 
meetings. Further to the duties and working principles of the 
Board of Directors may be found in the Articles 9, 10, 12 and 23 
of the Articles of Association. 

Some of the working principles and procedures of the Board of 
Directors are as follows: 
• Structure, Duties & Responsibilities of the Board of Directors
• Meeting call processes, meeting preparation & frequency of 

meetings
• Timing of the information and documents about the issues on 

the agenda shared
• Voting rights for members
• Obligation to share information among the Board members, as 

well as of executives to inform the Board
• Distribution of duties within the Board as well as committees 
• The power to represent the company
• Structure and formation of mandatory and additional 

committees, as well as several other topics

Board Committees and Assessment of  
the Board of Directors

Structure of the Board
The company’s Board of Directors is comprised of 7 directors, one 
(1) chairman, one (1) vice chairman and five (5) members, hence the 
rule having at least five (5) directors is complied with. Pursuant to the 
Articles of Association, the Board of Directors shall consist of at least 
six (6) and at most twelve (12). Therefore, the Board has sufficient 
directors for efficiently and constructively carrying out the work of the 
committees. The Board of Directors has one (1) executive and six (6) 
non-executives, and of the non-executives two (2) are independent 
directors. Hence, the requirements of the Corporate Governance 
Principles have been met. The independence declarations of 
the independent directors, stating their independence within the 
framework of the relevant legislation, Articles of Association and the 
criteria set forth in the Principles, have been submitted to the Board 
of Directors. Currently, there is one (1) female director serving on the 
Board. 

The company, recently offered to the public, is making an effort to 
comply with the selection process of the Board members as detailed 
in Chapter IV of the CMB Corporate Governance Principles and 
carry it out in accordance with the relevant articles of the Turkish 
Commercial Code. 

At the extraordinary General Assembly dated December 21, 2021 
and announced on the public disclosure platform, Çağlar Göğüş, 
Bora Yalınay, Burak Kuyan, Neslihan Sadıkoglu, Ayhan Sirtikara, 
Hüseyin Faik Açıkalın and Ozan Korkmaz were elected to the Board 
of Directors of the company for one (1) year with Çağlar Göğüş as 
chairman and Bora Yalınay as vice chairman. 

The résumés of the Directors can be found in the Annual Report 
titled “Management Report,” as well as on the corporate website 
under Corporate Governance menu titled “Board of Directors.”

Meeting Procedures of the Board of Directors
The meeting procedures of the Board of Directors are guided by 
an internal directive as well as stated in Article 12 of the Articles of 
Association. The Board of Directors meets as frequent as it will allow 
it to effectively carry out its duties. The Board of Directors convenes 
with the majority of the full number of its members, and makes its 
resolutions with the majority of the members who are attending the 
meeting. Information and documents about the issues on the agenda 
of the board of directors meeting shall be presented to the members 
of the board of directors at a reasonable period of time prior to 
the meeting, ensuring an equal flow of information. The Board of 
Directors meetings are held at the company’s headquarters as a rule. 
However, in line with a resolution of the Board of Directors, it is also 
permissible to hold meetings at another location in the city where 
the company headquarters is located, or in another city.
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The Board of Directors convened 46 times in 2021, 23 of which 
were attended by all Board members. The views of the members 
who are unable to attend the meeting but who do provide views 
in writing are presented to the other members for information. 
The resolutions of the Board of Directors are signed and entered 
in the resolution book. Those members who have cast negative 
votes must sign the minutes by indicating the relevant reasons 
thereof. The company’s operational results, performance 
indicators as well as financial, operational and sustainability 
targets are monitored regularly by the Board of Directors. Each 
member of the Board of Directors has the right to one vote and 
none of the members has a right to veto. The Board of Directors 
meetings are held in compliance with the legislation and the 
relevant sections of the Articles of Association.

As the company had its initial public offering in April 2021, 
the Board of Directors underwent changes to comply with the 
related legislation. Below are the attendance ratios of the Board 
members in the Board of Directors Meetings for 2021:

Board of Directors for the period 
between 22 April 2021 and  
09 August 2021
Board of Director Member Attendance Ratio
Çağlar Göğüş 100%
Bora Yalınay 87%
Burak Kuyan 100%
Tolga Babalı 75%
Yusuf Toklu 100%
Mehmet Ali Gürpınar 87%

Board of Directors for the period 
between 09 August 2021 and 
13 September 2021Board of 
Director Member Attendance Ratio
Çağlar Göğüş 100%
Bora Yalınay 87%
Burak Kuyan 100%
Yusuf Toklu 100%
Hüseyin Faik Açıkalın 100%
Ozan Korkmaz 100%

Board of Directors for the period 
between 13 September 2021 
and 21 December 2021
Board of Director Member Attendance Ratio
Çağlar Göğüş 100%
Bora Yalınay 100%
Burak Kuyan 100%
Ayhan Sırtıkara 100%
Hüseyin Faik Açıkalın 87%
Ozan Korkmaz 100%

Board of Directors for the period 
between 21 December 2021 
and 31 December 2021Board of 
Director Member Attendance Ratio
Çağlar Göğüş 100%
Bora Yalınay 100%
Burak Kuyan 100%
Neslihan Sadıkoğlu 33,3%
Ayhan Sirtikara 100%
Hüseyin Faik Açıkalın 100%
Ozan Korkmaz 100%

Committees Formed under Board of Directors
Audit, Corporate Governance and Early Risk Detection 
Committees have been formed in order for the Board of Directors 
to fulfill their duties and responsibilities in a reliable way as 
set forth in the CMB Corporate Governance Principles. As a 
separate nomination and remuneration committee could not be 
established, the corporate governance committee is fulfilling its 
duties. 

The established committees are composed of at least two 
members, with the majority of them being comprised of non-
executive members of the Board of Directors. All members of the 
Audit committee are comprised of independent board members. 
At least the Head of Committee of the Corporate Governance and 
Early Risk Detection Committee is an independent Board member 
while the Chairman and the CEO do not serve on any of the 
committees. Further, specialists may become committee members 
except for the Audit Committee. 

Board Committees and Assessment of the 
Board of Directors
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All committees have their duties, responsibilities and working 
principles set forth in the each of their committee bylaws, of 
which all are approved by the Board of Directors. The Board of 
Directors supports each committee in fulfilling their duties by 
providing them with all kinds of resources. Depending on topics 
discussed, committees may invite independent specialists, 
consultants and related executives to the meetings to obtain their 
views on operations. Information to the committee members, their 
working principles have been disclosed at their election on the 
public disclosure platform as well as the corporate website. As 
the establishment of these committees have been done during 
mid-year, only the Audit and Early Risk Detection Committees 
have been actively meeting. Whereas, the Corporate Governance 
Committee has not convened in 2021. 

Audit Committee
Hüseyin Faik Açıkalın (Head of Committee – Independent Board 
Member)
Ozan Korkmaz (Independent Board Member)

The Audit committee is responsible for assisting the Board of 
Directors in the matters of the company’s accounting system, 
public disclosure of financial information, independent auditing, 
and supervision of the operation and effectiveness of the 
company’s internal control and internal audit system. The 
committee will review and evaluate the systems and processes 
developed by the company regarding compliance with laws and 
regulations in these areas and make recommendations to the 
Board of Directors.

The Audit committee consists of Independent Board members, as 
it is defined by the CMB Corporate Governance Principles, and 
acts in accordance with the Audit Committee Bylaws approved 
by the Board of Directors. At least one of the members has a 
5-year experience on audit/accounting and finance. All kinds of 
changes regarding the committee members, number of members 
and terms of office are made with the decision of the Board of 
Directors. The term of office of the committee is parallel to the 
term of office of the Board of Directors.

The Audit Committee meets at least four times a year, at least 
once every 3 months, and reports the meeting results to the 
Board of Directors. Care is taken to hold the Committee meeting 
regarding the acceptance of the financial report at the latest one 
business day before the financial report is disclosed to the public. 

In addition to public disclosure of financial information and 
regular monitoring of independent auditing activities, the Audit 
Committee also reports its findings as a result of its own duties 
and responsibilities and evaluations to the Board of Directors.

The Audit committee notifies the Board of Directors through 
written evaluations with regard to the veridicality and accuracy 
of the annual and interim period financial statements to be 
disclosed to the public and accounting principles followed by 
the company, supported by the opinions of the responsible 
executives and independent auditors of the company. 4 written 
briefs were presented to the Board of Directors in 2021.

The Audit Committee convened 4 times in 2021. In 2 meetings, 
the committee members were informed about internal control 
and risk management processes and the decisions reached 
were recorded in the committee meeting resolution. In the other 
two meetings, in accordance with assessments of whether the 
assumptions based on the determination of the IPO price have 
been realized as stated in Article 29/5 of the Capital Market 
Board’s Share Communiqué No. VII/128.1, the committee 
members prepared and accepted the realization and evaluation 
report on the assumptions based on the determination of the IPO 
price.

Corporate Governance Committee
Hüseyin Faik Açıkalın (Head of Committee – Independent Board 
Member)
Ozan Korkmaz (Independent Board Member)
Halide Müge Yücel (Investor Relations Director)

The Committee is responsible for the Company’s compliance with 
corporate governance and sustainability principles, determination 
of the members of the board of directors and senior executives, 
remuneration, reward and performance evaluation, and career 
planning; further, it assists the Board of Directors in matters 
of investor relations and public disclosure. The Committee 
reviews and evaluates the systems and processes created or 
to be created by the company, and makes recommendations 
to the Board of Directors in the implementation of management 
practices that increases the company’s performance.

The Corporate Governance Committee determines whether 
the corporate governance and sustainability principles are 
implemented in the Company, if not, the reasons stating the 
lack of compliance and conflicts of interest arising from not 
fully complying with these principles. The committee makes 
recommendations to the Board of Directors to improve corporate 
governance and sustainability practices, and oversees the work 
of the investor relations department. The Committee makes 
recommendations to the Board of Directors on the healthy 
functioning of the infrastructure for governance and sustainability 
practices aimed at increasing the performance of the Company, 
including all of the Company’s subsidiaries, its understanding and 
adoption by the employees and its support by the management. 
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The committee currently fulfills the duties and responsibilities of 
the “Nomination Committee” and “Remuneration Committee.” In 
this case, the Committee works on identifying suitable candidates 
for the Board of Directors and senior management, establishing 
a transparent system regarding remuneration policies, and 
developing policies and strategies in this regard. The committee 
further conducts studies to determine approaches, principles and 
practices regarding performance evaluation, remuneration and 
rewarding policy, and career planning for members of the Board 
of Directors and senior managers. The Committee develops 
recommendations on the number of board members and managers. 
If the Committee deems necessary, it takes the opinions and 
suggestions of the Human Resources department. It evaluates 
regularly the structure and productivity of the board of directors 
and submit its advices to the board of directors regarding possible 
amendments in this respect The committee prepares the annual 
report, corporate governance report, sustainability reports, etc. to 
be disclosed to the public. It monitors the correct, complete and 
timely preparation of information and documents required to be 
prepared within the scope of the Capital Market Legislation, and 
reviews whether the information contained herein is correct and 
consistent according to the information it has. The Committee 
further oversees whether the public disclosures are made in 
accordance with the Company’s Disclosure Policy, in particular laws 
and regulations.

The Committee is comprised of three (3) members, including 
the Head of Committee who is an independent board member. 
Together with the Head, two (2) members are non-executive Board 
members, and the third member is the Investor Relations Director, 
appointed according to the Corporate Governance Communiqué 
No II-17.1. 

When the Corporate Governance Committee consists of two 
members, both of the members should be non-executive, whereas 
if there are more than two members, then the majority of the 
members should be non-executive. Currently, the Committee 
complies with the Corporate Governance Principles in terms of its 
formation. The Committee was established in August 2021 and 
has not convened in that reporting period. However, the committee 
convenes at least four times a year, at least once every 3 months, 
and reports the meeting results to the Board of Directors. 

Early Risk Detection Committee
Ozan Korkmaz (Head of Committee – Independent Board Member)
Ahmet Toksoy (Doğan Holding Board Member Responsible for Risk 
Management at Subsidiaries)
Onur Aytekin (CFO)

The Early Risk Detection Committee is responsible for the early 
detection of risks that may endanger the existence, development 
and continuation of the Company, the implementation of necessary 
measures regarding the identified risks, and carrying out the 
studies to manage the risks. Based on risk management strategies 
and in line with the opinions of the Board of Directors, the 
committee designs effective internal control systems in order to 
determine, implement and comply with risk management policies, 
implementation methods and systems. Aside from designing and 
monitoring the implementation of necessary measures and actions 
regarding the identified risks, and monitoring risk management 
practices on an institution basis in order to identify and manage 
risks effectively, the committee further may request information, 
opinions and reports from the relevant units when deemed 
necessary in order to fulfill the risk monitoring function effectively. 
The Early Risk Detection Committee reviews and evaluates the risk 
management system at least once a year.

The Committee convenes every two months before the Board 
of Directors meetings. The Committee may convene whenever 
it deems necessary for the effectiveness of its work. All the work 
of the Committee is written down in the minutes, signed by the 
committee members and stored. The Head of the Committee 
submits a written report to the Board of Directors on the activities 
of the Committee after the Committee meeting and notifies the 
members of the Board of Directors and the auditor in writing on 
the summary of the committee meeting.

The Early Risk Detection Committee consists of three (3) members, 
with the Head of Committee an independent board director. The 
Committee held a total of 3 meetings in 2021. The Committee also 
presented relevant reports of risk assessments to the Board of 
Directors.

Performance Appraisal of the Board of Directors
After the recent initial public offering of the company, mandatory 
principles have been quickly put into place. Board members have 
KPI’s and they are evaluated internally. Although those evaluations 
are not publicly disclosed, all board members are subject to 
a 90-degree evaluation that is the foundation of our current 
performance management system (PMS). As each term of the 
Board of Directors is one year, an independent consultant has not 
been selected for the purpose of performance appraisal. However, 
improvements are on the agenda. 

Financial Benefits Provided to the Board of Directors and 
Executives with Administrative Responsibilities
Information pertaining to the remuneration of the governing body 
members and senior executives may be found in the General 
Information section under “Remuneration.”

Board Committees and Assessment of the 
Board of Directors
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DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Galata Wind Enerji AS
To the Chairman of the Board of Directors

As an Independent Board of Directors Member candidate for Galata Wind Enerji AS, I fulfill the conditions of “independent board 
membership” determined by the Corporate Governance Communiqué of the Capital Markets Board No. II-17.1, the Principles of the 
Capital Markets Board as well as other regulations and your Company’s Articles of Association; I, herewith declare that if I am elected, 
I will immediately inform the Chairman of the Board of Directors as soon as I learn that the said independence conditions have 
disappeared and that I will resign if deemed necessary by acting in line with the Decision of your Board.

Best Regards, 

Name: HÜSEYİN FAİK AÇIKALIN

Signature:

Declarations of Independence by 
the Independent Board Members
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Declarations of Independence by 
the Independent Board Members

DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Galata Wind Enerji AS
To the Chairman of the Board of Directors

As an Independent Board of Directors Member candidate for Galata Wind Enerji AS, I fulfill the conditions of “independent board 
membership” determined by the Corporate Governance Communiqué of the Capital Markets Board No. II-17.1, the Principles of the 
Capital Markets Board as well as other regulations and your Company’s Articles of Association; I, herewith declare that if I am elected, 
I will immediately inform the Chairman of the Board of Directors as soon as I learn that the said independence conditions have 
disappeared and that I will resign if deemed necessary by acting in line with the Decision of your Board.

Best Regards, 

Name: OZAN KORKMAZ

Signature:
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General Information

General Information on the Company

The Annual Report covers the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021. 

Company Title:  Galata Wind Enerji Anonim Şirketi
Company Address:  Burhaniye Mahallesi, Kısıklı Caddesi No: 65, 34676 Üsküdar/Istanbul
Phone:  (0216) 556 9000
Fax:  (0216) 556 9327
Corporate Website:  www.galatawindenerji.com
E – mail:  ir@galatawind.com.tr 
Founded on:  11.04.2006
Trade Registry No:  648259 – 0
MERSIS No:  0-3880-6730-9700012
Tax Administration:  Üsküdar Vergi Dairesi
Tax Number:  3880673097
Paid-in Capital:  534.791.457,65 Turkish Lira
Registered Capital Ceiling:  1.000.000.000 Turkish Lira
Traded Stock Market:  Borsa Istanbul Anonim Şirketi (BIST)
BIST Ticker Symbol:  GWIND
Initial Public Offering Date:  22.04.2021
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Managing Body, Senior Executives and 
Employees
In 2021, the Company has employed 50 white-collar (31 December 2020: 39) employees on average. The company does not have 
blue-collar employees. 

Information on Board of Directors

Name & 
Surname Position

Starting 
Date

Term 
(years)

Executive (E)/ Non-
Executive (NE) Positions outside of the Group

Çağlar Göğüş Chairman 21.12.2021 1 Non – Executive

Chief Executive Officer of Doğan 
Holding, Board positions within 

the Group Companies, as well as 
outside of the Group.

Bora Yalınay Vice Chairman 21.12.2021 1 Non – Executive

Chief Financial Officer of Doğan 
Holding, Board member of Doğan 

Holding Subsidiaries

Burak Kuyan
Board Member, Executive 

Director 21.12.2021 1 Executive

Chief Executive Officer of Galata 
Wind Enerji, Board positions in 
Dogan Group companies and 

subsidiaries. 

Ayhan Sırtkara Board Member 21.12.2021 1 Non – Executive
Board positions in Doğan Group 

companies
Neslihan 
Sadıkoğlu Board Member 21.12.2021 1 Non – Executive

Vice President of Corporate 
Communication at Doğan Holding

Hüseyin Faik 
Açıkalın

Independent Board Member; 
Head of Audit Committee; 

Head of Corporate 
Governance Committee 21.12.2021 1 Non – Executive

Board positions outside of the 
Group

Ozan Korkmaz

Independent Board Member, 
Head of Early Risk Detection 

Committee 21.12.2021 1 Non – Executive
Board positions outside of the 

Group

Employees with Senior Management Duties

Name & Surname Position Education
Burak Kuyan Chief Executive Officer (CEO) & Executive Director MBA; Finance PhD Candidate

Zeki Onur Aytekin
Chief Financial Officer (CFO); Early Risk Detection 

Committee Member Economics
Ozlen Ertugrul Cendere Chief Legal Officer (CLO) LLM
Mehmet Ali Gürpınar Chief Operating Officer (COO) MsE (Sustainable Energy); MsE (Wind)

Halide Müge Yücel
Investor Relations Director; Corporate Governance 

Committee Member MS Finance; MS Management
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Remuneration
Galata Wind determines its wage policy according to the outputs of the performance evaluation system and current market trends, 
revising it regularly. Galata Wind carries out a remuneration system according to the job description, and not the person, by 
considering the philosophy of “equal pay for equal work” in order to maintain the internal balances of the Company. The annual wage 
increases of employees are reflected in their wages with the approval of the Company’s senior management in periods deemed 
necessary by the employer. All employees benefit from benefits packages offered depending on their job level.

The General Assembly of the Company decides on the remuneration, rights and benefits of the members of the Board of Directors 
each year. Executive members of the Board of Directors may also be given monthly wages and related fringe benefits due to their 
duties within the Company, in addition to the “attendance” they receive with other members of the Board of Directors. In addition, 
senior managers and other personnel with a say in the management may be entitled to receive an additional “premium” or “award” 
in line with their performance. In the footnotes to the consolidated financial statements for the interim accounting period ending 
December 31, 2021, this is stated in Note 23 under the heading of Payments to Key Management Personnel.

Research & Development Activities
The Company has not carried out any research & development activities in 2021.

Investments
In 2021, the Company invested TRY 88,197 thousand in fixed assets including vehicle purchases, showroom renovations, service 
equipment, IT equipment, software updates and fixture purchase costs.

Information on Related Party Transactions, Direct and Indirect Subsidiaries and Share Ratios
Detailed information about the transactions performed during the year pertaining to the Company’s Related Parties is provided in the 
footnotes of the consolidated financial statements for the year ending on 31 December 2021 in “Note 23: Related Party Disclosures.” 

Company Title
Area of 

Operations

Paid-in / Issued 
Capital

UNIT
Company’s 

Share in Capital Currency

Company’s 
Share in 

Capital (%)
Relation to 
Company

Sunflower Solar 
Güneş Enerjisi 
Sistemleri Ticaret A.Ş.

Installation of 
a system that 

generates 
energy from 

the sun’s rays 1,000,000 1,000000 TRY 100 SUBSIDIARY

Information on the Company’s Share Buy-Back Policy and Program
In the event of a resolution of the Board of Directors of Galata Wind to buy back its shares or accept them as a pledge, the Company 
will ensure that all necessary public disclosures and announcements are made pursuant to “Communiqué No: II-22.1 on Share Buy-
Backs” published in the Official Gazette No. 28871 on 3 January 2014. 
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Information on Private and Public Audits within the Fiscal 
Period
Galata Wind Enerji was not subjected to any private or public audit 
during the fiscal period. 

Information on the Legal Actions Brought Against the 
Company, Actions that may Affect the Company’s Financial 
State and Operations, and their Possible Consequences
Any legal actions brought against the company and the provisions 
set aside for these legal actions are determined according to the 
nature of the actions. Information to such provisions can be found in 
our consolidated financials and the pertaining notes ended on  
31 December 2021 under Note 11 – Provisions, Contingent Assets 
& Liabilities. 

As of 31 December 2021, the lawsuits filed against the Group 
amount to 616 thousand Turkish Liras. (31 December 2020:  
282 thousand Turkish Lira).

Information on the Administrative and Judicial Sanctions 
Imposed on the Company and its Managing Body due to 
Noncompliance with Legislative Provisions
During the period, there were no administrative or judicial sanctions 
imposed on the Company and the Members of the Management 
Body due to practices contrary to the provisions of the legislation.

Information on Materially Significant Asset Acquisitions or 
Sales
Information on asset acquisitions or sales is provided in the 
footnotes of the consolidated financial statements of the years 
ending on December 31, 2021 under “Note 8- Property, Plant and 
Equipment” and “Note 9 - Intangible Assets.”

Information on Possible Conflicts of Interest with Service 
Providers
During the reporting period, there were no conflicts of interest 
between the Company and other firms that provide investment 
consultancy, rating and other services. Diligent efforts are made to 
prevent conflicts of interest via agreements and in-house activities 
in line with the Company’s Code of Ethics.

Information on Some Legislative Changes that may Materially 
Affect the Company’s Operations
• EMRA resolution No 10700, published in the 6th Repeated 

Official Gazette dated 31.12.2021, where, the 75% discount 
applied to the distribution costs of unlicensed power plants that 
were put into operation before 2018 was abolished. Accordingly, 
the non-discounted price was increased by 24% in the resolution 
no 10708 published in the Official Gazette the same day. 

• Alteration of Article 5.1. (h) of the Regulation on Unlicensed Electricity 
Production in the Electricity Market published in the Official Gazette 
dated 09.05.2021.

• Update with a guidebook to the 2019 Presidential Circular on the 
Information and Communication Security Measures 

Information on Attaining Targets Set in the Previous Terms and 
Fulfilling General Assembly Resolutions
During the period, there were no targets that the Company did not 
attain, nor any General Assembly resolutions left unfulfilled by the 
Company. Detailed information about the Company’s overview of 2021 
can be found in the sub-heading “Evaluation of 2021 and Expectations 
for 2022” in the Management Report section.

Information on the Extraordinary General Assembly
The Extraordinary General Assembly convened on 21 December 2021.

Issues submitted to voting at the Extraordinary General Assembly are as 
follows:
• Submitting the appointment of Hüseyin Faik Açıkalın as a Member of 

the Board of Directors to the approval of the shareholders in order 
to complete the term of office of Mr. Tolga Babalı, who resigned as 
a Member of the Board of Directors pursuant to Article 363 of the 
Turkish Commercial Code.

• Submitting the appointment of Ozan Korkmaz as a Member of the 
Board of Directors to the approval of the shareholders in order to 
complete the term of office of Mr. Mehmet Ali Gürpınar, who resigned 
as a Member of the Board of Directors pursuant to Article 363 of the 
Turkish Commercial Code.

• Submitting the appointment of Ayhan Sırtıkara as a Member of the 
Board of Directors to the approval of the shareholders in order to 
complete the term of office of Mr. Yusuf Toklu, who passed away 
pursuant to Article 363 of the Turkish Commercial Code.

• According to the Capital Markets Board’s letter dated 01.07.2021 
and numbered E-29833736 110.03.03-8092, and within the 
framework of the permission of the Ministry of Commerce, General 
Directorate of Domestic Trade, dated 09.07.2021, numbered 
E-50035491 431.02-00065516900, the Company’s Articles of 
Association Discussing the amendment of Article 6, titled “Capital,” 
and Article 9, titled “Financial Benefits of the Board of Directors and 
Members of the Board of Directors,” with the new versions in the 
annexed amendment text, and submitting it to the approval of the 
shareholders.

• Reading, discussion and approval of the Internal Directive on Working 
Principles and Procedures of the General Assembly, which was 
amended due to the company’s status as a publicly traded company.

• Election of the members of the Board of Directors to serve within 
the period after determining the number of members of the Board of 
Directors and their term of office.

• Submitting to the approval of the shareholders the authorization 
of the Members of the Board of Directors to carry out the works 
and transactions written in Articles 395 and 396 of the Turkish 
Commercial Code.

Legal Information
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Donations and Aids

Group of Companies

No changes were made to Galata Wind Enerji’s Donation and Aids Policy, which can be found on the corporate website. Donations 
made in 2021 are listed below:

Institution Amount (TRY)
Koru Başı Village Administration 185,000
Koç University 107,305
Student Scholarship 147,500
Türk Eğitim Vakfı (Turkish Education Foundation) 1,100
Provisions Package 9,028
Total 449,933

The company’s annual report and loyalty report are prepared within the provisions of the Turkish Commercial Code. Members of the 
Board of Directors did not have any requests within the framework of Article 199/4 of the TCC. 

Any legal action taken in favor of the controlling company, a company affiliated to the controlling company, or a company affiliated to 
it, under the direction of the controlling company, and any measure taken or avoided in favor of the controlling company or an affiliate 
company in the previous operating year, or any measure that needs to be compensated. there is no transaction. Therefore, there is no 
damage to be compensated 

If it is a company affiliated to a group of companies; Legal transactions made with the parent company, with a company 
affiliated to the parent company, for the benefit of the parent company or an affiliate company under the direction of the 
parent company, and all other measures taken or avoided for the benefit of the parent company or a company affiliated to it in 
the previous operating year:
Galata Wind has no legal action with a company affiliated to the parent company, with the direction of the parent company, for the 
benefit of it or an affiliated company, and there is no action taken or avoided in favor of the company or its subsidiary in the previous 
operating year, or any transaction that needs to be compensated. 
 
If it is a company affiliated to a group of companies; According to the situation and conditions known to them at the time the 
above-mentioned legal action is taken or the measure is taken or avoided, whether an appropriate counter action is provided 
in each legal action and whether the measure taken or avoided to be taken has damaged the company, if the company has 
suffered a loss, whether it has been compensated:
Since Galata Wind has not taken any action as mentioned in the above article of the report, there is no loss that needs to be 
compensated.
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Financial Situation

Dividend Distribution Proposal

As of 31.12.2021, the amount of our equity is 997,687 thousand Turkish Liras, which is 87% above our issued capital which is 
534.791 thousand Turkish Liras. This ratio is an indicator of our strong equity structure, secured and covered, without running into 
debt. The company presents a strong and robust financial standing with its cash and financial debts being constantly monitored in 
terms of financial risk management elements such as maturity structure, interest risks, foreign exchange risks, hence no measures are 
required to improve the current financial structure.

The Company’s revenues, EBITDA and net profit increased by 61%, 62% and 9% respectively, year-on-year. 

A summary of the consolidated financial information can be found on page 32 and the financial indicators on Page 33. 

The proposal of the Board of Directors pertaining to the dividend distribution dated 24.02.2022 published on the public disclosure 
platform will be submitted to the approval of the General Assembly. In the proposal, the Turkish Commercial Code (“TTK”), Capital 
Markets Legislation and Capital Markets Board (“CMB”) Regulations, Corporate Tax, Income Tax and other relevant legal legislation 
provisions, the relevant provisions of our Company’s Articles of Association and the Company’s Dividend Distribution Policy are taken 
into account. It has been unanimously decided to put to vote for the General Assembly, to distribute at the rate of 28.05% of the Paid-
In Capital, a gross dividend of TRY 150,000,000, a net cash profit of TRY 135,000,000 and to start the dividend distribution on 31 
August 2022 at the latest. The relevant Dividend Distribution proposal is included in the annexes of the Annual Report.

The nature and amount of the capital market instruments issued, if any:
The registration of the shares representing the capital of Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. and the public offering application were approved by 
the Capital Markets Board on April 8, 2021, and the Company shares began to be traded on Borsa Istanbul A.Ş. as of April 22, 2021.

Operational and Financial Indicators
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Statement of Responsibility on Financial 
Reports
BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ RESOLUTION ON APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND ANNUAL REPORT

RESOLUTION DATE: 24/02/2022
RESOLUTION NUMBER: 2022/03

GALATA WİND ENERJİ A.Ş. RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
PURSUANT TO CAPITAL MARKETS BOARD COMMUNIQUÉ II-14.1 PART 2 ARTICLE 9

We have reviewed:
- the Consolidated Financial Statements, including comparative previous year data, of Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. for the period from 

01.01.2021 to 31.12.2021, prepared by the company and independently audited within the scope of the Capital Markets Board’s 
(CMB) “Communiqué on Principles of Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” (“Communiqué”) II.14.1 and in compliance with Turkish 
Accounting Standards (“TAS”) and Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”) promulgated by the Public Oversight, Accounting 
and Auditing Standards Authority of Turkey (“POA”), in the formats developed by POA based on Article 9 Paragraph (b) of Statutory 
Decree No. 660 and announced to the public with POA’s Resolution dated 15.04.2019; 

- the Annual Report for the fiscal year from 01.01.2021 to 31.12.2021, prepared in accordance with the applicable provisions of the 
Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”), Turkish Ministry of Trade’s (“Ministry”) “Communiqué on the Minimum Requirements for the Annual 
Reports of Companies” and the CMB “Communiqué on Principles of Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” (“Communiqué”) II.14.1, 
and in conformity with the independently audited financial statements and their footnotes for the fiscal year from 01.01.2021 to 
31.12.2021 to be submitted to the general assembly for approval; and

- the Corporate Governance Compliance Report (“CGCR”) and Corporate Governance Information Note (“CGIN”) for the fiscal year 
from 01.01.2021 to 31.12.2021, prepared in the format determined by the CMB Resolution No. 2/49 dated 10.01.2019 and 
announced in the Weekly CMB Bulletin No. 2019/02 on 10.01.2019, and in accordance with the CMB’s “Corporate Governance 
Communiqué” II-17.1. 

Within the frame of information we hold in our fields of duty and responsibility, we have ascertained that:

The Consolidated Financial Statements, Annual Report, Corporate Governance Compliance Report, and Corporate Governance 
Information Note do not contain any untrue statements on material events or any material deficiency that may be deemed misleading 
as of the date of statement;

The Consolidated Financial Statements, prepared according to the applicable Financial Reporting standards, fairly reflect the truth 
related to the company’s assets, liabilities, profits and losses, and financial standing, and that the Annual Report also fairly reflects the 
company’s business development and performance, financial standing, together with significant risks and uncertainties faced. 

 Hüseyin Faik AÇIKALIN Ozan KORMAZ
 Audit Committee Chairman Audit Committee Member 
 (signed in original) (signed in original)

 Z. Onur AYTEKİN Burak KUYAN
 Chief Financial Officer (CFO) Board Member 
 (signed in original) (signed in original)
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2021 Dividend Distribution Table Proposal

GALATA WİND ENERJİ A.Ş.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS RESOLUTION 

Meeting Date: 

Resolution No.: 2022/

The Company’s Board of Directors convened with the members, whose signatures are provided at the end of this document, at the Company’s Headquarters to 
resolve on the agenda topics. 

Agenda: Dividend distribution proposal 

Resolution:

As a results of the discussions, the Board of Directors ascertained that: 

In consideration of the relevant provisions of the Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”), Capital Markets Legislation and Capital Markets Board (“CMB”) Regulations, 
Corporate Tax Code, Income Tax Code and other applicable laws and regulations, the Company’s Articles of Association, and the Company’s Dividend 
Distribution Policy, 

According to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the period from 01.01.2021 to 31.12.2021, prepared by the company and independently audited within 
the scope of the Capital Markets Board’s (CMB) “Communiqué on Principles of Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” (“Communiqué”) II.14.1 and in compliance 
with Turkish Accounting Standards (“TAS”) and Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”) promulgated by the Public Oversight, Accounting and Auditing 
Standards Authority of Turkey (“POA”), in the formats determined by POA; a “Net Period Profit” of TL 170,912,859 has been calculated by taking into account 
“Deferred Tax Income” and “Tax Expense for the Period” and a “Net Distributable Period Profit” of TL 163,943,290.98 has been calculated for the period from 
01.01.2021 to 31.12.2021 after setting aside TL 6,969,568.02, calculated according to Article 519 Sub-article (1) of TCC, as “General Legal Reserves”;

Within the scope of Tax Legislation and according to the Statutory Accounting Records kept in compliance with the Uniform Chart of Accounts, promulgated by 
the Turkish Ministry of Finance (with the “General Communiqué on Accounting System Implementation”), a “Net Period Profit” of TL 139,391,360.37 has been 
calculated after setting aside “Tax Expense for the Period” and a “Net Distributable Period Profit” of TL 132,421,792.35 has been calculated after setting aside TL 
6,969,568.02, calculated according to Article 519 Sub-article (1) of TCC, as “General Legal Reserves”.

Accordingly, members of the Board of Directors present in this meeting have unanimously resolved to present the following decisions to the General Assembly 
for approval: 

To take the Legal Accounting Records for the fiscal year from 01.01.2021 to 31.12.2021 as basis for profit distribution, 

To distribute a First Dividend of TL 26,739,572.88, which corresponds to 5% of the issued capital, of the “Net Distributable Period Profit” of TL 132,421,792.35 
for the year 2021, as shown in the Statutory Accounting Records, 

To distribute a Second Dividend of TL 96,074,744.97, by taking the full net distributable period profit as basis for distribution after setting aside the “General 
Legal Reserves” in the amount of TL 9,607,474.50 pursuant to Article 519 Sub-article 2 Paragraph (c) of TCC, 

In compliance with Merkezi Kayıt Kuruluşu A.Ş.’s “fraction” rules in effect on the date profit share distribution starts, to distribute in cash a profit share of total gross 
TL 150,000,000, which corresponds to 28.05% of the “Issued Capital,” and net TL 135,000,000 from the “Extraordinary Reserves” amount of TL 27,185,682.15, 
and to start distributing the profit share by August 31, 2022 at the latest, 

After setting aside the aforementioned legal and special reserves according to the consolidated financial statements prepared in compliance with TAS and 
TFRS and within the framework of CMB and POA regulations, to register the non-distributable amount of TL 31,521,498.63 in the “Retained Profits and Losses” 
account, and 

To authorize the Board of Directors to carry out the transactions related to profit distribution. 

 CHAIRMAN
 ÇAĞLAR GÖĞÜŞ

 VICE CHAIRMAN MEMBER 
 BORA YALINAY BURAK KUYAN 
 

             MEMBER MEMBER
 NESLİHAN SADIKOĞLU AYHAN SIRTIKARA

 INDEPENDENT MEMBER INDEPENDENT MEMBER
 OZAN KORKMAZ HÜSEYİN FAİK AÇIKALIN
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Independent Auditor’s Report on  
the Annual Report

CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION INTO ENGLISH OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
ON THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ ANNUAL REPORT ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH

 

To the General Assembly of Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş.

1. Opinion
We have audited the annual report of Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. (the “Company”) and its subsidiary (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the 1 January - 31 December 
2021 period.

In our opinion, the financial information and the analysis made by the Board of Directors by using the information included in the audited financial statements regarding 
the Group’s  position in the Board of Directors’ Annual Report are consistent and presented fairly, in all material respects, with the audited full set consolidated financial 
statements and with the information obtained in the course of independent audit.
 
2. Basis for Opinion
Our independent audit was conducted in accordance with the Independent Standards on Auditing that are part of the Turkish Standards on Auditing (the “TSA”) 
issued by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards Authority (“POA”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities in the Audit of the Board of Directors’ Annual Report section of our report. We hereby declare that we are independent of the Group in accordance with 
the Ethical Rules for Independent Auditors (including International Independence Standards) (the “Ethical Rules”) and the ethical requirements regarding independent 
audit in regulations issued by POA that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Ethical Rules and regulations. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained during the independent audit provides a sufficient and appropriate basis for our 
opinion.

3. Our Audit Opinion on the Full Set Consolidated Financial Statements
We expressed an unqualified opinion in the auditor’s report dated 24 February 2022 on the full set consolidated financial statements for the 1 January - 31 December 
2021 period. 
 
4. Board of Director’s Responsibility for the Annual Report
Group management’s responsibilities related to the annual report according to Articles 514 and 516 of Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”) No. 6102 and Capital Markets 
Board’s (“CMB”) Communiqué Serial II, No:14.1, “Principles of Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” (the “Communiqué”) are as follows:

a) to prepare the annual report within the first three months following the balance sheet date and present it to the general assembly;

b) to prepare the annual report to reflect the Group’s operations in that year and the financial position in a true, complete, straightforward, fair and proper manner in 
all respects. In this report financial position is assessed in accordance with the financial statements. Also in the report, developments and possible risks which the 
Group may encounter are clearly indicated. The assessments of the Board of Directors in regards to these matters are also included in the report.

c) to include the matters below in the annual report:
− events of particular importance that occurred in the Company after the operating year,
− the Group’s research and development activities,
− financial benefits such as salaries, bonuses, premiums and allowances, travel, accommodation and representation expenses, benefits in cash and in kind, 

insurance and similar guarantees paid to members of the Board of Directors and senior management.

When preparing the annual report, the Board of Directors considers secondary legislation arrangements enacted by the Ministry of Trade and other relevant institutions.

5. Independent Auditor’s Responsibility in the Audit of the Annual Report
Our aim is to express an opinion and issue a report comprising our opinion within the framework of TCC and Communiqué provisions regarding whether or not the 
financial information and the analysis made by the Board of Directors by using the information included in the audited financial statements in the annual report are 
consistent and presented fairly with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group and with the information we obtained in the course of independent 
audit.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with the TSAs.These standards require that ethical requirements are complied with and that the independent audit is planned 
and performed in a way to obtain reasonable assurance of whether or not the financial information and the analysis made by the Board of Directors by using the 
information included in the audited financial statements in the annual report are consistent and presented fairly with the audited[consolidated] financial statements and 
with the information obtained in the course of audit.

PwC Bağımsız Denetim ve
Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş.

Mehmet Cenk Uslu, SMMM
Partner
Istanbul, 24 February 2022
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CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION INTO ENGLISH OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
ON THE EARLY RISK IDENTIFICATION SYSTEM AND COMMITTEE ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH

 

To the Board of Directors of Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş.

1. We have audited the early risk identification system and committee established by Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. (the “Company”).

Board of Directors’ Responsibility 

2. Pursuant to subparagraph 1 of Article 378 of Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”) No. 6102; Board of Directors is required to form an expert committee, and to 
run and to develop the necessary system for the purposes of early identification of causes that jeopardize the existence, development and continuity of the 
company; applying the necessary measures and remedies in this regard; and managing the related risks.

Auditor’s responsibility

3. Our responsibility is to reach a conclusion on the early risk identification system and committee based on our audit. Our audit was conducted in accordance 
with TCC and “Principles on Independent Auditor’s Report on the Early Risk Identification System and Committee” issued by the Public Oversight Accounting 
and Auditing Standards Authority. Those principles require us to identify whether the Company established the early risk identification system and committee 
or not and, if established requires us to assess whether the system and committee is operating or not within the framework of Article 378 of TCC. Our audit 
does not include evaluating the adequacy of the operations carried out by the management of the Company in order to manage these risks.

Information on the Early Risk Identification System and Committee

4. The Company established the early risk identification system and committee and it is comprised of 4 members. The Committee has submitted the relevant 
reports for the period 1 January - 31 December 2021 to the Board of Directors that had been prepared for the purpose of early identification of risks that 
jeopardize the existence of the Company and its development, applying necessary measures and remedies in this regard, and managing the risks.

Conclusion

5. Based on our audit, it has been concluded that Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş.’s early risk identification system and committee is sufficient, in all material respects, in 
accordance with Article 378 of TCC.

PwC Bağımsız Denetim ve 
Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş. 

Mehmet Cenk Uslu, SMMM
Partner

Istanbul, 24 February 2022

Independent Auditor’s Report on the Early 
Risk Detection System and Committee
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CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION INTO ENGLISH OF

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the General Assembly of Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. 

A. Audit of the consolidated financial statements

1. Our opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. (the 

“Company”) and its subsidiary (collectively referred to as the “Group”) which comprise the consolidated

statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated

statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements

comprising a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial

position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year

then ended in accordance with Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”).

2. Basis for opinion

Our audit was conducted in accordance with the Standards on Independent Auditing (the “SIA”) that are

part of Turkish Standards on Auditing issued by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards

Authority (the “POA”). Our responsibilities under these standards are further described in the “Auditor’s

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We hereby

declare that we are independent of the Group in accordance with the Ethical Rules for Independent

Auditors (including Independence Standards) (the “Ethical Rules”) and the ethical requirements regarding

independent audit in regulations issued by POA that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements.

We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Ethical Rules and

regulations. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained during the independent audit provides a

sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.
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To the General Assembly of Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. 

A. Audit of the consolidated financial statements

1. Our opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. (the 

“Company”) and its subsidiary (collectively referred to as the “Group”) which comprise the consolidated

statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated

statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements

comprising a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial

position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year

then ended in accordance with Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”).

2. Basis for opinion

Our audit was conducted in accordance with the Standards on Independent Auditing (the “SIA”) that are

part of Turkish Standards on Auditing issued by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards

Authority (the “POA”). Our responsibilities under these standards are further described in the “Auditor’s

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We hereby

declare that we are independent of the Group in accordance with the Ethical Rules for Independent

Auditors (including Independence Standards) (the “Ethical Rules”) and the ethical requirements regarding

independent audit in regulations issued by POA that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements.

We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Ethical Rules and

regulations. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained during the independent audit provides a

sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.
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3. Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our

audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. Key audit matters were addressed in

the context of our independent audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matters How the key audit matter was addressed in

the audit

Recognition of Property, Plant and

Equipment

The Group has property, plant and equipment

amounting to TRY880,684,725 and

TRY849,661,999 in the consolidated financial

statements as of 31 December 2021 and 31 December

2020, respectively. The accounting policies and

details of the Group's property, plant and equipment

are explained in Note 2.1.7 and Note 8 of the

consolidated financial statements.

In the consolidated financial statements, the Group

recognizes its property, plant and equipment over

the acquisition costs, with their net values after

deducting the accumulated depreciation and

impairment, if any, in accordance with TAS 16

"Property, plant and equipment" standard ("TAS

16"). Property, plant and equipment are capitalized

from the moment they are brought to the required

condition and place in order to operate in line with

the management's objectives and begin to be

depreciated with their useful lives determined in line

with the Group management's projections.

Since the total amount of property, plant and

equipment has a significant share in the assets of the

Group, the capitalisation of the new investments in

2021, and the useful lives used in the depreciation

calculations are based on the estimation of the

Group management, the accounting of property,

plant and equipment has been considered as a key

audit matter.

The following audit procedures have been performed

on the accounting of property, plant and equipment:

• It has been assessed whether the accounting

policies regarding the accounting of property,

plant and equipment applied comply with TFRS.

• The completeness and accuracy of the detailed

lists of the property, plant and equipment have

been checked with the Group's accounting

records by selecting samples.

• Acquisition costs of property, plant and

equipment have been evaluated in consideration

of the recognition criteria within the scope of

TAS 16.

• Supporting purchase invoices for property, plant

and equipment purchases were tested with the

sampling method.

• The appropriateness of the estimated useful

lives of property, plant and equipment was

evaluated on a sample basis, considering the

expected economic benefits associated with each

asset, and the current year depreciation

expenses were tested with the sampling method.

• The expected useful lives of wind turbines and

solar panels are compared with industry

practices.

• The appropriateness and adequacy of the

explanations included in the notes to the

consolidated financial statements regarding

property, plant and equipment according to the

relevant TFRS has been evaluated.
PwC Bağımsız Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş.
BJK Plaza, Süleyman Seba Caddesi No:48 B Blok Kat 9 Akaretler Beşiktaş 34357 İstanbul-Turkey
www.pwc.com/tr Telephone: +90 (212) 326 6060 Facsimile: +90 (212) 326 6050

CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION INTO ENGLISH OF

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the General Assembly of Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. 

A. Audit of the consolidated financial statements

1. Our opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. (the 

“Company”) and its subsidiary (collectively referred to as the “Group”) which comprise the consolidated

statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated

statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements

comprising a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial

position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year

then ended in accordance with Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”).

2. Basis for opinion

Our audit was conducted in accordance with the Standards on Independent Auditing (the “SIA”) that are

part of Turkish Standards on Auditing issued by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards

Authority (the “POA”). Our responsibilities under these standards are further described in the “Auditor’s

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We hereby

declare that we are independent of the Group in accordance with the Ethical Rules for Independent

Auditors (including Independence Standards) (the “Ethical Rules”) and the ethical requirements regarding

independent audit in regulations issued by POA that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements.

We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Ethical Rules and

regulations. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained during the independent audit provides a

sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

3. Key audit matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matters How the key audit matter was addressed in

the audit

Revenue Recognition

The Group has recognised revenue of

TRY540,226,277 and TRY335,201,954 during the

years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December

2020, respectively.

Since the revenue represents the most significant

amount in the profit or loss statement of the Group,

and because it has a significant effect on the Group’s

key performance indicators, it is a key audit matter.

The Group generates electricity sales revenues

through generating electricity from wind and solar

energy plants and selling it. As discussed in the Note

2.1.7 “Significant Accounting Policies”, since

electricity is a service provided as a series that the

client gets and consumes simultaneously, it is

recognised as one performance, at point of time and

through output method.

The following audit procedures have been performed

on the recognition of revenue:

• Understanding of the processes of the Group

management regarding the revenue recognition.

• Assessing whether the accounting policies

applied comply with TFRS and applied

consistently with prior periods.

• Testing the Group’s sales to the related party

through the sales account reconciliation.

• Testing sales to Enerji Piyasaları İşletme A.Ş. 

through Market Financial Settlement Center

screenshots.

• Performing detailed tests related to the

transactions that were carried out before and

after the fiscal period to assess whether the

revenue is recognized in the correct period.

4. Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the

consolidated financial statements

The Group management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated

financial statements in accordance with TFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is

necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using

the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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3. Key audit matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matters How the key audit matter was addressed in

the audit

Revenue Recognition

The Group has recognised revenue of

TRY540,226,277 and TRY335,201,954 during the

years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December

2020, respectively.

Since the revenue represents the most significant

amount in the profit or loss statement of the Group,

and because it has a significant effect on the Group’s

key performance indicators, it is a key audit matter.

The Group generates electricity sales revenues

through generating electricity from wind and solar

energy plants and selling it. As discussed in the Note

2.1.7 “Significant Accounting Policies”, since

electricity is a service provided as a series that the

client gets and consumes simultaneously, it is

recognised as one performance, at point of time and

through output method.

The following audit procedures have been performed

on the recognition of revenue:

• Understanding of the processes of the Group

management regarding the revenue recognition.

• Assessing whether the accounting policies

applied comply with TFRS and applied

consistently with prior periods.

• Testing the Group’s sales to the related party

through the sales account reconciliation.

• Testing sales to Enerji Piyasaları İşletme A.Ş. 

through Market Financial Settlement Center

screenshots.

• Performing detailed tests related to the

transactions that were carried out before and

after the fiscal period to assess whether the

revenue is recognized in the correct period.

4. Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the

consolidated financial statements

The Group management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated

financial statements in accordance with TFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is

necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using

the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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To the General Assembly of Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. 

A. Audit of the consolidated financial statements

1. Our opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. (the 

“Company”) and its subsidiary (collectively referred to as the “Group”) which comprise the consolidated

statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated

statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements

comprising a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial

position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year

then ended in accordance with Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”).

2. Basis for opinion

Our audit was conducted in accordance with the Standards on Independent Auditing (the “SIA”) that are

part of Turkish Standards on Auditing issued by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards

Authority (the “POA”). Our responsibilities under these standards are further described in the “Auditor’s

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We hereby

declare that we are independent of the Group in accordance with the Ethical Rules for Independent

Auditors (including Independence Standards) (the “Ethical Rules”) and the ethical requirements regarding

independent audit in regulations issued by POA that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements.

We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Ethical Rules and

regulations. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained during the independent audit provides a

sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.
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5. Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Responsibilities of independent auditors in an independent audit are as follows:

Our aim is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an independent auditor’s report that

includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance expressed as a result of an independent audit conducted in

accordance with SIA is a high level of assurance but does not guarantee that a material misstatement will

always be detected. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if,

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of

users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an independent audit conducted in accordance with SIA, we exercise professional judgment and

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

· Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement in the consolidated financial statements,

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and

obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of

not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from

error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the

override of internal control.

· Assess the internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

· Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting

estimates and related disclosures made by management.

· Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If

we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s

report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are

inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to

the date of our independent auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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To the General Assembly of Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. 

A. Audit of the consolidated financial statements

1. Our opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. (the 

“Company”) and its subsidiary (collectively referred to as the “Group”) which comprise the consolidated

statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated

statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements

comprising a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial

position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year

then ended in accordance with Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”).

2. Basis for opinion

Our audit was conducted in accordance with the Standards on Independent Auditing (the “SIA”) that are

part of Turkish Standards on Auditing issued by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards

Authority (the “POA”). Our responsibilities under these standards are further described in the “Auditor’s

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We hereby

declare that we are independent of the Group in accordance with the Ethical Rules for Independent

Auditors (including Independence Standards) (the “Ethical Rules”) and the ethical requirements regarding

independent audit in regulations issued by POA that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements.

We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Ethical Rules and

regulations. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained during the independent audit provides a

sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

· Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

· Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

control that we identify during our audit.

We provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical

requirements regarding independence. We also communicate with them all relationships and other

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related

safeguards actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that

were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and

are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or

regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we

determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of

doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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· Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

· Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

control that we identify during our audit.

We provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical

requirements regarding independence. We also communicate with them all relationships and other

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related

safeguards actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that

were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and

are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or

regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we

determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of

doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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To the General Assembly of Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. 

A. Audit of the consolidated financial statements

1. Our opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. (the 

“Company”) and its subsidiary (collectively referred to as the “Group”) which comprise the consolidated

statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated

statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements

comprising a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial

position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year

then ended in accordance with Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”).

2. Basis for opinion

Our audit was conducted in accordance with the Standards on Independent Auditing (the “SIA”) that are

part of Turkish Standards on Auditing issued by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards

Authority (the “POA”). Our responsibilities under these standards are further described in the “Auditor’s

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We hereby

declare that we are independent of the Group in accordance with the Ethical Rules for Independent

Auditors (including Independence Standards) (the “Ethical Rules”) and the ethical requirements regarding

independent audit in regulations issued by POA that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements.

We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Ethical Rules and

regulations. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained during the independent audit provides a

sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.
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B. Other responsibilities arising from regulatory requirements

1. No matter has come to our attention that is significant according to subparagraph 4 of Article 402 of

Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”) No. 6102 and that causes us to believe that the Company’s

bookkeeping activities concerning the period from 1 January to 31 December 2021 period are not in

compliance with the TCC and provisions of the Company’s articles of association related to financial

reporting.

2. In accordance with subparagraph 4 of Article 402 of the TCC, the Board of Directors submitted the

necessary explanations to us and provided the documents required within the context of our audit.

3. In accordance with subparagraph 4 of Article 398 of the TCC, the auditor’s report on the early risk

identification system and committee was submitted to the Company’s Board of Directors on 24

February 2022.

PwC Bağımsız Denetim ve 

Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş. 

Mehmet Cenk Uslu, SMMM

Partner

Istanbul, 24 February 2022

PwC Bağımsız Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş.
BJK Plaza, Süleyman Seba Caddesi No:48 B Blok Kat 9 Akaretler Beşiktaş 34357 İstanbul-Turkey
www.pwc.com/tr Telephone: +90 (212) 326 6060 Facsimile: +90 (212) 326 6050

CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION INTO ENGLISH OF

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the General Assembly of Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. 

A. Audit of the consolidated financial statements

1. Our opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Galata Wind Enerji A.Ş. (the 

“Company”) and its subsidiary (collectively referred to as the “Group”) which comprise the consolidated

statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated

statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements

comprising a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial

position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year

then ended in accordance with Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”).

2. Basis for opinion

Our audit was conducted in accordance with the Standards on Independent Auditing (the “SIA”) that are

part of Turkish Standards on Auditing issued by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards

Authority (the “POA”). Our responsibilities under these standards are further described in the “Auditor’s

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We hereby

declare that we are independent of the Group in accordance with the Ethical Rules for Independent

Auditors (including Independence Standards) (the “Ethical Rules”) and the ethical requirements regarding

independent audit in regulations issued by POA that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements.

We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Ethical Rules and

regulations. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained during the independent audit provides a

sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.
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GALATA WIND ENERJİ ANONİM ŞİRKETİ 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)

1

Audited Audited
Current Period Prior Period

Notes 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

ASSETS

Current assets 389,090,774 171,495,095

Cash and cash equivalents 4 158,919,076 66,124,675
Trade receivables

- Due from related parties 23 543,271 -
- Due from third parties 6 83,778,946 34,809,442

Other receivables
- Due from third parties 7 200,491 205,892

Inventories 835,022 1,664,977
Prepaid expenses 13 6,853,361 2,219,625
Current income tax assets 22 - 4,589,914
Other current assets 14 137,960,607 61,880,570

Non-current assets 1,378,495,316 1,449,123,545

Derivative instruments 15 46,233,133 21,723,420
Financial investments 24 100,000 100,000
Other receivables

- Due from third parties 7 280,356 354,978
Property, plant and equipment 8 880,684,725 849,661,999
Intangible assets

- Licenses 9 284,503,003 291,833,320
- Goodwill 3 27,629,554 27,629,554
- Other 9 811,276 223,236

Right of use assets 10 12,951,192 12,381,319
Prepaid expenses 13 18,812,554 219,949
Other non-current assets 14 106,489,523 244,995,770

TOTAL ASSETS 1,767,586,090 1,620,618,640

The consolidated financial statements as of and for the year end period ended 31 December 2021 have been
approved by the Board of Directors on 24 February 2022.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

GALATA WIND ENERJİ ANONİM ŞİRKETİ 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)

2

Audited Audited
Current Period Prior Period

Notes 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities 288,047,041 302,493,950

Short-term borrowings
- Short-term borrowings from third parties
- Bank borrowings 5 - 105,000,000

Short-term portion of long-term borrowings
- Short-term portion of long-term borrowings
from third parties
- Bank borrowings 5 247,543,945 18,487,631

- Lease liabilities 5 1,197,123 1,527,077
- Short-term portion of long-term borrowings

from related parties
- Lease liabilities 5, 23 408,733 171,710
- Other short-term portion of

long-term borrowings 5, 23 - 132,294,672
Trade payables

- Due to related parties 23 87,147 1,430,162
- Due to third parties 6 8,786,647 5,620,230

Derivative instruments 15 - 32,936,362
Other payables

- Due to third parties 7 1,628,182 2,660,544
Payables related to employee benefits 12 1,249,304 1,398,300
Current income tax liabilities 22 20,931,299 -
Short-term provisions

- Other short-term provisions 11 4,985,953 282,290
- Short-term provisions for
employment benefits 12 1,228,708 684,972

Non-current liabilities 481,852,364 390,887,327

Long-term borrowings
- Long-term borrowings from third parties

- Bank borrowings 5 384,738,222 279,941,950
- Lease liabilities 5 13,635,922 13,101,954

- Long-term borrowings from related parties
- Lease liabilities 5, 23 641,965 109,972

Other long-term liabilities
- Other payables to related parties 23 6,036,387 -

Long-term provisions
- Long-term provisions for

employment benefits 12 1,692,950 896,894
Deferred tax liabilities 22 75,106,918 96,836,557

EQUITY 997,686,685 927,237,363

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company 997,686,685 927,237,363

Share capital 16 534,791,458 534,791,458
Share premiums (discounts) 16 4,000,000 4,000,000
Other comprehensive income (losses) that

will not be reclassified in profit or loss
Revaluation and measurement gains (losses)
- Actuarial gains (losses) on defined

benefit plans 16 21,037 484,574
Restricted reserves 16 25,773,899 15,491,356
Retained earnings or accumulated losses 262,187,432 216,113,433
Net profit or loss for the period 170,912,859 156,356,542

Non-controlling interests - -

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,767,586,090 1,620,618,640

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

GALATA WIND ENERJİ ANONİM ŞİRKETİ 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)

1

Audited Audited
Current Period Prior Period

Notes 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

ASSETS

Current assets 389,090,774 171,495,095

Cash and cash equivalents 4 158,919,076 66,124,675
Trade receivables

- Due from related parties 23 543,271 -
- Due from third parties 6 83,778,946 34,809,442

Other receivables
- Due from third parties 7 200,491 205,892

Inventories 835,022 1,664,977
Prepaid expenses 13 6,853,361 2,219,625
Current income tax assets 22 - 4,589,914
Other current assets 14 137,960,607 61,880,570

Non-current assets 1,378,495,316 1,449,123,545

Derivative instruments 15 46,233,133 21,723,420
Financial investments 24 100,000 100,000
Other receivables

- Due from third parties 7 280,356 354,978
Property, plant and equipment 8 880,684,725 849,661,999
Intangible assets

- Licenses 9 284,503,003 291,833,320
- Goodwill 3 27,629,554 27,629,554
- Other 9 811,276 223,236

Right of use assets 10 12,951,192 12,381,319
Prepaid expenses 13 18,812,554 219,949
Other non-current assets 14 106,489,523 244,995,770

TOTAL ASSETS 1,767,586,090 1,620,618,640

The consolidated financial statements as of and for the year end period ended 31 December 2021 have been
approved by the Board of Directors on 24 February 2022.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GALATA WIND ENERJİ ANONİM ŞİRKETİ 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)

2

Audited Audited
Current Period Prior Period

Notes 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities 288,047,041 302,493,950

Short-term borrowings
- Short-term borrowings from third parties
- Bank borrowings 5 - 105,000,000

Short-term portion of long-term borrowings
- Short-term portion of long-term borrowings
from third parties
- Bank borrowings 5 247,543,945 18,487,631

- Lease liabilities 5 1,197,123 1,527,077
- Short-term portion of long-term borrowings

from related parties
- Lease liabilities 5, 23 408,733 171,710
- Other short-term portion of

long-term borrowings 5, 23 - 132,294,672
Trade payables

- Due to related parties 23 87,147 1,430,162
- Due to third parties 6 8,786,647 5,620,230

Derivative instruments 15 - 32,936,362
Other payables

- Due to third parties 7 1,628,182 2,660,544
Payables related to employee benefits 12 1,249,304 1,398,300
Current income tax liabilities 22 20,931,299 -
Short-term provisions

- Other short-term provisions 11 4,985,953 282,290
- Short-term provisions for
employment benefits 12 1,228,708 684,972

Non-current liabilities 481,852,364 390,887,327

Long-term borrowings
- Long-term borrowings from third parties

- Bank borrowings 5 384,738,222 279,941,950
- Lease liabilities 5 13,635,922 13,101,954

- Long-term borrowings from related parties
- Lease liabilities 5, 23 641,965 109,972

Other long-term liabilities
- Other payables to related parties 23 6,036,387 -

Long-term provisions
- Long-term provisions for

employment benefits 12 1,692,950 896,894
Deferred tax liabilities 22 75,106,918 96,836,557

EQUITY 997,686,685 927,237,363

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company 997,686,685 927,237,363

Share capital 16 534,791,458 534,791,458
Share premiums (discounts) 16 4,000,000 4,000,000
Other comprehensive income (losses) that

will not be reclassified in profit or loss
Revaluation and measurement gains (losses)
- Actuarial gains (losses) on defined

benefit plans 16 21,037 484,574
Restricted reserves 16 25,773,899 15,491,356
Retained earnings or accumulated losses 262,187,432 216,113,433
Net profit or loss for the period 170,912,859 156,356,542

Non-controlling interests - -

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,767,586,090 1,620,618,640

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)

1

Audited Audited
Current Period Prior Period

Notes 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

ASSETS

Current assets 389,090,774 171,495,095

Cash and cash equivalents 4 158,919,076 66,124,675
Trade receivables

- Due from related parties 23 543,271 -
- Due from third parties 6 83,778,946 34,809,442

Other receivables
- Due from third parties 7 200,491 205,892

Inventories 835,022 1,664,977
Prepaid expenses 13 6,853,361 2,219,625
Current income tax assets 22 - 4,589,914
Other current assets 14 137,960,607 61,880,570

Non-current assets 1,378,495,316 1,449,123,545

Derivative instruments 15 46,233,133 21,723,420
Financial investments 24 100,000 100,000
Other receivables

- Due from third parties 7 280,356 354,978
Property, plant and equipment 8 880,684,725 849,661,999
Intangible assets

- Licenses 9 284,503,003 291,833,320
- Goodwill 3 27,629,554 27,629,554
- Other 9 811,276 223,236

Right of use assets 10 12,951,192 12,381,319
Prepaid expenses 13 18,812,554 219,949
Other non-current assets 14 106,489,523 244,995,770

TOTAL ASSETS 1,767,586,090 1,620,618,640

The consolidated financial statements as of and for the year end period ended 31 December 2021 have been
approved by the Board of Directors on 24 February 2022.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GALATA WIND ENERJİ ANONİM ŞİRKETİ 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD
1 JANUARY - 31 DECEMBER 2021
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)

3

Audited Audited
Current Period Prior Period

Notes 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

PROFIT OR LOSS

Revenue 17 540,226,277 335,201,954
Cost of sales (-) 17 (145,366,749) (88,705,657)

GROSS PROFIT/ (LOSS) 394,859,528 246,496,297

General administrative expenses (-) 18 (23,918,820) (14,143,854)
Marketing expenses (-) 18 (6,034,512) (3,100,522)
Other operating income 20 59,967,787 49,577,647
Other operating expenses (-) 20 (19,537,816) (4,522,369)

OPERATING PROFIT/ (LOSS) 405,336,167 274,307,199

OPERATING PROFIT/ (LOSS) BEFORE FINANCE
(EXPENSE)/ INCOME 405,336,167 274,307,199

Finance income 21 11,671,843 -
Finance expenses (-) 21 (220,656,255) (75,592,598)

PROFIT/ (LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION
FROM CONTINUED OPERATIONS 196,351,755 198,714,601

Tax expense from continued operations (25,438,896) (42,358,059)

Tax income/ (expense) for the period 22 (47,052,651) (27,295,599)
Deferred tax income/ (expense) 22 21,613,755 (15,062,460)

PROFIT/ (LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD 170,912,859 156,356,542

Allocation of Profit/(Loss) For the Period

Attributable to Non-Controlling Interests - -
Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent Company 170,912,859 156,356,542

Earnings/(Loss) Per Share Attributable to Equity
Holders of the Parent Company 25 0,0032 0,0029

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

That will not be reclassified as profit or loss
Actuarial gains (losses) on

defined benefit plans 12 (579,421) -
Taxes related to other comprehensive income

that will not be reclassified as
profit or loss

Tax effect of actuarial gains (losses)
on defined benefit plans 22 115,884 -

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (463,537) -

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 170,449,322 156,356,542

Allocation of Total Comprehensive Income/(Loss)

Attributable to Non-Controlling Interests - -
Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent Company 170,449,322 156,356,542

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GALATA WIND ENERJİ ANONİM ŞİRKETİ 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)

1

Audited Audited
Current Period Prior Period

Notes 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

ASSETS

Current assets 389,090,774 171,495,095

Cash and cash equivalents 4 158,919,076 66,124,675
Trade receivables

- Due from related parties 23 543,271 -
- Due from third parties 6 83,778,946 34,809,442

Other receivables
- Due from third parties 7 200,491 205,892

Inventories 835,022 1,664,977
Prepaid expenses 13 6,853,361 2,219,625
Current income tax assets 22 - 4,589,914
Other current assets 14 137,960,607 61,880,570

Non-current assets 1,378,495,316 1,449,123,545

Derivative instruments 15 46,233,133 21,723,420
Financial investments 24 100,000 100,000
Other receivables

- Due from third parties 7 280,356 354,978
Property, plant and equipment 8 880,684,725 849,661,999
Intangible assets

- Licenses 9 284,503,003 291,833,320
- Goodwill 3 27,629,554 27,629,554
- Other 9 811,276 223,236

Right of use assets 10 12,951,192 12,381,319
Prepaid expenses 13 18,812,554 219,949
Other non-current assets 14 106,489,523 244,995,770

TOTAL ASSETS 1,767,586,090 1,620,618,640

The consolidated financial statements as of and for the year end period ended 31 December 2021 have been
approved by the Board of Directors on 24 February 2022.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GALATA WIND ENERJİ ANONİM ŞİRKETİ 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE PERIOD
1 JANUARY - 31 DECEMBER 2021
(Amounts expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)

5

Audited Audited
Current Period Prior Period

1 January - 1 January -
Notes 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

A. NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 319,491,958 272,176,369

Net profit (loss) for the period 170,912,859 156,356,542

Adjustments regarding reconciliation of net profit (loss)
for the period: 176,386,211 127,359,775

Adjustments related to depreciation and amortization 8, 9, 10 63,161,961 34,544,685
Adjustments related to provisions

- Adjustments related to provisions for (reversal of)
employee benefits 12 937,115 317,333
- Adjustments related to other provisions (reversals) 10,740,050 (427,565)

Adjustments related to interest (income) and expenses
- Adjustments related to interest income 20 (2,800,067) (5,960,605)
- Adjustments related to interest expenses 21 42,748,889 18,428,882

Adjustments related to fair value (gains) losses (57,446,075) 27,751,318
Adjustments related to tax (income)/expense 22 25,438,896 42,358,059
Adjustments related to changes in unrealised

foreign exchange differences 93,605,442 10,347,668

Changes in working capital (10,650,368) 14,922,737

Adjustments for decrease in inventories 829,955 (3,667)
Adjustments for decrease/ (increase) in trade receivables

-Decrease/ (increase) in trade receivables from related parties (543,271) 12,426,679
-Decrease/ (increase) in trade receivables from non-related parties (48,969,504) (23,375,054)

Increase/ (decrease) in payables due to employee benefits
Adjustments regarding decrease/ (increase) (148,996) 867,792

in other receivables on operations
- (Increase)/ decrease in other receivables regarding

operations with non-related parties (18,708,860) (694,138)
Adjustments regarding increase (decrease) in trade payables

- Increase/ (decrease) in trade payables to related parties (1,343,015) 969,057
- Increase/ (decrease) in trade payables to non-related parties 3,166,418 (2,646,004)

Adjustments regarding increase (decrease) in other payables on operations
- Increase/(decrease) in other payables

regarding operations with non-related parties (7,359,305) 1,950,845
Adjustments for other increase (decrease) in working capital

- (Increase)/ decrease in other assets regarding operations 62,426,210 25,427,227

Net cash from operating activities 336,648,702 298,639,054

Employee termination benefits paid 12 (176,744) (7,631)
Income tax refunds (payments) 22 (19,794,409) (32,414,183)
Interest received 2,814,409 5,959,129

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

GALATA WIND ENERJİ ANONİM ŞİRKETİ 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE PERIOD
1 JANUARY - 31 DECEMBER 2021
(Amounts expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)

6

Audited Audited
Current Period Prior Period

1 January - 1 January -
Notes 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

B. NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (83,506,435) (425,710,509)

Cash outflows from purchase of
property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 8, 9 (85,508,859) (425,073,240)

Cash inflows from sale of property, plant, equipment and
intangible assets 1,849,969 412,731

Purchase related to gaining the control of the subsidiaries
Cash advances and payables 3 - (1,000,000)
Other cash inflows/(outflows) 152,455 (50,000)

C. NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (196,301,681) 66,485,862

Cash inflows from borrowings
- Cash inflows from borrowings 5 448,808,024 294,900,000

Cash outflows on debt payments
- Cash outflows due to payments of bank borrowings 5 (374,972,822) (208,324,062)

Cash inflows from other financial borrowings (132,294,672) -
Cash outflows due to payments of lease liabilities 5 (3,821,786) (3,172,092)
Interest paid (34,020,425) (6,917,984)
Dividends paid (100,000,000) (10,000,000)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS (A+B+C) 39,683,842 (87,048,278)

EXCHANGE CURRENCY EFFECT ON
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 5 53,124,901 20,493,323

D. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE
BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD 4 66,110,010 132,664,965

E. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE
END OF THE PERIOD (A+B+C+D) 4 158,918,753 66,110,010

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

GALATA WIND ENERJİ ANONİM ŞİRKETİ 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)

1

Audited Audited
Current Period Prior Period

Notes 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

ASSETS

Current assets 389,090,774 171,495,095

Cash and cash equivalents 4 158,919,076 66,124,675
Trade receivables

- Due from related parties 23 543,271 -
- Due from third parties 6 83,778,946 34,809,442

Other receivables
- Due from third parties 7 200,491 205,892

Inventories 835,022 1,664,977
Prepaid expenses 13 6,853,361 2,219,625
Current income tax assets 22 - 4,589,914
Other current assets 14 137,960,607 61,880,570

Non-current assets 1,378,495,316 1,449,123,545

Derivative instruments 15 46,233,133 21,723,420
Financial investments 24 100,000 100,000
Other receivables

- Due from third parties 7 280,356 354,978
Property, plant and equipment 8 880,684,725 849,661,999
Intangible assets

- Licenses 9 284,503,003 291,833,320
- Goodwill 3 27,629,554 27,629,554
- Other 9 811,276 223,236

Right of use assets 10 12,951,192 12,381,319
Prepaid expenses 13 18,812,554 219,949
Other non-current assets 14 106,489,523 244,995,770

TOTAL ASSETS 1,767,586,090 1,620,618,640

The consolidated financial statements as of and for the year end period ended 31 December 2021 have been
approved by the Board of Directors on 24 February 2022.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GALATA WIND ENERJİ ANONİM ŞİRKETİ 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE PERIOD
1 JANUARY - 31 DECEMBER 2021
(Amounts expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)

6

Audited Audited
Current Period Prior Period

1 January - 1 January -
Notes 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

B. NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (83,506,435) (425,710,509)

Cash outflows from purchase of
property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 8, 9 (85,508,859) (425,073,240)

Cash inflows from sale of property, plant, equipment and
intangible assets 1,849,969 412,731

Purchase related to gaining the control of the subsidiaries
Cash advances and payables 3 - (1,000,000)
Other cash inflows/(outflows) 152,455 (50,000)

C. NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (196,301,681) 66,485,862

Cash inflows from borrowings
- Cash inflows from borrowings 5 448,808,024 294,900,000

Cash outflows on debt payments
- Cash outflows due to payments of bank borrowings 5 (374,972,822) (208,324,062)

Cash inflows from other financial borrowings (132,294,672) -
Cash outflows due to payments of lease liabilities 5 (3,821,786) (3,172,092)
Interest paid (34,020,425) (6,917,984)
Dividends paid (100,000,000) (10,000,000)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS (A+B+C) 39,683,842 (87,048,278)

EXCHANGE CURRENCY EFFECT ON
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 5 53,124,901 20,493,323

D. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE
BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD 4 66,110,010 132,664,965

E. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE
END OF THE PERIOD (A+B+C+D) 4 158,918,753 66,110,010

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

GALATA WIND ENERJİ ANONİM ŞİRKETİ 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)

1

Audited Audited
Current Period Prior Period

Notes 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

ASSETS

Current assets 389,090,774 171,495,095

Cash and cash equivalents 4 158,919,076 66,124,675
Trade receivables

- Due from related parties 23 543,271 -
- Due from third parties 6 83,778,946 34,809,442

Other receivables
- Due from third parties 7 200,491 205,892

Inventories 835,022 1,664,977
Prepaid expenses 13 6,853,361 2,219,625
Current income tax assets 22 - 4,589,914
Other current assets 14 137,960,607 61,880,570

Non-current assets 1,378,495,316 1,449,123,545

Derivative instruments 15 46,233,133 21,723,420
Financial investments 24 100,000 100,000
Other receivables

- Due from third parties 7 280,356 354,978
Property, plant and equipment 8 880,684,725 849,661,999
Intangible assets

- Licenses 9 284,503,003 291,833,320
- Goodwill 3 27,629,554 27,629,554
- Other 9 811,276 223,236

Right of use assets 10 12,951,192 12,381,319
Prepaid expenses 13 18,812,554 219,949
Other non-current assets 14 106,489,523 244,995,770

TOTAL ASSETS 1,767,586,090 1,620,618,640

The consolidated financial statements as of and for the year end period ended 31 December 2021 have been
approved by the Board of Directors on 24 February 2022.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GALATA WIND ENERJİ ANONİM ŞİRKETİ 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY - 31 DECEMBER 2021
(Amount expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)

7

NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Galata Wind Enerji Anonim Şirketi (“Galata Wind” or the “Company”) was acquired on 29 June 2012 
as a Doğan Holding subsidiary. 

While the Company was operating as a subsidiary of Doğan Enerji Yatırımları Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 
under Doğan Group of Companies Holding A.Ş., as a result of the merger of Doğan Enerji Yatırımları 
Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. under Doğan Şirketler Grubu Holding A.Ş. on 2 March 2021, it continued to 
operate directly as a subsidiary of Doğan Şirketler Grubu Holding A.Ş.. The ultimate joint shareholders 
of the Company are Aydın Doğan and the Doğan Family members (Işıl Doğan, Arzuhan Yalçındağ, 
Vuslat Sabancı, Hanzade V. Doğan Boyner and Y. Begümhan Doğan Faralyalı). 

Galata Wind is subject to the Capital Markets Legislation and the Capital Markets Board (“CMB”)
regulations; its shares are traded on Borsa İstanbul A.Ş. (“Borsa İstanbul”) since 22 April 2021. Pursuant 
to the CMB's Principle Decision dated 30 October 2014 and numbered 31/1059, as per the Principle
Decision dated 23 July 2010 and numbered 21/655; Central Registry Agency Inc. (“MKK”) according
to the records; the shares representing 26.86% of Galata Wind's capital are considered to be in circulation
as of 24 February 2022.

The main activities of the Company are establishing, operating and renting out electric power plants and
producing and selling electric power.

In the scope of this purpose and field, the Company generates electricity using sustainable energy
sources and sells this electricity to the Turkey Interconnected Grid.

The Company owns three wind power plants (WPP) and two solar power plants (SPP). The total
installed power of these plants is 269 MW. In 2021, all of the power plants, except Mersin WPP, sold
the electricity they produced under the Support Mechanism for Renewable Energy Resources
(“YEKDEM”) with a purchase guarantee. As of the end of 2021, Şah WPP also left YEKDEM. In 2021, 
a total of 774,476 MWh electricity was produced, of which 690,417 MWh from WPPs and 54,059 MWh
from SPPs.

The WPPs with 49-year production licences are Şah WPP, Mersin WPP and Taşpınar WPP. Şah WPP 
in Bandırma/Balıkesir, which has 105MW of installed power, has been operating since 2011, and Mersin 
WPP in Mut/Mersin has 62.7MW of installed power and has been operating since 2010. Taşpınar WPP 
in Nilüfer/Bursa has 67.2MW of installed power and began operations in October 2020 via a partial
temporary admission. The installation of 10 turbines was completed at the end of 2020, and full capacity
was put into use as of March 2021. Şah WPP and Mersin WPP changed owners with Doğan Group’s 
acquisition of the Company and began operating as part of Doğan Group as of June 2012. A capacity 
increase investment was carried out for Mersin WPP in 2017. In the scope of this investment, six state-
of-the-art wind turbines were installed in a more efficient part of the licensed site. The required
permissions for Taşpınar WPP, which was developed by the Company itself, were completed in 2021, 
and full capacity was put into use as of March 2021. The turbine model used for Taşpınar WPP was 
produced for this power plant for the first time in Turkey and the height from the ground to the wing tip
is 200 m. Mersin WPP and Taşpınar WPP have the capacity for additional investments. The power 
plants have their own technical and administrative personnel in the regions in which they operate. Each
power plant employs one company manager, five command operators, one administrative employee,
one or two general employees, and five security personnel. The repair/maintenance of turbines is
outsourced. The land where the turbines are installed is forested or belongs to the state treasury, and an
easement was established for the duration of the licence by the relevant establishments.
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NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS (Continued)

SPPs generating electricity without licences began operating on 19 December 2017 and 31 December
2018, with, respectively, 9.4 MW of installed power in Merkez/Çorum and 24.7 MW of installed power
in Aziziye-Hınıs-Karayazı/Erzurum. Both power plants employ state-of-the-art technology. Each SPP 
employs one electricity technician and five or six security personnel. Repair and maintenance of panels
and other equipment is outsourced. The Company owns the land where Çorum SPP was established. For
Erzurum SPP, the Aziziye and Hınıs SPP land belongs to the Company, while the land in Karayazı has 
been leased.

Electricity sale prices are as follows:

• Şah WPP will exit YEKDEM as of year end 2021. The price for the electricity generated until the 
end of 2021 will be USD73/MWh. Beginning in 2022, ŞAH WPP, as its YEKDEM period 
expired, will sell the electricity produced through bilateral agreements.

• The YEKDEM period for Taşpınar WPP started in 2021 and will continue until the end of 2030. 
In addition, additional a local contribution price applies since the equipment used at the Taşpınar 
WPP is domestically manufactured. Taşpınar WPP will sell the electricity it generates for 
USD94/MWh (USD73 + USD21 local contribution) for 10 years. The power plant will sell at the
free market price or via bilateral agreements upon the end of the YEKDEM period.

• Mersin WPP, whose YEKDEM term expired at the end of 2020, sold the electricity it produced
in 2021 through a bilateral agreement. It will also sell in this way in 2022.

• The 10-year YEKDEM periods for the SPPs started on the dates operations began. Çorum SPP
will sell the electricity it produces until the end of 2027, and Erzurum SPP until the end of 2028,
with a sales price of 133 USD/MWh, through the distribution company in the region it is
connected to.

With the decision of the Company's board of directors dated 31 December 2020, all shares of Sunflower
Solar Güneş Enerjisi Sistemleri Ticaret A.Ş. (“Sunflower”), which was 100% owned by Doğan Enerji, 
were taken over. The ultimate parent company of Sunflower is Doğan Şirketler Grubu Holding A.Ş., 
and the above-mentioned share transfer was evaluated to be a transaction between entities under
common control. The Company's main activity is to design and install all kinds of renewable energy
sources, systems that convert sunlight into energy, and systems that generate energy from sunlight in all
kinds of residences, sites, hotels, hospitals, factories, tourism facilities, holiday villages and similar
facilities, campuses and buildings. Sunflower actually operates in the field of roof solar energy systems
installation. In 2021, 127 kW turnkey installation was carried out. In addition, it provided 400 kW
project development and panel supply services.

As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the main operations of the subsidiary of the Company (the Company
and the subsidiary shall be together referred to as the “Group”) and the country in which it operates are
as follows:

Subsidiary Main operation Country registered
Sunflower Solar Güneş Enerjisi  
   Sistemleri Ticaret A.Ş. (“Sunflower”) Energy Turkey

The Group had 50 employees as of 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: 39).

The registered address of the group is as follows:

Burhaniye Mah. Kısıklı Cad. No: 65 34676 Üsküdar/İstanbul 
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NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS (Continued)

SPPs generating electricity without licences began operating on 19 December 2017 and 31 December
2018, with, respectively, 9.4 MW of installed power in Merkez/Çorum and 24.7 MW of installed power
in Aziziye-Hınıs-Karayazı/Erzurum. Both power plants employ state-of-the-art technology. Each SPP 
employs one electricity technician and five or six security personnel. Repair and maintenance of panels
and other equipment is outsourced. The Company owns the land where Çorum SPP was established. For
Erzurum SPP, the Aziziye and Hınıs SPP land belongs to the Company, while the land in Karayazı has 
been leased.

Electricity sale prices are as follows:

• Şah WPP will exit YEKDEM as of year end 2021. The price for the electricity generated until the 
end of 2021 will be USD73/MWh. Beginning in 2022, ŞAH WPP, as its YEKDEM period 
expired, will sell the electricity produced through bilateral agreements.

• The YEKDEM period for Taşpınar WPP started in 2021 and will continue until the end of 2030. 
In addition, additional a local contribution price applies since the equipment used at the Taşpınar 
WPP is domestically manufactured. Taşpınar WPP will sell the electricity it generates for 
USD94/MWh (USD73 + USD21 local contribution) for 10 years. The power plant will sell at the
free market price or via bilateral agreements upon the end of the YEKDEM period.

• Mersin WPP, whose YEKDEM term expired at the end of 2020, sold the electricity it produced
in 2021 through a bilateral agreement. It will also sell in this way in 2022.

• The 10-year YEKDEM periods for the SPPs started on the dates operations began. Çorum SPP
will sell the electricity it produces until the end of 2027, and Erzurum SPP until the end of 2028,
with a sales price of 133 USD/MWh, through the distribution company in the region it is
connected to.

With the decision of the Company's board of directors dated 31 December 2020, all shares of Sunflower
Solar Güneş Enerjisi Sistemleri Ticaret A.Ş. (“Sunflower”), which was 100% owned by Doğan Enerji, 
were taken over. The ultimate parent company of Sunflower is Doğan Şirketler Grubu Holding A.Ş., 
and the above-mentioned share transfer was evaluated to be a transaction between entities under
common control. The Company's main activity is to design and install all kinds of renewable energy
sources, systems that convert sunlight into energy, and systems that generate energy from sunlight in all
kinds of residences, sites, hotels, hospitals, factories, tourism facilities, holiday villages and similar
facilities, campuses and buildings. Sunflower actually operates in the field of roof solar energy systems
installation. In 2021, 127 kW turnkey installation was carried out. In addition, it provided 400 kW
project development and panel supply services.

As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the main operations of the subsidiary of the Company (the Company
and the subsidiary shall be together referred to as the “Group”) and the country in which it operates are
as follows:

Subsidiary Main operation Country registered
Sunflower Solar Güneş Enerjisi  
   Sistemleri Ticaret A.Ş. (“Sunflower”) Energy Turkey

The Group had 50 employees as of 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: 39).

The registered address of the group is as follows:

Burhaniye Mah. Kısıklı Cad. No: 65 34676 Üsküdar/İstanbul 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1 Basis of Presentation

2.1.1 Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements

Adopted Financial Reporting Standards

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with 2019 Turkish
Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”) Taxonomy based on the requirements of Capital Markets
Board (“CMB”) Communiqué Serial II, No: 14.1 “Basis of Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” and
TFRS issued by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards Authority (“POA”), which is
developed by POA and announced to the public by the decision of the POA on 15 April 2019 in
accordance with paragraph 9(b) of Decree Law No. 660.

The Group maintains their legal books of accounts in Turkish Lira in accordance with the Tax
Legislation, and the Uniform Chart of Accounts (General Communiqué on Accounting System
Implementation) issued by the Ministry of Finance.

These consolidated financial statements, except for the financial assets that are presented at fair value,
are prepared on the basis of historical cost.

Adjustment to the financial statements in hyperinflationary periods

In accordance with the decision of CMB dated as 17 March 2005 and numbered 11/367, effective from
1 January 2005, the application of inflation accounting is no longer required for companies operating in
Turkey and preparing their financial statements in accordance with TFRS. Accordingly, No:29,
“Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies” (“TAS 29”), has not been applied commencing
from 1 January 2005.

The law numbered 7352, which amends the Tax Procedure Law and the Corporate Tax Law was enacted
on 20 January 2022. With this law, it has been decided that the financial statements will not be subject
to inflation adjustment in the 2021 and 2022 fiscal years, including the provisional accounting periods,
and in the provisional tax periods of the 2023 fiscal year, regardless of whether the conditions for the
inflation adjustment within the scope of the Repeated Article 298 are met. Pursuant to Law No. 7352,
inflation adjustment will be applied to the financial statements dated 31 December 2023, and the
profit/loss difference arising from the inflation adjustment will be recognized in the retained
earnings/accumulated losses and it will not be subject to tax.

On 20 January 2022, the Public Oversight Accounting and Standards Authority made a statement on the
Implementation of Financial Reporting in High Inflation Economies within the Scope of Turkish
Financial Reporting Standards, Financial Reporting Standard for Large and Medium Sized Enterprises.
Accordingly, it has been stated that companies adopted TFRS do not need to make any adjustments in
their financial statements for the fiscal year 2021 within the scope of TAS 29 Financial Reporting in
Hyperinflationary Economies.
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.1 Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (Continued)

Functional and Presentation Currency

Items included in the financial statements of the Group are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Turkish Lira, which is the functional and presentation currency of
Group.

2.1.2 Consolidation Principles

(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries comprise of the companies directly or indirectly controlled by Galata Wind.

Control is achieved when the Group:

 Has power over the company/asset;
 Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the company/asset; and
 Has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are indicators of a situation or an event that may cause any changes to at least one of the elements of
control listed above.

When the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s
voting rights in the relevant investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

 The size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of
the other vote holders;

 Potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or other parties;
 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
 Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group has, or does not have, the current

ability to direct the relevant activities (including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings).

Subsidiaries are consolidated by the date the Group takes the control and from the date the control is over,
subsidiaries are excluded from the consolidation scope. Proportion of ownership interest represents the
effective shareholding of the Group through the shares held by Galata Wind and/or indirectly by its
subsidiaries.

Intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation. The dividends arising from
shares held by Group in its subsidiary are eliminated from equity and income for the period.
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.1 Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (Continued)

Functional and Presentation Currency

Items included in the financial statements of the Group are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Turkish Lira, which is the functional and presentation currency of
Group.

2.1.2 Consolidation Principles

(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries comprise of the companies directly or indirectly controlled by Galata Wind.

Control is achieved when the Group:

 Has power over the company/asset;
 Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the company/asset; and
 Has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are indicators of a situation or an event that may cause any changes to at least one of the elements of
control listed above.

When the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s
voting rights in the relevant investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

 The size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of
the other vote holders;

 Potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or other parties;
 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
 Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group has, or does not have, the current

ability to direct the relevant activities (including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings).

Subsidiaries are consolidated by the date the Group takes the control and from the date the control is over,
subsidiaries are excluded from the consolidation scope. Proportion of ownership interest represents the
effective shareholding of the Group through the shares held by Galata Wind and/or indirectly by its
subsidiaries.

Intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation. The dividends arising from
shares held by Group in its subsidiary are eliminated from equity and income for the period.
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.2 Consolidation Principles (Continued)

Subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the accounting period are included in the consolidation from
the date at which the control of operations are transferred to the Group and excluded from the consolidation
when the control is lost. Even if non-controlling interests result in a deficit balance, total comprehensive
income is attributed to the owners and to the non-controlling interests.

Income and expense of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of the during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Changes in ownership interests

The Group assesses transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment
between the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their indirect
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling
interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve within equity.

As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, Sunflower is the only subsidiary consolidated. The voting rights and
effective ownership rates for Sunflower are shown below:

Direct voting Propertion of effective
rights (%) ownership interest (%)

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
Subsidiaries 2021 2020 2021 2020

Sunflower 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00

Summary financial information of Sunflower as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Current assets 1,605,541 2,253,303
Non-current assets 63,570 95,863
Current liabilities 594,925 1,624,419
Non-current liabilities - -
Equity 724,747 724,747
Net (loss)/ profit for the period 349,439 (349,558)
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.2 Consolidation Principles (Continued)

(b) Non-Controlling Interests

Non-controlling interests of shareholders over the net assets and operational results of subsidiaries are
classified as non-controlling interest and non-controlling profit/loss in the consolidated statement of
financial position and consolidated statement of income.

2.1.3 Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported when there is a legally enforceable
right to set-off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.1.4 Comparative information and restatement of prior period financial statements

In order to determine the financial status and performance trends, the consolidated financial statements
of the Group have been prepared in comparison with the consolidation financial statements of previous
periods. The Group prepared its consolidated statement of financial position as of 31 December 2021 in
comparison with the consolidated statement of financial position prepared as of 31 December 2020;
prepared consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in shareholders’ equity and consolidated statement of cash flows between 1
January - 31 December 2021 in comparison with 1 January - 31 December 2020.

Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to changes in presentation in
the current period.

The Group has reclassified “carbon emission certificate right sales revenue” amounting to
TRY2,793,664 under “revenue” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the accounting period
of 1 January - 31 December 2021 which was accounted under “other operating income” in the statement
of profit or loss as of 31 December 2020. In order to make the amounts comparable, the same
classification was made for the 1 January - 31 December 2020 accounting period.

The Group has reclassified “currency exchange effect of cash and cash equivalents” amounting to TRY
20,493,323 under “exchange currency effect on cash and cash equivalents” in the consolidated statement
of cash flow for the accounting period of 1 January - 31 December 2021 which was accounted under
“Adjustments related to changes in unrealized foreign exchange differences” in the consolidated
statement of cash flow for the accounting period of 1 January - 31 December 2020.

2.1.5 Changes in significant accounting policies, accounting estimates, errors and restatement of
prior period financial statements

Changes of accounting policies resulting from the first-time implementation of the TAS are
implemented retrospectively or prospectively in accordance with the transition provisions. Major
accounting mistakes detected are applied retrospectively and the financial statements of previous period
are revised. If the changes in accounting estimates only apply to one period, then they are applied in the
current period when the change occurs; if the changes apply also to the future periods, they are applied
in both the period of change and in the future period.
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.2 Consolidation Principles (Continued)

(b) Non-Controlling Interests

Non-controlling interests of shareholders over the net assets and operational results of subsidiaries are
classified as non-controlling interest and non-controlling profit/loss in the consolidated statement of
financial position and consolidated statement of income.

2.1.3 Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported when there is a legally enforceable
right to set-off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.1.4 Comparative information and restatement of prior period financial statements

In order to determine the financial status and performance trends, the consolidated financial statements
of the Group have been prepared in comparison with the consolidation financial statements of previous
periods. The Group prepared its consolidated statement of financial position as of 31 December 2021 in
comparison with the consolidated statement of financial position prepared as of 31 December 2020;
prepared consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in shareholders’ equity and consolidated statement of cash flows between 1
January - 31 December 2021 in comparison with 1 January - 31 December 2020.

Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to changes in presentation in
the current period.

The Group has reclassified “carbon emission certificate right sales revenue” amounting to
TRY2,793,664 under “revenue” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the accounting period
of 1 January - 31 December 2021 which was accounted under “other operating income” in the statement
of profit or loss as of 31 December 2020. In order to make the amounts comparable, the same
classification was made for the 1 January - 31 December 2020 accounting period.

The Group has reclassified “currency exchange effect of cash and cash equivalents” amounting to TRY
20,493,323 under “exchange currency effect on cash and cash equivalents” in the consolidated statement
of cash flow for the accounting period of 1 January - 31 December 2021 which was accounted under
“Adjustments related to changes in unrealized foreign exchange differences” in the consolidated
statement of cash flow for the accounting period of 1 January - 31 December 2020.

2.1.5 Changes in significant accounting policies, accounting estimates, errors and restatement of
prior period financial statements

Changes of accounting policies resulting from the first-time implementation of the TAS are
implemented retrospectively or prospectively in accordance with the transition provisions. Major
accounting mistakes detected are applied retrospectively and the financial statements of previous period
are revised. If the changes in accounting estimates only apply to one period, then they are applied in the
current period when the change occurs; if the changes apply also to the future periods, they are applied
in both the period of change and in the future period.
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NOTE 2 – BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.6 New and revised Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”)

In the current period there is no such standard or interpretation affecting the Group’s financial
performance, statement of financial position, presentation or note disclosures. However, the details of
standards and interpretations effective in the current period but have no effect on the financial statements
and standards and interpretations not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group are set
out below:

a) Standards, amendments and interpretations applicable as at 31 December 2021:

 Amendments to IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform Phase 2;
effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. The Phase 2 amendments
address issues that arise from the implementation of the reforms, including the replacement of one
benchmark with an alternative one. The Phase 2 amendments provide additional temporary reliefs
from applying specific IAS 39 and IFRS 9 hedge accounting requirements to hedging relationships
directly affected by IBOR reform.

 Amendments to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts – deferral of IFRS 9; effective from annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023. These amendments defer the date of application of IFRS 17
by two years to 1 January 2023 and change the fixed date of the temporary exemption in IFRS 4
from applying IFRS 9, Financial instrument until 1 January 2023.

b) Standards, amendments and interpretations that are issued but not effective as at 31
December 2021:

• Amendment to IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ – Covid-19 related rent concessions Extension of the
Practical expedient; as of March 2021, this amendment extended till June 2022 and effective from
1 April 2021.As a result of the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, rent concessions have been
granted to lessees. Such concessions might take a variety of forms, including payment holidays and
deferral of lease payments. On 28 May 2020, the IASB published an amendment to IFRS 16 that
provides an optional practical expedient for lessees from assessing whether a rent concession related
to COVID-19 is a lease modification. Lessees can elect to account for such rent concessions in the
same way as they would if they were not lease modifications. In many cases, this will result in
accounting for the concession as variable lease payments in the period(s) in which the event or
condition that triggers the reduced payment occurs.

• IFRS 17, ‘Insurance contracts’; effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023. This standard replaces IFRS 4, which currently permits a wide variety of practices in
accounting for insurance contracts. IFRS 17 will fundamentally change the accounting by all entities
that issue insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participation features.

• Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements’ on classification of liabilities;
effective date deferred until accounting periods starting not earlier than 1 January 2024. These
narrow-scope amendments to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’, clarify that liabilities
are classified as either current or non-current, depending on the rights that exist at the end of the
reporting period. Classification is unaffected by the expectations of the entity or events after the
reporting date (for example, the receipt of a waiver or a breach of covenant). The amendment also
clarifies what IAS 1 means when it refers to the ‘settlement’ of a liability.
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NOTE 2 – BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.6 New and revised Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”) (Continued)

• A number of narrow-scope amendments to IFRS 3, IAS 16, IAS 37 and some annual
improvements on IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IAS 41 and IFRS 16; effective from Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2022.

o Amendments to IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’ update a reference in IFRS 3 to the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting without changing the accounting
requirements for business combinations.

o Amendments to IAS 16, ‘Property, plant and equipment’ prohibit a company from
deducting from the cost of property, plant and equipment amounts received from selling items
produced while the company is preparing the asset for its intended use. Instead, a company
will recognise such sales proceeds and related cost in profit or loss.

o Amendments to IAS 37, ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets’ specify
which costs a company includes when assessing whether a contract will be loss-making.

Annual improvements make minor amendments to IFRS 1, ‘First-time Adoption of IFRS’, IFRS 9,
‘Financial instruments’, IAS 41, ‘Agriculture’ and the Illustrative Examples accompanying IFRS
16, ‘Leases’.

● Narrow scope amendments to IAS 1, Practice statement 2 and IAS 8; effective from annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. The amendments aim to improve accounting policy
disclosures and to help users of the financial statements to distinguish between changes in
accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.

● Amendment to IAS 12 – Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single
transaction; from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. These amendments require
companies to recognise deferred tax on transactions that, on initial recognition give rise to equal
amounts of taxable and deductible temporary differences.

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These accounting policies are applied consistently for the presented periods unless
otherwise specified.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, bank deposits and highly liquid investments without
a significant risk over the change in their value, whose maturity at the time of purchase is three months
or less (Note 4).
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NOTE 2 – BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.6 New and revised Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”) (Continued)

• A number of narrow-scope amendments to IFRS 3, IAS 16, IAS 37 and some annual
improvements on IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IAS 41 and IFRS 16; effective from Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2022.

o Amendments to IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’ update a reference in IFRS 3 to the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting without changing the accounting
requirements for business combinations.

o Amendments to IAS 16, ‘Property, plant and equipment’ prohibit a company from
deducting from the cost of property, plant and equipment amounts received from selling items
produced while the company is preparing the asset for its intended use. Instead, a company
will recognise such sales proceeds and related cost in profit or loss.

o Amendments to IAS 37, ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets’ specify
which costs a company includes when assessing whether a contract will be loss-making.

Annual improvements make minor amendments to IFRS 1, ‘First-time Adoption of IFRS’, IFRS 9,
‘Financial instruments’, IAS 41, ‘Agriculture’ and the Illustrative Examples accompanying IFRS
16, ‘Leases’.

● Narrow scope amendments to IAS 1, Practice statement 2 and IAS 8; effective from annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. The amendments aim to improve accounting policy
disclosures and to help users of the financial statements to distinguish between changes in
accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.

● Amendment to IAS 12 – Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single
transaction; from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. These amendments require
companies to recognise deferred tax on transactions that, on initial recognition give rise to equal
amounts of taxable and deductible temporary differences.

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These accounting policies are applied consistently for the presented periods unless
otherwise specified.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, bank deposits and highly liquid investments without
a significant risk over the change in their value, whose maturity at the time of purchase is three months
or less (Note 4).
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Trade receivables and provision for doubtful receivables

The Group’s trade receivables from providing goods or services to customers are carried at net of
unrealized finance income (“unearned financial income due to sales with maturity”). Trade receivables,
net of unrealized finance income, are calculated by discounting future cash inflows of receivables carried
at the original invoice amount using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. Effective interest
method is calculating the present value in accordance with the compound interest basis. The rate
determined by compound interest basis and applied in this method is named “effective interest rate”.
Short term receivables with indefinite interest rate are carried at cost unless the effect of imputing
interest is significant (Note 6).

When calculating the impairment of trade receivables, which are recognised based on the cost amortised
in financial statements and do not include an important financing component, Group preferred to adopt
“simplified approach” in TFRS 9.

TAS 39, “Financial Instruments” valid before 1 January 2018: Instead of “realised credit losses model”
in Accounting and Measurement Standard, “expected credit loss model” was defined in
TFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”. Expected credit loss is estimated by weighting credit losses, expected
to occur throughout the expected life of financial instruments, based on previous statistics. When
calculating the expected credit losses, credit losses in the previous years and forecasts of the Group are
considered.

The Group evaluates to recognize provision for doubtful receivables, whose payment was not made
within the ordinary commercial activity cycle of the Group, considering whether the trade receivable is
subject to administrative and/or legal proceeding, whether or not they have a guarantee and there is an
objective finding. The amount of such provision is the difference between the book value of the
receivable and the collectible amount. The collectible amount is the current value of the expected cash
flow, including the amounts to be collected from guarantees and collaterals, which is discounted based
on the original effective interest rate of the initial receivable.

When trade receivables are not impaired for certain reasons along with realised impairment losses,
Group recognises expected credit loss provision equal to lifetime expected credit loss for trade
receivables as per TFRS 9. Expected credit loss is calculated by expected credit loss rates determined
based on previous credit loss experiences of the Group and prospective macroeconomic indicators.
Changes in expected credit loss provisions are recognised under other income and expenses from
operating activities (Note 20).

If there is a partial or whole collection over the doubtful receivable amount subsequent to the recognition
of a provision for doubtful receivables, the collected portion is recognized as other income from
operating activities following the write-down of the total provision amount (Note 6, 20).
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or estimated selling price less estimated costs necessary to make
a sale (net realizable value). Cost elements included in inventory are purchasing costs and other costs
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use. Cost elements included in inventories are materials,
labor and production overheads. The unit cost of inventories is determined on the weighted average basis.
The inventories item includes the solar panels that Sunflower trades.

When the net realizable value of inventory is less than cost, the inventory is written down to the net
realizable value and the expense is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period the
write-down or loss occurred. When the circumstances that previously caused inventories to be written
down below cost no longer exist or when there is clear evidence of an increase in net realizable value
because of the changing economic circumstances, the amount of the write-down is reversed. The reversal
amount is limited to the amount of the initial impairment.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment on a straight-line basis
(except land) (Note 8). Land is not subject to depreciation since useful life is assumed to be infinite.

The estimated useful lives of the tangible assets are as follows;

Land and land improvements 50 years
Buildings 50 years
Wind turbines, transformers and switchyard 10 - 30 years
Solar panels 20 years
Motor vehicles 4 - 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 4 - 11 years

Expected useful life, residual value and depreciation method are reviewed annually for possible effects
of changes in estimates and are recognized prospectively if there is a change in estimates.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized in the consolidated statement of financial
position upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognized as income or expenses from investing activities in profit or loss.

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written
down immediately to its recoverable amount provided to allocate provision. The recoverable amount of
an asset is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. Fair value less costs to sell is
the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset less the costs of disposal. Value in use is the present
value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from an asset plus the residual value of the related
assets as of the statement of financial position date.
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or estimated selling price less estimated costs necessary to make
a sale (net realizable value). Cost elements included in inventory are purchasing costs and other costs
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use. Cost elements included in inventories are materials,
labor and production overheads. The unit cost of inventories is determined on the weighted average basis.
The inventories item includes the solar panels that Sunflower trades.

When the net realizable value of inventory is less than cost, the inventory is written down to the net
realizable value and the expense is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period the
write-down or loss occurred. When the circumstances that previously caused inventories to be written
down below cost no longer exist or when there is clear evidence of an increase in net realizable value
because of the changing economic circumstances, the amount of the write-down is reversed. The reversal
amount is limited to the amount of the initial impairment.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment on a straight-line basis
(except land) (Note 8). Land is not subject to depreciation since useful life is assumed to be infinite.

The estimated useful lives of the tangible assets are as follows;

Land and land improvements 50 years
Buildings 50 years
Wind turbines, transformers and switchyard 10 - 30 years
Solar panels 20 years
Motor vehicles 4 - 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 4 - 11 years

Expected useful life, residual value and depreciation method are reviewed annually for possible effects
of changes in estimates and are recognized prospectively if there is a change in estimates.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized in the consolidated statement of financial
position upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognized as income or expenses from investing activities in profit or loss.

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written
down immediately to its recoverable amount provided to allocate provision. The recoverable amount of
an asset is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. Fair value less costs to sell is
the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset less the costs of disposal. Value in use is the present
value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from an asset plus the residual value of the related
assets as of the statement of financial position date.
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Repair and maintenance expenses are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they are incurred.
Capital expenditures that increase the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from
property, plant and equipment by increasing its capacity is added to the cost of tangible fixed asset.

Gain and losses regarding sale of property, plant and equipment are accounted as other income and
expenses from investing activities.

Construction in progress for the installation of electricity energy production, which is classified under
property, plant and equipment, includes the following cost elements in brief:

- Purchase price after deducting discounts, including import duties and non-refundable taxes,
- Any costs related to the conditions that the asset will be placed and installed in order to work

properly as the management aimed,
- Costs related to employee benefits arising from the construction or by the direct acquisition of

tangible assets,
- Costs related to the preparation of the place,
- Costs associated with the first delivery,
- Setup and installation costs,
- Professional fees,
- General and administrative expenses that are directly related to the acquisition or construction of

fixed assets,
- Financing costs that could be added to the cost of property, plant and equipment in the scope of

TAS 23 “Borrowing Costs”,
- Expropriation costs for the construction of the power plant.

Intangible assets and related amortization

Intangible assets are carried at cost and amortized by using the straight-line method (Note 9).

Estimated useful lives of intangible assets that have a finite useful life are as follows:

Rights 39 - 49 years

Intangible assets with estimated useful lives are tested to determine whether there is an indication that the
intangible assets may be impaired and if the carrying value of the intangible asset is higher than the
recoverable amount, the carrying value of the intangible asset is written down to its recoverable amount
provided to allocate provision. The amount recoverable from an intangible asset is either the discounted
net cash flows generated from the use of that intangible asset or the net sales value of that intangible asset
depending whether the former or the latter being higher. Provision for impairment is recognised under the
statement of profit or loss in the related period.
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group 's cash-generating
units (or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

The cash-generating unit, where the goodwill is allocated, is tested for impairment annually. If there is
any indication that the unit is impaired, the impairment test is performed more frequently.

If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the
other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Impairment of assets excluding goodwill and intangible assets with infinite useful lives

At each statement of consolidated financial position date, the Group evaluates whether there are any
indications that an asset other than goodwill or infinite life intangible assets may be impaired. When an
indication of impairment exists, carrying value of the assets is compared with the net realizable value
which is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Impairment exists if the carrying value of an asset or a cash generating unit
including that asset is greater than its recoverable amount which is the higher of value in use or fair
value less costs to sell. Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group 's cash-generating
units (or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

The cash-generating unit, where the goodwill is allocated, is tested for impairment annually. If there is
any indication that the unit is impaired, the impairment test is performed more frequently.

If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the
other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Impairment of assets excluding goodwill and intangible assets with infinite useful lives

At each statement of consolidated financial position date, the Group evaluates whether there are any
indications that an asset other than goodwill or infinite life intangible assets may be impaired. When an
indication of impairment exists, carrying value of the assets is compared with the net realizable value
which is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Impairment exists if the carrying value of an asset or a cash generating unit
including that asset is greater than its recoverable amount which is the higher of value in use or fair
value less costs to sell. Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Business Combinations

The acquisition of businesses is accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquire and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquire. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised as cost as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired, and the liabilities assumed are recognised at
their fair value, except that:

 Deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with TAS 12 Income Taxes and TAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

 Liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquire or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquire are measured in accordance with TFRS 2 Share-based Payment at
the acquisition date;

 Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with TFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with
that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest
in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed. If, after revaluation, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity's net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interests' proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree's
identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.
Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis
specified in another TAS.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its
acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill.
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Business Combinations (Continued)

Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not
qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and
its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as
an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with if it is found to be
within the standart of TFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, the mentioned
conditional price is measured at its fair value and the gain or loss arising out of the change is recognised
under profits, losses or other comprehensive income. Those not covered under the scope of TFRS 9, is
recognized in profit or loss as per TAS 37 Provisions or other suitable “TAS”.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group 's previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control)
and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in
the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were
disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in
which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see
above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date (Note 3).

Legal mergers between entities controlled by the Group are not considered within the scope of TFRS 3
“Business Combinations”. Therefore, goodwill is not calculated in such mergers. Besides, transactions
occurring between the parties in legal mergers are subject to adjustments during the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. In the accounting of share transfers under common control, assets and
liabilities subject to business combination are included in the consolidated financial statements with
their carrying values. Mergers between entities under common control are recognized by “Pooling of
Interests” method. In applying the “Pooling of Interests” method, the consolidated financial statements
are adjusted as if the acquisition was performed as of the beginning at the relevant reporting period in
which the common control is carried out and they are presented comperatively as of the beginning of
the relevant reporting period. As a result of these transactions, no goodwill or negotiable purchase effect
is calculated (Note 3). Business combinations under common control are not within the scope of TFRS
3 “Business Combinations” and the Group does not recognize any goodwill with respect to such
transactions. If the carrying amount of the acquired net assets on the date of the merger exceeds the
transferred value, the difference is considered as the additional capital contributions of the shareholders
and reflected to the Share Premiums. On the contrary, when the net transaction consideration exceeds
the carrying amount of the net assets of the entity on the date of the transaction, the difference is reflected
in “Effects of Mergers of Entities Under Common Control” as an item decreasing the equity.
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Business Combinations (Continued)

Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not
qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and
its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as
an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with if it is found to be
within the standart of TFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, the mentioned
conditional price is measured at its fair value and the gain or loss arising out of the change is recognised
under profits, losses or other comprehensive income. Those not covered under the scope of TFRS 9, is
recognized in profit or loss as per TAS 37 Provisions or other suitable “TAS”.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group 's previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control)
and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in
the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were
disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in
which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see
above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date (Note 3).

Legal mergers between entities controlled by the Group are not considered within the scope of TFRS 3
“Business Combinations”. Therefore, goodwill is not calculated in such mergers. Besides, transactions
occurring between the parties in legal mergers are subject to adjustments during the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. In the accounting of share transfers under common control, assets and
liabilities subject to business combination are included in the consolidated financial statements with
their carrying values. Mergers between entities under common control are recognized by “Pooling of
Interests” method. In applying the “Pooling of Interests” method, the consolidated financial statements
are adjusted as if the acquisition was performed as of the beginning at the relevant reporting period in
which the common control is carried out and they are presented comperatively as of the beginning of
the relevant reporting period. As a result of these transactions, no goodwill or negotiable purchase effect
is calculated (Note 3). Business combinations under common control are not within the scope of TFRS
3 “Business Combinations” and the Group does not recognize any goodwill with respect to such
transactions. If the carrying amount of the acquired net assets on the date of the merger exceeds the
transferred value, the difference is considered as the additional capital contributions of the shareholders
and reflected to the Share Premiums. On the contrary, when the net transaction consideration exceeds
the carrying amount of the net assets of the entity on the date of the transaction, the difference is reflected
in “Effects of Mergers of Entities Under Common Control” as an item decreasing the equity.
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases

If a contract regulates the right to control the use of an asset that is defined in the contract for a certain
period and for a specific price, this contract is considered as a lease in its nature or includes a lease
transaction. At the beginning of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is a lease or include
a lease transaction. The Group considers the following conditions when assessing whether or not a
contract transfers the right to control the use of a defined asset for a specified period of time:

a) The existence of a clearly or implicitly identifiable asset that constitutes the subject of the lease,
b) The lessee has the right to obtain almost all of the economic benefits from the use of the defined

asset that constitutes the subject of the lease,
c) The lessee has the right to manage the use of the defined asset that constitutes the subject of the

lease. According to circumstances listed below, the tenant is deemed to have the right to manage
the defined asset constituting the subject of the lease;

i. The lessee has the right to operate the property for the duration of its use (or to direct others
to operate the property in its own way) and the lessor does not have the right to change
these operating instructions or

ii. Designing the asset (or certain features of the asset) in advance in a manner of how and for
what purpose the asset will be used during its occupancy by the lessee.

In case that the contract fulfills these conditions, the Group reflects a right of use asset and a lease
liability to the consolidated financial statements at the date of the lease's actual start.

The right of use assets

The right-of-use asset is initially recognized by the cost method and includes the followings:

a) The first measurement amount of the lease liability to be recognized as the right of use asset,
b) Deduction of all leasing incentives related to the lease, from the first measurement amount of the

lease liability recorded as a right of use asset,
c) All direct costs, that are related to the lease, incurred by the Group to be added to the first

measurement amount of the lease liability, which will be recognized as a right of use asset, and
d) Estimated costs to be incurred by the Group shall be added to the initial measurement amount in

relation to the dismantling and transporting of the defined asset constituting the subject of the
lease, the restoration of the area in which it is placed, or the restoration of the defined asset as
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

In applying the cost method, the Group measures the right of use asset by:

a) deducting the accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses and,
b) measuring the cost of the lease in accordance with the re-measurement of the lease liability.

The Group applies depreciation provisions in “TAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment” while
depreciating the right of use asset. In order to determine whether the right of use asset has been impaired
or not and to recognize any impairment losses the “TAS 36 Impairment of Assets” standard is
implemented.
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Lease liability

At the effective date of the lease, the Group measures its leasing liability at the present value of the lease
payments not realized at that date. If the interest rate on the lease can be easily determined, this rate is
used in discount; if the implied interest rate cannot be easily determined, the payments are discounted
by using the alternative borrowing interest rate of the lessee.

Lease payments that are included in the measurement of the lease liability of the Group and the payments
that have not occurred on the date when the lease is actually started consist of the following:

a) Amount deducted from all types of rental incentive receivables from fixed payments,
b) Lease payments based on an index or a rate, lease payments made using an index or a rate at the

time the initial measurement was actually started,
c) The penalty for termination of the lease in cases the lessee shows a sign of it will use an option to

terminate the lease.

After the effective date of the lease, the Group measures its lease liability as follows:

a) Increasing the book value by reflecting interest on lease liability,
b) Reducing the book value by reflecting the lease payments made
c) Re-measures the book value to reflect any re-evaluations and reconfigurations, if any. The Group

reflects the remeasured amount of the lease obligation to the consolidated financial statements as
adjustment in the use of right.

Extension and early termination options

A lease obligation is determined by considering the extension of the contracts and early termination
options. Most of the extension and early termination options included in the contracts consist of options
that are jointly applicable by the Group and the lessor. However, if such extension and early termination
options are at the Group 's discretion in accordance with the contract and the use of the options is
reasonably certain, the lease term shall be determined by taking this issue into account. If there is a
significant change in the conditions, the evaluation is reviewed by the Group.

Facilitative applications

Contracts related to IT equipment leases (mainly printer, laptop, mobile phone, etc.), which are
determined by the Group as low value, short-term lease agreements with a period of 12 months and less,
have been assessed under the exemption granted by the TFRS 16 “Leases”, and payments for these
contracts are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Lease liability

At the effective date of the lease, the Group measures its leasing liability at the present value of the lease
payments not realized at that date. If the interest rate on the lease can be easily determined, this rate is
used in discount; if the implied interest rate cannot be easily determined, the payments are discounted
by using the alternative borrowing interest rate of the lessee.

Lease payments that are included in the measurement of the lease liability of the Group and the payments
that have not occurred on the date when the lease is actually started consist of the following:

a) Amount deducted from all types of rental incentive receivables from fixed payments,
b) Lease payments based on an index or a rate, lease payments made using an index or a rate at the

time the initial measurement was actually started,
c) The penalty for termination of the lease in cases the lessee shows a sign of it will use an option to

terminate the lease.

After the effective date of the lease, the Group measures its lease liability as follows:

a) Increasing the book value by reflecting interest on lease liability,
b) Reducing the book value by reflecting the lease payments made
c) Re-measures the book value to reflect any re-evaluations and reconfigurations, if any. The Group

reflects the remeasured amount of the lease obligation to the consolidated financial statements as
adjustment in the use of right.

Extension and early termination options

A lease obligation is determined by considering the extension of the contracts and early termination
options. Most of the extension and early termination options included in the contracts consist of options
that are jointly applicable by the Group and the lessor. However, if such extension and early termination
options are at the Group 's discretion in accordance with the contract and the use of the options is
reasonably certain, the lease term shall be determined by taking this issue into account. If there is a
significant change in the conditions, the evaluation is reviewed by the Group.

Facilitative applications

Contracts related to IT equipment leases (mainly printer, laptop, mobile phone, etc.), which are
determined by the Group as low value, short-term lease agreements with a period of 12 months and less,
have been assessed under the exemption granted by the TFRS 16 “Leases”, and payments for these
contracts are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets

Group classified its financial assets in two categories; financial assets carried at amortized cost, financial
assets carried at fair value though profit of loss. Classification is performed in accordance with the
business model determined based on the purpose of benefits from financial assets and expected cash
flows. Management performs the classification of financial assets at the acquisition date.

(a) Financial assets carried at amortized cost

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, whose payments are fixed or predetermined, which are not actively
traded and which are not derivative instruments are measured at amortized cost. They are included in
current assets, except for maturities more than 12 months after the balance sheet date. Those with
maturities more than 12 months are classified as non-current assets. The Group’s financial assets carried
at amortized cost comprise “trade receivables”, “other receivables” and “cash and cash equivalents” in the
statement of financial position.

Impairment

Group has applied simplified approach and used impairment matrix for the calculation of impairment on
its receivables carried at amortized cost, since they do not comprise of any significant finance component.
In accordance with this method, if any provision is not provided to the trade receivables as a result of a
specific event, Group measures expected credit loss from these receivables by the life-time expected credit
loss. The calculation of expected credit loss is performed based on the past experience of the Group and
its expectation based on the macroeconomic indications.

(b) Financial assets carried at fair value

Assets that are held by the management for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets are measured at their fair value. If the management do not plan to dispose these assets in 12 months
after the statement of financial position, they are classified as non-current assets. Group makes a choice
that cannot be changed later for the equity instruments during the initial recognition and elect profit or loss
or other comprehensive income for the presentation of fair value gain and loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss consist of “derivative instruments” in statement of
financial position. Derivative instruments are recognised as asset if their fair value is positive and as
liability if their fair value is negative. Group’s derivative instruments consist of transactions concerning
cross currency and interest swap. Financial assets that are measured by their fair value and associated with
the profit or loss statement are initially reflected on the statement of financial position with their costs
including the transaction cost. These financial assets are valued based on their fair value after they are
recognised. Realised or unrealised profit and losses are recognised under “financing income/(expense)”.
Financial assets including the derivative products not determined as hedging instruments are classified as
financial assets whose fair value difference is reflected as profit or loss (Note 15).

GALATA WIND ENERJİ ANONİM ŞİRKETİ 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY - 31 DECEMBER 2021
(Amount expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)

24

NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Derivative financial instruments are comprised of cross currency and interest swap agreements. Derivative
financial instruments are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. Fair values of derivative financial
instruments are obtained from quoted market prices or discounted cash flow models as appropriate. Based
on positive or negative fair value, derivative financial instruments are carried as assets or liabilities in the
statement of financial position respectively (Note 15).

In the case of future cash flows being subject to cash flow hedges and related transactions being effective,
the effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualified as cash
flow hedges is recognized in equity directly whereas the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in
the statement of profit or loss.

If the cash flow hedge of a firm commitment or an expected forward transaction result in the recognition
of an asset or liability, at the initial recognition of this asset or liability the gain or loss previously
recognized under equity related to derivatives is included in the measurement of the initial amount of
the asset or liability. In a hedge accounting that does not result in the recognition of an asset or a liability,
the amounts previously recognized under equity are transferred to statement of profit or loss in the period
in which the hedged item has an effect on profit or loss. The changes in the fair value of derivatives that
do not meet the criteria for hedge accounting are recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

The Group utilizes foreign exchange derivatives to protect future significant transactions and cash flows
from financial risk. Group has signed various forward exchange contracts regarding the management of
fluctuations in exchange rates and fuel prices. The derivative instruments purchased are mainly
denominated in foreign currencies in which the Group operates.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or
if its designation as a hedge is revoked, any cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in equity
remains in equity until the forecast transaction or firm commitment affects profit or loss. If the forecast
transaction or firm commitment is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or losses previously
recognized in equity are transferred to the statement of profit or loss.

Financial borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognized initially at the proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred.
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Any difference
between proceeds, net of transaction costs, and the redemption value is recognized in the profit or loss
as finance expense over the period of the borrowings. The borrowing costs which are directly related
with the acquisition, manufacturing or production of a specialty good (means that a long period of time
is required to make available for sale and use as purposed) are capitalized as a part of the related asset
(Note 5).
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Derivative financial instruments are comprised of cross currency and interest swap agreements. Derivative
financial instruments are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. Fair values of derivative financial
instruments are obtained from quoted market prices or discounted cash flow models as appropriate. Based
on positive or negative fair value, derivative financial instruments are carried as assets or liabilities in the
statement of financial position respectively (Note 15).

In the case of future cash flows being subject to cash flow hedges and related transactions being effective,
the effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualified as cash
flow hedges is recognized in equity directly whereas the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in
the statement of profit or loss.

If the cash flow hedge of a firm commitment or an expected forward transaction result in the recognition
of an asset or liability, at the initial recognition of this asset or liability the gain or loss previously
recognized under equity related to derivatives is included in the measurement of the initial amount of
the asset or liability. In a hedge accounting that does not result in the recognition of an asset or a liability,
the amounts previously recognized under equity are transferred to statement of profit or loss in the period
in which the hedged item has an effect on profit or loss. The changes in the fair value of derivatives that
do not meet the criteria for hedge accounting are recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

The Group utilizes foreign exchange derivatives to protect future significant transactions and cash flows
from financial risk. Group has signed various forward exchange contracts regarding the management of
fluctuations in exchange rates and fuel prices. The derivative instruments purchased are mainly
denominated in foreign currencies in which the Group operates.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or
if its designation as a hedge is revoked, any cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in equity
remains in equity until the forecast transaction or firm commitment affects profit or loss. If the forecast
transaction or firm commitment is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or losses previously
recognized in equity are transferred to the statement of profit or loss.

Financial borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognized initially at the proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred.
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Any difference
between proceeds, net of transaction costs, and the redemption value is recognized in the profit or loss
as finance expense over the period of the borrowings. The borrowing costs which are directly related
with the acquisition, manufacturing or production of a specialty good (means that a long period of time
is required to make available for sale and use as purposed) are capitalized as a part of the related asset
(Note 5).
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. If trade payables are less than or equal to 1 year (or if it is longer as
long as it is in the Group’s normal operational cycle), these payables are classified as short-term
payables, Otherwise, these are classified as long-term payables (Note 6).

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Share capital and dividends

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Dividend income is recognized as income by the Group when
right to obtain of dividend is generated in the consolidated financial statements. Dividend distribution
to the Group’s shareholders is recognized as a liability in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the General Assembly (Note 16)

Taxation

Taxation on income includes current period income taxes and deferred taxes. Current year tax liability
consists of tax liability on period income calculated according to currently enacted tax rates and tax
legislation in force as of statement of financial position date and includes adjustments related to the
previous year’s tax liabilities. Turkish tax legislation does not allow the parent company to file a tax
return over the consolidated financial statements of its subsidiaries. Therefore, provisions for taxes, as
reflected in these consolidated financial statements, have been calculated separately for all companies
included in the scope of consolidation.

Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between
the statutory tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the statement of financial position date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, where deferred tax assets
resulting from deductible temporary differences are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilized. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities
and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities
(Note 22).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they are related to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax

Tax is included in the statement of profit or loss, unless it is related to an operation that is accounted
directly under equity. Otherwise, tax is accounted under equity as well as the related transaction
(Note 22).

Employment termination benefits

The provision for employment termination benefit represents the present value of the estimated total
reserves of the future probable liability of the Group arising from the retirement of the employees
measured in accordance with the Turkish Labour and Press Labour Laws (Note 12).

According to the amendment in TAS 19, the Group calculated employment benefit in accordance with
the report prepared by the actuarial firm and recognised all actuarial loss and gains in the other
comprehensive statement of profit or loss as of the statement of financial position date.

Provisions, contingent assets and liabilities

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation or a result of past
events, it is probable that on outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

Contingent liabilities are assessed continually to determine whether an outflow of resources comprising
economic benefits has become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow of future economic benefits
will be required for an item previously treated as a contingent liability, a provision is recognized in the
financial statements of the period in which the change in probability occurs except in the extremely rare
circumstances where no reliable estimate can be made.

If it has become virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits will arise, the asset and the related
income are recognised by the Group in the consolidated financial statements of the period in which the
change occurs.
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities
and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities
(Note 22).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they are related to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax

Tax is included in the statement of profit or loss, unless it is related to an operation that is accounted
directly under equity. Otherwise, tax is accounted under equity as well as the related transaction
(Note 22).

Employment termination benefits

The provision for employment termination benefit represents the present value of the estimated total
reserves of the future probable liability of the Group arising from the retirement of the employees
measured in accordance with the Turkish Labour and Press Labour Laws (Note 12).

According to the amendment in TAS 19, the Group calculated employment benefit in accordance with
the report prepared by the actuarial firm and recognised all actuarial loss and gains in the other
comprehensive statement of profit or loss as of the statement of financial position date.

Provisions, contingent assets and liabilities

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation or a result of past
events, it is probable that on outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

Contingent liabilities are assessed continually to determine whether an outflow of resources comprising
economic benefits has become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow of future economic benefits
will be required for an item previously treated as a contingent liability, a provision is recognized in the
financial statements of the period in which the change in probability occurs except in the extremely rare
circumstances where no reliable estimate can be made.

If it has become virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits will arise, the asset and the related
income are recognised by the Group in the consolidated financial statements of the period in which the
change occurs.
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Provisions, contingent assets and liabilities (Continued)

Possible assets or obligations that arise from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of
the Group are not included in financial tables and are treated as contingent assets or liabilities. A contingent
asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefit is probable.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered
from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement
will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably (Note 11).

Revenue recognition

The Group earns electricity sales income by generating electricity with solar and wind power plants and
selling it. Since electricity is a service provided in a series that the client receives and consumes
simultaneously, it is recognised as one performance obligation, point of time and through the output
method (Note 17).

When the Group meets its performance obligation by transferring a product or service that it previously
committed to, the revenue is recognised in consolidated financial statements. When the customer takes
control of an asset, the asset is deemed to have been transferred.

The Group recognises revenue based on the following five principles:

• Identification of customer contracts,
• Identification of performance obligations,
• Determination of the transaction price in the contracts,
• Allocation of transaction price to the performance obligations,
• Recognition of revenue when the performance obligations are satisfied.

If all the below-mentioned conditions are met, Group recognises an agreement made with the client as
revenue:

• Parties to the agreement approved the agreement (in writing, orally or in other means in line with
commercial practices) and committed to meet their respective obligations,

• Group can define the rights of each party concerning the goods or services to be transferred,
• Group can define payment conditions concerning the goods or services to be transferred,
• The agreement is commercial in essence.
• It is possible that the Group will collect money in return for goods and services to be transferred

to the client.

When determining whether the money can be collected, Group only considers its client’s ability and
intention to pay the money in time. At the beginning of the agreement, Group evaluates the goods or
services committed to the client in the agreement and defines each commitment to transfer goods or
services as performance obligation.
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

At the beginning of the agreement, Group evaluates the goods or services committed to the client in the
agreement and defines each commitment to transfer goods or services as performance obligation as
follows:

a) Different goods or service (goods or service packages) or
b) A group of different goods or services which are similar in a great extent and transferred to the

client with the same method.

A group of different goods or services are subject to the same transfer method if the below conditions
are met:

a) Each different product or service that the Group committed to transfer to the client must meet
required conditions and constitute a performance obligation to be met in time and

b) As per the relevant paragraph of the standard, using the same method to measure the progress of
the Group in meeting its obligation to transfer each product or service included in the group to
the client.

The Group signed a Balancing Group agreement to manage imbalances arising in the electricity market
operated by EPİAŞ. Should a positive or negative imbalance arise in the production estimates entered 
in the system the day before the electricity delivery date, the entity managing the Balancing Group can
purchase and sell on behalf of the Group in the intraday market (IDP). As a result of these transactions,
invoices for income or expense of IDP transactions reflected to the Group by EPİAŞ according to the 
monthly Settlement results are then directly reflected to the entity managing the balancing group.
Because the entity managing the Balancing Group bears all other imbalance costs on the system, there
is no other imbalance cost. IDP amounts coming from EPİAŞ are recognised as expense as a result of 
the Settlement reflected by the Group to the entity managing the Balancing Group, and for IDP
receivable amounts are recognised as income since the Group is invoiced by the entity managing the
Balancing Group. Such income and expense transactions are offset in these financial statements.

Related Parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its consolidated financial
statements.

(a) A person or a close member of that person's family is related to a reporting entity if that person,

i. has control or joint control over the reporting entity,
ii. has significant influence over the reporting entity; or,
iii. is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of the

reporting entity.
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

At the beginning of the agreement, Group evaluates the goods or services committed to the client in the
agreement and defines each commitment to transfer goods or services as performance obligation as
follows:

a) Different goods or service (goods or service packages) or
b) A group of different goods or services which are similar in a great extent and transferred to the

client with the same method.

A group of different goods or services are subject to the same transfer method if the below conditions
are met:

a) Each different product or service that the Group committed to transfer to the client must meet
required conditions and constitute a performance obligation to be met in time and

b) As per the relevant paragraph of the standard, using the same method to measure the progress of
the Group in meeting its obligation to transfer each product or service included in the group to
the client.

The Group signed a Balancing Group agreement to manage imbalances arising in the electricity market
operated by EPİAŞ. Should a positive or negative imbalance arise in the production estimates entered 
in the system the day before the electricity delivery date, the entity managing the Balancing Group can
purchase and sell on behalf of the Group in the intraday market (IDP). As a result of these transactions,
invoices for income or expense of IDP transactions reflected to the Group by EPİAŞ according to the 
monthly Settlement results are then directly reflected to the entity managing the balancing group.
Because the entity managing the Balancing Group bears all other imbalance costs on the system, there
is no other imbalance cost. IDP amounts coming from EPİAŞ are recognised as expense as a result of 
the Settlement reflected by the Group to the entity managing the Balancing Group, and for IDP
receivable amounts are recognised as income since the Group is invoiced by the entity managing the
Balancing Group. Such income and expense transactions are offset in these financial statements.

Related Parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its consolidated financial
statements.

(a) A person or a close member of that person's family is related to a reporting entity if that person,

i. has control or joint control over the reporting entity,
ii. has significant influence over the reporting entity; or,
iii. is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of the

reporting entity.
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Related Parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies:

i. The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same company (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others),

ii. One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture
of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member),

iii. Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party,
iv. One entity is a joint venture of a third party and the other entity is an associate of the third

entity,
v. The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the

reporting entity related to the reporting entity, If the reporting entity is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also related to the reporting entity,

vi. The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a),
vii. (a) person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the

key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between a reporting entity
and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

Under the guidance of the explanations mentioned above and also in compliance with TAS 24,
Group directly or indirectly has participation, including any entities under common control; real persons
and/or legal entities that have direct or indirect individual or joint control over the company and their
close family members (relatives up to second-degree) and legal entities having direct or indirect
individual or joint control by them and legal entities having significant effect over the Group or their
key management personnel: Group’s subsidiaries and members of the Board of Directors, key
management personnel and their close family members (relatives up to second-degree) and real persons
and/or legal entities that are directly or indirectly controlled individually or jointly (Note 23).

Statement of cash flows

In the statement of cash flows, cash flows during the period are classified under operating, investing or
financing activities.

The cash flows raised from operating activities indicate cash flows due to the Group’s activities.

The cash flows due to investing activities indicate the Group cash flows that are used for and obtained
from investments (investments in property, plant and equipment and financial investments).

The cash flows due to financing activities indicate the cash obtained from financial arrangements and
used in their repayment.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and bank deposits and the investments that are readily
convertible into cash and highly liquid with three months or less to maturity.
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Earnings/(loss) per share

Earnings/(loss) per share is determined by dividing net income/(loss) by the weighted average number of
shares that have been outstanding during the period concerned.

In Turkey, companies can increase their issued capital by making a pro-rata distribution of shares (“bonus
shares”) to existing shareholders from retained earnings. For the purpose of earnings per share
computations, such bonus share issuances are regarded as issued shares for all of the periods presented
in the consolidated financial statements. Therefore, the weighted average number of shares used in
earnings per share computations are made with regards to the distribution of shares occurred in the prior
years (Note 25).

Segment reporting

The information used by group management to evaluate performance and allocate resources belongs to
the “energy production” section in Turkey, which operates in a single line of work. Therefore, no
segment reporting footnote is presented.

Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the income statement except when
deferred in other comprehensive income as qualifying cash flow hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the statement of profit or
loss, under finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of
profit or loss on a net basis under other income or other expenses.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation
differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets are recognised
under other comprehensive income.

Events after the reporting period

The Group adjusts the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements to reflect the
adjusting events after the balance sheet date. If non-adjusting events after the balance sheet date have
material influences on the economic decisions of users of the financial statements, they are disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements (Note 27).
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Earnings/(loss) per share

Earnings/(loss) per share is determined by dividing net income/(loss) by the weighted average number of
shares that have been outstanding during the period concerned.

In Turkey, companies can increase their issued capital by making a pro-rata distribution of shares (“bonus
shares”) to existing shareholders from retained earnings. For the purpose of earnings per share
computations, such bonus share issuances are regarded as issued shares for all of the periods presented
in the consolidated financial statements. Therefore, the weighted average number of shares used in
earnings per share computations are made with regards to the distribution of shares occurred in the prior
years (Note 25).

Segment reporting

The information used by group management to evaluate performance and allocate resources belongs to
the “energy production” section in Turkey, which operates in a single line of work. Therefore, no
segment reporting footnote is presented.

Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the income statement except when
deferred in other comprehensive income as qualifying cash flow hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the statement of profit or
loss, under finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of
profit or loss on a net basis under other income or other expenses.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation
differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets are recognised
under other comprehensive income.

Events after the reporting period

The Group adjusts the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements to reflect the
adjusting events after the balance sheet date. If non-adjusting events after the balance sheet date have
material influences on the economic decisions of users of the financial statements, they are disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements (Note 27).
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (Continued)

2.1.8 Critical Accounting Estimates, Assumptions and Decisions

The evaluation, expectation and estimation of accounting are made by considering past experience, other
factors and reasonable expectations for situations in the future. These expectations and estimations may
vary even if management made their estimation using their best knowledge. Estimations which can
affect assets and liabilities in the next financial reporting period stated below.

a) Useful lives of tangible and intangible fixed assets

Estimated useful lives of tangible and intangible fixed assets are related to the judgement based on
experience with similar assets. Future financial benefits derived from assets are essentially the benefits
gained from use. However, other factors, such as technical or commercial impairment and wear and tear,
generally reduce the financial benefits of assets. Management evaluates the remaining useful lives of
the assets based on the current technical status of the assets and the estimated period when the assets
will bring benefits to the Group. The following key factors are taken into account: (a) estimated period
of use of the assets, (b) estimated physical wear and tear based on operational factors and the
maintenance schedule, (c) technical or commercial impairment due to changes in market conditions.

c) Classification of value added tax (“VAT”) as long-term and short-term

VAT classified as long-term under non-current assets, is calculated by considering VAT amounts that
will arise as the result of cash flows projected by the Group for a duration longer than one year. In the
event of a 10% increase or decrease of prospective sales income used in calculations related to the long-
term or short-term classification of VAT amounts, VAT amounts classified as long-term as of
31 December 2021 will decrease or increase by TRY10,648,952.

d) Covid-19

In late 2019, Covid-19 (coronavirus) appeared in China, and a limited number of cases were reported to
the World Health Organisation. In the first months of 2020, the virus spread internationally and its
negative impact grew. The Covid-19 pandemic had an impact on supply, manufacturing and demand
globally and a direct effect on many industries.

In this period, the Group’s production continued normally. Measures such as remote work for personnel,
social distancing in the workplace, preventative hygiene practices and online trainings for the staff were
taken. Because the Group sold its electricity at a fixed rate in the scope of YEKDEM in 2021, Covid-19
did not have a significant impact on the Group’s work, electricity generation or liquidity.

e) Deferred Tax

The Group recognises deferred tax assets and liabilities because of the differences between taxable
financial statements and financial statements prepared as per TFRSs published by POA. Deferred tax
assets which are partially or wholly recoverable were projected under the current conditions. In the
assessment, future profit projections, expire dates of unused tax losses and other tax assets and
approaches to be implemented as per tax legislation were considered.
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NOTE 3 - GOODWILL

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Goodwill 27,629,554 27,629,554

27,629,554 27,629,554

The movement table of the goodwill as of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are as follows:

2021 2020

1 January 27,629,554 27,629,554

Addition during the year - -

Closing 27,629,554 27,629,554

NOTE 4 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Banks 158,919,076 66,124,675
- Demand deposits 296,138 191,604
- Time deposits (less than 3 months) 158,622,938 65,933,071

158,919,076 66,124,675

As of 31 December 2021, the Group's overnight time deposits are 0.05% in USD and 0.01% in EUR
(effective interest rate in TRY as of 31 December 2020 is 17.50%, effective interest rate in USD is 1%,
50) and their maturities are less than 3 months. The Group has no blocked deposits as of 31 December
2021 (31 December 2020: None).

Cash and cash equivalents included in the cash flow statements as of 31 December 2021 and 31
December 2020 are as follows:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Cash and cash equivalents 158,919,076 66,124,675
Interest accruals (323) (14,665)

Total 158,918,753 66,110,010
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NOTE 3 - GOODWILL

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Goodwill 27,629,554 27,629,554

27,629,554 27,629,554

The movement table of the goodwill as of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are as follows:

2021 2020

1 January 27,629,554 27,629,554

Addition during the year - -

Closing 27,629,554 27,629,554

NOTE 4 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Banks 158,919,076 66,124,675
- Demand deposits 296,138 191,604
- Time deposits (less than 3 months) 158,622,938 65,933,071

158,919,076 66,124,675

As of 31 December 2021, the Group's overnight time deposits are 0.05% in USD and 0.01% in EUR
(effective interest rate in TRY as of 31 December 2020 is 17.50%, effective interest rate in USD is 1%,
50) and their maturities are less than 3 months. The Group has no blocked deposits as of 31 December
2021 (31 December 2020: None).

Cash and cash equivalents included in the cash flow statements as of 31 December 2021 and 31
December 2020 are as follows:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Cash and cash equivalents 158,919,076 66,124,675
Interest accruals (323) (14,665)

Total 158,918,753 66,110,010
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NOTE 5 - SHORT AND LONG-TERM BORROWINGS

The summary on short and long-term bank borrowings is as follows:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Short-term borrowings - 105,000,000

Total - 105,000,000

Short-term portion of
long-term borrowings: 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Short-term portion of long-term borrowings
from third parties (*) 247,543,945 18,487,631

Other financial liabilities
from related parties - 132,294,672

Lease liabilities from
third parties 1,197,123 1,527,077

Lease liabilities
from related parties 408,733 171,710

249,149,801 152,481,090

(*) TRY72,185,467 of short-term bank loans from third parties consists of debts to participation banks.

Long-term borrowings: 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Long-term bank borrowings
from third parties 384,738,222 279,941,950

Lease liabilities from
third parties 13,635,922 13,101,954

Lease liabilities
from related parties 641,965 109,972

399,016,109 293,153,876

a) Bank borrowings

Details of the bank borrowings as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

31 December 2021
Interest rate Original

per annum (%) currency TRY

Short-term portion of long-term
bank borrowings:

- EUR denominated bank borrowings Libor+0.65-0.80 3,289,224 49,712,999
- TRY denominated bank borrowings 14.55-15.50 197,830,946 197,830,946

Long term bank borrowings:
- EUR denominated bank borrowings Libor+0.65-0.80 25,455,920 384,738,222

Total bank borrowings 632,282,167

GALATA WIND ENERJİ ANONİM ŞİRKETİ 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY - 31 DECEMBER 2021
(Amount expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)

34

NOTE 5 - SHORT AND LONG-TERM BORROWINGS (Continued)

a) Bank borrowings (Continued)

31 December 2020
Interest rate Original

per annum (%) currency TRY

Short-term bank borrowings:
- TRY denominated bank borrowings 8.60-10.40 105,000,000 105,000,000

Short-term portion of long-term
bank borrowings:

- EUR denominated bank borrowings Libor+0.65 1,238,218 11,153,747
- TRY denominated bank borrowings 8.60-10.40 7,333,884 7,333,884

Long term bank borrowings:
- TRY denominated bank borrowings 14.55-15.50 192,890,433 192,890,433
- EUR denominated bank borrowings Libor+0.65 9,663,908 87,051,517

Total bank borrowings 403,429,581

The redemption schedule of long-term bank borrowings as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

In 2 years 48,485,217 192,890,433
In 3 years 48,485,217 21,762,879
In 4 years 48,485,217 10,881,440
More than 5 years 239,282,571 54,407,198

384,738,222 279,941,950

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Financial borrowings with
fixed interest rates 197,830,946 437,518,989

Financial borrowings with
floating interest rates 434,451,221 98,205,264

632,282,167 535,724,253

As of 31 December 2021, the remaining credit limit of the Group in banks is TRY904,976,860
(31 December 2020: TRY975,847,200).

Commitments related to financial liabilities are presented in Note 11.
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NOTE 5 - SHORT AND LONG-TERM BORROWINGS (Continued)

a) Bank borrowings (Continued)

31 December 2020
Interest rate Original

per annum (%) currency TRY

Short-term bank borrowings:
- TRY denominated bank borrowings 8.60-10.40 105,000,000 105,000,000

Short-term portion of long-term
bank borrowings:

- EUR denominated bank borrowings Libor+0.65 1,238,218 11,153,747
- TRY denominated bank borrowings 8.60-10.40 7,333,884 7,333,884

Long term bank borrowings:
- TRY denominated bank borrowings 14.55-15.50 192,890,433 192,890,433
- EUR denominated bank borrowings Libor+0.65 9,663,908 87,051,517

Total bank borrowings 403,429,581

The redemption schedule of long-term bank borrowings as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

In 2 years 48,485,217 192,890,433
In 3 years 48,485,217 21,762,879
In 4 years 48,485,217 10,881,440
More than 5 years 239,282,571 54,407,198

384,738,222 279,941,950

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Financial borrowings with
fixed interest rates 197,830,946 437,518,989

Financial borrowings with
floating interest rates 434,451,221 98,205,264

632,282,167 535,724,253

As of 31 December 2021, the remaining credit limit of the Group in banks is TRY904,976,860
(31 December 2020: TRY975,847,200).

Commitments related to financial liabilities are presented in Note 11.
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NOTE 5 - SHORT AND LONG-TERM BORROWINGS (Continued)

The movement table of the financial borrowings as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

a) Bank borrowings (Continued)

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

1 January 403,429,581 282,509,036
Additions 448,808,024 294,900,000
Payments (374,972,822) (208,324,062)
Interest accruals 5,598,546 8,716,285
Unrealized exchange rate difference 149,418,838 25,628,322

31 December 632,282,167 403,429,581

The reconciliation of the net financial borrowings as of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are
as follows:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) 158,919,076 66,124,675
Short-term borrowings (247,543,945) (255,782,303)
Long-term borrowings (384,738,222) (279,941,950)
Short-term lease liabilities (1,605,856) (1,698,787)
Long-term lease liabilities (14,277,887) (13,211,926)

Net financial (liability)/assets (489,246,834) (484,510,291)

Long Cash and Net
and short-term Lease cash financial

borrowings liabilities equivalent liabilities

1 January 2021 535,724,253 14,910,713 (66,124,675) 484,510,291

Cash flow effect (58,459,470) (2,156,888) (39,669,177) (100,285,535)
Foreign currency adjustment 149,418,838 - (53,124,901) 96,293,937
Interest accruals 5,598,546 3,129,918 (323) 8,728,141

31 December 2021 632,282,167 15,883,743 (158,919,076) 489,246,834
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NOTE 5 - SHORT AND LONG-TERM BORROWINGS (Continued)

a) Bank borrowings (Continued)

Long Cash and Net
and short-term Lease cash financial

borrowings liabilities equivalent liabilities

1 January 2020 389,499,463 13,013,685 (132,678,154) 269,834,994

Cash flow effect 86,575,938 (839,739) 87,061,467 172,797,666
Foreign currency adjustment 50,833,722 40,999 (20,493,323) 30,381,398
Interest accruals 8,815,130 2,695,768 (14,665) 11,496,233

31 December 2020 535,724,253 14,910,713 (66,124,675) 484,510,291

Lease liabilities

Details of the lease liabilities as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

31 December 2021
Interest rate Original

per annum (%) Currency TRY

Short-term portion of long-term lease liabilities:
TRY denominated lease borrowings

from third parties 18.79 - 22.55 1,197,123 1,197,123
TRY denominated lease liabilities

from related parties 18 408,733 408,733

Total short-term portion of long-term
lease liabilities: 1,605,856

Long-term lease liabilities:
TRY denominated lease liabilities

from third parties 18.79 - 22.55 13,635,922 13,635,922
TRY denominated lease liabilities

from related parties 18 641,965 641,965

Total long-term lease liabilities 14,277,887

Total lease liabilities 15,883,743
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NOTE 5 - SHORT AND LONG-TERM BORROWINGS (Continued)

a) Bank borrowings (Continued)

Long Cash and Net
and short-term Lease cash financial

borrowings liabilities equivalent liabilities

1 January 2020 389,499,463 13,013,685 (132,678,154) 269,834,994

Cash flow effect 86,575,938 (839,739) 87,061,467 172,797,666
Foreign currency adjustment 50,833,722 40,999 (20,493,323) 30,381,398
Interest accruals 8,815,130 2,695,768 (14,665) 11,496,233

31 December 2020 535,724,253 14,910,713 (66,124,675) 484,510,291

Lease liabilities

Details of the lease liabilities as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

31 December 2021
Interest rate Original

per annum (%) Currency TRY

Short-term portion of long-term lease liabilities:
TRY denominated lease borrowings

from third parties 18.79 - 22.55 1,197,123 1,197,123
TRY denominated lease liabilities

from related parties 18 408,733 408,733

Total short-term portion of long-term
lease liabilities: 1,605,856

Long-term lease liabilities:
TRY denominated lease liabilities

from third parties 18.79 - 22.55 13,635,922 13,635,922
TRY denominated lease liabilities

from related parties 18 641,965 641,965

Total long-term lease liabilities 14,277,887

Total lease liabilities 15,883,743
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NOTE 5 - SHORT AND LONG-TERM BORROWINGS (Continued)

b) Lease borrowings (Continued)

31 December 2020
Interest rate Original

per annum (%) Currency TRY

Short-term portion of long-term lease liabilities:
TRY denominated lease borrowings

from third parties 22.55 1,527,077 1,527,077
TRY denominated lease liabilities

from related parties 14.35 171,710 171,710

Total short-term portion of long-term
lease liabilities: 1,698,787

Long-term lease liabilities:
TRY denominated lease liabilities

from third parties 22.55 13,101,954 13,101,954
TRY denominated lease liabilities

from related parties 14.35 109,972 109,972

Total long-term lease liabilities 13,211,926

Total lease liabilities 14,910,713

The movement table of the lease liabilities as of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are as
follows:

2021 2020

1 January 14,910,713 13,013,685
Additions 1,736,169 2,332,353
Payments (3,821,786) (3,172,092)
Interest expense (Note 21) 3,129,918 2,695,768
Foreign exchange differences - 40,999
Disposals (-) (71,271) -

31 December 15,883,743 14,910,713

GALATA WIND ENERJİ ANONİM ŞİRKETİ 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY - 31 DECEMBER 2021
(Amount expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)

38

NOTE 5 - SHORT AND LONG-TERM BORROWINGS (Continued)

c) Other financial borrowings

Details of other borrowings as of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are as follows:

Short-term portions of other long-term borrowings

31 December 2021
Interest rate Original

(%) currency TRY

Short-term portions of other
long-term borrowings to related parties:

Other borrowings in USD - - -

Total -

Other long-term borrowings

31 December 2020
Interest rate Original

(%) currency TRY

Short-term portions of other
long-term borrowings to related parties:

Other borrowings in USD 4.50 18,022,570 132,294,672

Total 132,294,672

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

1 January 132,294,672 106,990,427
Cash inflow from borrowings - -
Payments (132,294,672) -
Interest accrual - 98,845
Unrealized exchange rate difference - 25,205,400

Balance as of 31 December - 132,294,672
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NOTE 5 - SHORT AND LONG-TERM BORROWINGS (Continued)

c) Other financial borrowings

Details of other borrowings as of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are as follows:

Short-term portions of other long-term borrowings

31 December 2021
Interest rate Original

(%) currency TRY

Short-term portions of other
long-term borrowings to related parties:

Other borrowings in USD - - -

Total -

Other long-term borrowings

31 December 2020
Interest rate Original

(%) currency TRY

Short-term portions of other
long-term borrowings to related parties:

Other borrowings in USD 4.50 18,022,570 132,294,672

Total 132,294,672

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

1 January 132,294,672 106,990,427
Cash inflow from borrowings - -
Payments (132,294,672) -
Interest accrual - 98,845
Unrealized exchange rate difference - 25,205,400

Balance as of 31 December - 132,294,672
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NOTE 6 - TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

Short-term trade receivables

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Trade receivables from third parties 84,290,138 35,325,421
Trade receivables from related parties 543,271 -
Provision for doubtful receivables (-) (511,192) (515,979)

84,322,217 34,809,442

The movement of provision for doubtful receivables during the current year is as follows:

2021 2020

Balances as of 1 January (515,979) (692,260)

Provisions no longer required 4,787 176,281

Closing balance as of 31 December (511,192) (515,979)

The average maturity of short-term trade receivables is 27 days as of 31 December 2021
(31 December 2020: 27 days).

Short-term trade payables

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Trade payables to third parties 8,786,647 5,620,230
Trade payables to related parties 87,147 1,430,162

8,873,794 7,050,392

The average maturity of trade payables is 26 days as of 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: 26).
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NOTE 7 - OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

Short-term other receivables from third parties

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Receivables from tax authority 189,676 205,892
Other receivables 10,815 -

200,491 205,892

Long-term other receivables from third parties

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Other receivables (*) 280,356 354,978

280,356 354,978

Other short-term payables to third parties

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Taxes and funds payable 1,601,866 1,236,541
Deposits and guarantees received 10,000 1,354,786
Other short-term payables 16,316 69,217

1,628,182 2,660,544
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280,356 354,978

Other short-term payables to third parties

31 December 2021 31 December 2020
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NOTE 8 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements of the property, plant and equipment for the periods ended 31 December 2021 and
31 December 2020 are as follows:

1 January 2021 Additions Transfers Disposals 31 December 2021

Cost
Land and land improvements 21,362,727 6,337,328 91,598 - 27,791,653
Buildings 6,256,207 - 1,198,729 - 7,454,936
Wind turbines, transformer and switchyard 850,977,963 200,422 157,693,862 (645,000) 1,008,227,247
Motor vehicles 486,834 3,370 - - 490,204
Furniture and fixtures 24,871,683 1,202,369 17,821 - 26,091,873
Construction in progress 98,429,097 80,135,056 (162,216,506) - 16,347,647
Leasehold improvements 3,270,026 - 1,308,011 - 4,578,037
Other fixed assets 20,382 - - - 20,382

Total cost 1,005,674,919 87,878,545 (1,906,485) (645,000) 1,091,001,979

Accumulated depreciation
Land and land improvements (464,460) (684,261) - - (1,148,721)
Buildings (664,410) (154,870) - - (819,280)
Wind turbines, transformer and switchyard (149,496,222) (51,359,273) - 16,125 (200,839,370)
Motor vehicles (263,413) (98,551) - - (361,964)
Furniture and fixtures (5,103,848) (1,930,075) - - (7,033,923)
Leasehold improvements (185) (93,429) - - (93,614)
Other fixed assets (20,382) - - - (20,382)

Total accumulated
depreciation (156,012,920) (54,320,459) - 16,125 (210,317,254)

Net book value 849,661,999 880,684,725

1 January 2020 Additions Transfers Disposals 31 December 2020

Cost
Land and land improvements 3,107,076 1,176,564 17,079,087 - 21,362,727
Buildings 3,185,074 - 3,071,133 - 6,256,207
Wind turbines, transformer and switchyard 465,846,051 - 385,131,912 - 850,977,963
Motor vehicles 476,750 10,084 - - 486,834
Furniture and fixtures 24,336,905 239,223 295,555 - 24,871,683
Construction in progress 19,235,480 490,622,725 (411,426,058) (3,050) 98,429,097
Leasehold improvements - - 3,270,026 - 3,270,026
Other fixed assets 20,382 - - - 20,382

Total cost 516,207,718 492,048,596 (2,578,345) (3,050) 1,005,674,919

Accumulated depreciation
Land and land improvements (232,349) (232,111) - - (464,460)
Buildings (596,511) (67,899) - - (664,410)
Wind turbines, transformer and switchyard (125,489,364) (24,006,858) - - (149,496,222)
Motor vehicles (168,902) (94,511) - - (263,413)
Furniture and fixtures (3,302,539) (1,801,309) - - (5,103,848)
Leasehold improvements - (185) - - (185)
Other fixed assets (20,382) - - - (20,382)

Total accumulated
depreciation (129,810,047) (26,202,873) - - (156,012,920)

Net book value 386,397,671 849,661,999

As of 31 December 2021, capitalized borrowing cost in property, plant and equipment amount is
TRY2,688,495 (31 December 2020: TRY20,033,730).

As of 31 December 2021, there is no mortgage on property, plant and equipment (31 December 2020:
None). There is no property, plant and equipment acquired by financial leasing.
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NOTE 9 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Movements of the intangible assets for the periods ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

1 January 2021 Additions Transfers Disposals 31 December 2021

Cost
Rights (*) 1,304,085 1,712 1,906,485 (1,337,911) 1,874,371
Licenses 357,623,345 317,097 - - 357,940,442

Total cost 358,927,430 318,809 1,906,485 (1,337,911) 359,814,813

Accumulated amortization
Rights (1,080,849) (99,063) - 116,817 (1,063,095)
Licenses (65,790,025) (7,647,414) - - (73,437,439)

Total accumulated amortization (66,870,874) (7,746,477) - 116,817 (74,500,534)

Net book value 292,056,556 285,314,279

(*) As of 31 December 2021, there are 530,891 tons of carbon sales rights amounting to TRY1,109,433.

1 January 2020 Additions Transfers Disposals 31 December 2020

Cost
Rights 1,681,397 52,115 - (429,427) 1,304,085
Licenses 355,045,000 - 2,578,345 - 357,623,345

Total cost 356,726,397 52,115 2,578,345 (429,427) 358,927,430

Accumulated amortization
Rights (1,004,339) (96,256) - 19,746 (1,080,849)
Licenses (58,142,611) (7,647,414) - - (65,790,025)

Total accumulated amortization (59,146,950) (7,743,670) - 19,746 (66,870,874)

Net book value 297,579,447 292,056,556
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Movements of the intangible assets for the periods ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

1 January 2021 Additions Transfers Disposals 31 December 2021

Cost
Rights (*) 1,304,085 1,712 1,906,485 (1,337,911) 1,874,371
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NOTE 10 - RIGHT OF USE ASSETS

1 January 31 December
2021 Additions Disposals 2021

Cost:
Land 12,675,663 - - 12,675,663
Motor vehicles 579,193 1,595,026 (184,001) 1,990,218
Offices 267,592 141,143 - 408,735

13,522,448 1,736,169 (184,001) 15,074,616

1 January 31 December
2021 Additions Disposals 2021

Accumulated amortization:
Land (572,634) (332,606) - (905,240)
Motor vehicles (300,903) (621,276) 112,730 (809,449)
Offices (267,592) (141,143) - (408,735)

(1,141,129) (1,095,025) 112,730 (2,123,424)

Net book value 12,381,319 12,951,192

1 January 31 December
2020 Additions Disposals 2020

Cost:
Land 10,826,055 1,849,608 - 12,675,663
Motor vehicles 263,636 333,340 (17,783) 579,193
Offices 118,187 149,405 - 267,592

11,207,878 2,332,353 (17,783) 13,522,448

1 January 31 December
2020 Additions Disposals 2020

Accumulated amortization:
Land (284,682) (287,952) - (572,634)
Motor vehicles (145,453) (160,785) 5,335 (300,903)
Offices (118,187) (149,405) - (267,592)

(548,322) (598,142) 5,335 (1,141,129)

Net book value 10,659,556 12,381,319
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NOTES 11 - PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

a) Other short-term provisions:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

EMRA claim provision 4,370,448 -
Provision for lawsuit (*) 615,505 282,290

4,985,953 282,290

b) Other long-term provisions:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

EMRA claim provision (*) 6,036,387 -

6,036,387 -

Energy Market Regulation Authority (“EMRA”) claim provision

Based on the Investigation Report of EMRA Audit Department dated 31 May 2021 and report numbered
381, EMRA board resolutions dated 30 December 2021 numbered 10696-30, 10696-31, 10696-32,
10696-33 regarding our Şah WPP and Mersin WPP were applied on the grounds that extra YEKDEM 
income were obtained in violation of the legislation by exceeding the maximum production amount that
can be realized hourly with the installed power (electrical) registered and temporarily accepted in our
licenses despite the necessary defenses made in due time by us regarding this report.

Pursuant to the Debt Payment Agreement signed between EPİAŞ and Galata Wind, which was 
commissioned by EMRA on collection, on 11 February 2022, the Group is obliged to pay a principal
amount of TRY9,390,570, a default interest of TRY1,016,265, VAT of TRY1,873,230 resulting a total
claim amount of TRY12,280,065. The amount will be collected in 30 installments until 17 June 2024
by deducting from the settlement amounts of the relevant months as a retrospective correction item.

As of 31 December 2021, the Group has made a total provision of TRY10,406,835 for the related
amount. The claims against the Group in the announced decisions are not accepted by the Group
management and a legal process will be applied regarding the cancellation of the decision by using all
legal rights.
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NOTES 11 - PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

a) Other short-term provisions:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

EMRA claim provision 4,370,448 -
Provision for lawsuit (*) 615,505 282,290

4,985,953 282,290

b) Other long-term provisions:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

EMRA claim provision (*) 6,036,387 -

6,036,387 -

Energy Market Regulation Authority (“EMRA”) claim provision

Based on the Investigation Report of EMRA Audit Department dated 31 May 2021 and report numbered
381, EMRA board resolutions dated 30 December 2021 numbered 10696-30, 10696-31, 10696-32,
10696-33 regarding our Şah WPP and Mersin WPP were applied on the grounds that extra YEKDEM 
income were obtained in violation of the legislation by exceeding the maximum production amount that
can be realized hourly with the installed power (electrical) registered and temporarily accepted in our
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commissioned by EMRA on collection, on 11 February 2022, the Group is obliged to pay a principal
amount of TRY9,390,570, a default interest of TRY1,016,265, VAT of TRY1,873,230 resulting a total
claim amount of TRY12,280,065. The amount will be collected in 30 installments until 17 June 2024
by deducting from the settlement amounts of the relevant months as a retrospective correction item.

As of 31 December 2021, the Group has made a total provision of TRY10,406,835 for the related
amount. The claims against the Group in the announced decisions are not accepted by the Group
management and a legal process will be applied regarding the cancellation of the decision by using all
legal rights.
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NOTES 11 - PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued)

b) Other long-term provisions: (Continued)

Movement of lawsuit provisions for the year end periods ended 31 December 2021 and
31 December 2020 is as follows:

2021 2020

1 January 282,290 709,855
Additions in the current period 10,740,050 -
Provisions no longer required - (427,565)

31 December 11,022,340 282,290

c) Conditional Liabilities, Guarantee, Pledge, Mortgage, Bail and other

Collateral, Pledge and Mortgage (“CPM”) positions as of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 is
presented below:

31 December 2021 TRY equivalent TRY EUR

A. GPM’s given for companies own legal personality
- Guarantee 161,067,130 15,007,791 9,663,908
- Pledge - - -
- Mortgage - - -

B. GPM’s given on behalf of fully consolidated companies - - -
C. GPM’s given for continuation of its economic activities on-

behalf of third parties - - -
D. Total amount of other GPM’s - - -

i. Total amount of GPM’s given on behalf of the majority shareholder
ii. Total amount of GPM’s given to on behalf of other group companies- - - -

which are not companies which are not in scope of B and C
iii. Total amount of GPM’s given on behalf of third parties- - - -

which are not in scope of C - - -

Total 161,067,130 15,007,791 9,663,908

31 December 2020 TRY equivalent TRY EUR

A. GPM’s given for companies own legal personality
- Guarantee 114,053,674 16,120,718 10,871,897
- Pledge - - -
- Mortgage - - -

B. GPM’s given on behalf of fully consolidated companies - - -
C. GPM’s given for continuation of its economic activities on

behalf of third parties - - -
D. Total amount of other GPM’s - - -

i. Total amount of GPM’s given on behalf of the majority shareholder - - -
ii. Total amount of GPM’s given to on behalf of other group companies

which are not companies which are not in scope of B and C - - -
iii. Total amount of GPM’s given on behalf of third parties

which are not in scope of C - - -

Total 114,053,674 16,120,718 10,871,897

(1) Represents the guarantee letters provided. The Group provided guarantee letters to the Energy Market Regulation
Authority and financial institutions. The details of these guarantee letters are as follows:

The ratio of other CPMs given by the Group to the Group's equity is 0% as of 31 December 2021
(31 December 2020: 0%).
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NOTES 11 - PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued)

c) Conditional Liabilities, Guarantee, Pledge, Mortgage, Bail and other (Continued)

31 December 2021 31 December 2020
Original TRY Original TRY

Currency equivalent Currency equivalent

Letter of guarantees - TRY 15,007,791 15,007,791 16,120,718 16,120,718
Letter of guarantees - EUR 9,663,908 146,059,339 10,871,897 97,932,956

Total 161,067,130 114,053,674

d) Letters of guarantee and collateral bills received

The letters of guarantee and collateral bills received consist of guarantee letters received from the
responsible entity for imbalance and subcontractors related to Taşpınar WPP. The details of the Group’s 
letters of guarantee and collateral bills are as follows:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020
Original TRY Original TRY

Currency equivalent Currency equivalent

Letter of guarantees - TRY 20,000,000 20,000,000 24,452,000 24,452,000
Guarantee notes - TRY 40,000 40,000 30,000 30,000

Total 20,040,000 24,482,000

NOTES 12 - PROVISION FOR EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Short-term provision for employee benefits:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Provision for unused vacation 1,228,708 684,972

1,228,708 684,972

The movements of the provisions for the unused vacations is as follows:

2021 2020

Provision as of 1 January 684,972 523,541

Period cost 588,802 169,062
Payment during the current period (45,066) (7,631)

Provision as of 31 December 1,228,708 684,972
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NOTES 11 - PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued)

c) Conditional Liabilities, Guarantee, Pledge, Mortgage, Bail and other (Continued)

31 December 2021 31 December 2020
Original TRY Original TRY

Currency equivalent Currency equivalent
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NOTES 12 - PROVISION FOR EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Continued)

Long-term provision for employee benefits:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Provisions for employment
termination benefits 1,692,950 896,894

1,692,950 896,894

Except for the following legal obligations of the Group in Turkey. The Group does not have any pension
commitments.

Under the Turkish Labour Law, the Group is required to pay termination benefits to each employee who
has completed one year of service and whose employment is terminated without due cause, or who is
called up for military service, dies and achieves the retirement age. As of 31 December 2021, the
maximum amount payable equivalent to one month of salary is TRY8,284.51 (31 December 2020:
TRY7,117.17) for each year of service. The retirement pay provision ceiling TRY10,848.59 (exact)
which is effective from 1 January 2022, is taken into consideration in the calculation of provision for
employment termination benefits (31 December 2020: TRY7,638.96 effective from 1 January 2021).

Provision for employment termination benefits is calculated by estimating the present value of the future
probable obligation arising from the retirement of the employees of the Group.

The standard TAS 19 “Employee Benefits” envisages the development of actuarial valuation methods
in order to estimate the provision of severance pay. Accordingly, the following actuary estimations were
used in the calculation of the provision.

The main assumption is that the maximum liability amount for each year of service will increase in
parallel with inflation. Therefore, the discount rate applied represents the expected real rate after
adjusting for the anticipated effects of future inflation. Therefore, in the accompanying financial
statements as of 31 December 2021, the provisions are calculated by estimating the present value of the
future probable obligation arising from the retirement of the employees.

Discount rate applied as 20.22% (1) (31 December 2020: 11.80%), inflation rate is applied as 15.9%
(31 December 2020: 7.43%) and increase in wages applied as 15.90% (31 December 2020: %7.43) in the
calculation (2).

Age of retirement is based on considering the Group’s historical average age of retirement.

(1) The gross discount rate used for calculation of the severance payment liability is determined by
considering Government Bond with 10 years maturity compound interest rate and the swap rates
with 10-15 years maturity. Based on this, the net discount rate was determined as 3.73%
(31 December 2020: %4.07).

(2) Calculation of employee termination benefits are determined by considering the 2021 inflation rate
reports of the Central Bank of Republic of Turkey.
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NOTES 12 - PROVISION FOR EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Continued)

The movement of provision for employment termination benefits within the period is as follows:

2021 2020

Provision as of 1 January 896,894 748,623

Service cost 233,117 84,829
Interest cost 109,859 63,442
Termination benefits paid (131,678) -
Loss due to payment/reducing benefits/dismissal 5,337 -
Actuarial gain/(loss) 579,421 -

Provision as of 31 December 1,692,950 896,894

Payables related to employee benefits:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Payables to personnel 1,012,935 1,246,785
Social security premiums payable 236,369 151,515

1,249,304 1,398,300

NOTES 13 - PREPAID EXPENSES

Short-term prepaid expenses

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Prepaid expenses (*) 6,769,361 2,106,475
Advances given 84,000 113,150

6,853,361 2,219,625

Long-term prepaid expenses

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Prepaid expenses (*) 18,745,061 -
Advances given 67,493 219,949

18,812,554 219,949

(*) TRY2,271.773 in short-term prepaid expenses and TRY18.504.056 in long-term prepaid expenses of the
related balances include prepaid insurance fees for a 10-year-term new loan amounting to EUR 20.000.000
used from abroad in 2021.



Consolidated Financial Information and Footnotes

173

GALATA WIND ENERJİ ANONİM ŞİRKETİ 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY - 31 DECEMBER 2021
(Amount expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)

48

NOTES 12 - PROVISION FOR EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Continued)

The movement of provision for employment termination benefits within the period is as follows:
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31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Prepaid expenses (*) 18,745,061 -
Advances given 67,493 219,949

18,812,554 219,949

(*) TRY2,271.773 in short-term prepaid expenses and TRY18.504.056 in long-term prepaid expenses of the
related balances include prepaid insurance fees for a 10-year-term new loan amounting to EUR 20.000.000
used from abroad in 2021.
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NOTE 14 - OTHER ASSETS

Other current assets

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Value added tax (“VAT”) (*) 137,871,497 61,810,222
Job advances 64,109 63,967
Other 25,001 6,381

137,960,607 61,880,570

Other non-current assets

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Value added tax (“VAT”) (*) 106,489,523 244,995,770

106,489,523 244,995,770

(*) According to the merger transaction, which was approved at the Extraordinary General Assembly meeting
dated 26 July 2019 and registered on 30 July 2019; the Group took over D Yapım Reklamcılık ve Dağıtım 
A.Ş. ("D Yapım") in accordance with the relevant articles of Turkish Commercial Code and Corporate Tax 
Law. VAT amounts in other current and other non-current assets comprise of VAT receivables that D
Yapım was charged but not deducted until the merger date. VAT amount which was classified as long-term 
under other non-current assets, is calculated by taking into account the VAT amounts that will arise as a
result of the cash flows projected by the Group over a one-year term.
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NOTE 16 - EQUITY

Paid Capital:

The ultimate shareholders of the Group are Aydın Doğan and Doğan Family (Işıl Doğan, Arzuhan 
Yalçındağ, Vuslat Sabancı, Hanzade V. Doğan Boyner and Y. Begümhan Doğan Faralyalı). The 
shareholders of the Group and the historical values of shares in equity at 31 December 2021 and
31 December 2020 are as follows:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020
Effective Effective

Ownership Ownership
Shareholder Ratio (%) Amount Ratio (%) Amount

Doğan Şirketler Grubu Holding A.Ş.  73.12 391,054,018 - -
Traded portion at Borsa Istanbul (1) 26.88 143,737,440 - -
Doğan Enerji Yatırımları  
   Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (*) - - 100.00 534,791,458

Nominal equity 100.00 534,791,458 100.00 534,791,458

(1) Galata Wind is subject to the Capital Markets Legislation and the Capital Markets Board (“CMB”) regulations; its
shares are traded on Borsa İstanbul A.Ş. (“Borsa Istanbul”) as of 22 April 2021. Pursuant to the CMB's Principle 
Decision dated 30 October 2014 and numbered 31/1059, as per the Principle Decision dated 23 July 2010 and numbered
21/655; Central Registry Agency Inc. (“MKK”) according to the records; the shares representing 26.86% of Galata
Wind's capital are considered to be in circulation as of 24 February 2022.

It has been approved that the acquisition of Doğan Enerji Yatırımları Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş., in which 
Doğan Şirketler Grubu Holding A.Ş. has a 100% direct share, by merging in a simplified manner with 
the decision of the Capital Markets Board dated 31 December 2020 and numbered 79/1618, the merger
was registered on March 2, 2021.

The Group’s authorized share capital consist of 53,479,145,765 shares with a nominal value of TRY0.01
per share (31 December 2020: 53,479,145,765 shares).

Share premiums/(discounts)

This account represents the differences that occur when the carrying amount of the net assets of the
entities, acquired in a business combination transaction involving entities under common control,
exceeds the transferred price at the date of the merger.

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Share premiums 4,000,000 4,000,000

Total 4,000,000 4,000,000
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NOTE 16 - EQUITY (Continued)

Restricted reserves

Restricted reserves are reserved from the prior period profit due to legal or contractual obligations or for
certain purposes other than the profit distribution (for example, to obtain the tax advantage of gain on sale
of associates). Restricted reserves are in the scope of solo legal records in accordance with TCC and TPL.

General Statutory Legal Reserves are reserved in accordance with the Article 519 of Turkish Commercial
Code and used in accordance with the principles set out in this article. The afore-mentioned amounts
should be classified in “Restricted Reserves” in accordance with the TAS.

The details of restricted reserves as of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are as follows:

Restricted reserves 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

General legal reserves 25,773,899 15,491,356

Total 25,773,899 15,491,356

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income and Losses that will not be Reclassified in Profit or Loss

The Group’s actuarial losses of defined benefit plans that aren’t reclassified in accumulated other
comprehensive income and expenses are summarized below:

i. Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit plans

Provision for employment termination benefits is calculated by estimating the present value of the future
probable obligation arising from the retirement of the employees of the Group. The Group recognised
all actuarial gains and losses in other comprehensive income. Remeasurement gain on defined benefit
plans amounting to TRY21,037 is accounted under shareholders’ equity (31 December 2020:
TRY484,574).

Capital Reserves and Retained Earnings

Subsequent to the first inflation adjusted financial statements, equity items such as; “Capital, Emission
Premiums, General Statutory Legal Reserves, Statutory Reserves, Special Reserves and Extraordinary
Reserves” are carried at carrying value in the statement of financial position and their adjusted values
based on inflation are collectively presented in equity accounts group.

In accordance with the CMB regulations, “Issued capital”, “Restricted Reserves” and “Share Premiums”
shall be carried at their statutory amounts. The valuation differences resulted due to the inflation
adjustment shall be disclosed as follows:

- If the difference is due to the “Issued Capital” and has not yet been transferred to capital, it should
be classified under “Capital adjustment difference”;

- If the difference is due to “Restricted Reserves” and “Share Premium” and the amount has not
been subject to dividend distribution or capital increase yet, it shall be classified under “Retained
Earnings/(Losses)”.

Other equity items are carried at the amounts valued in accordance with TAS.

Capital adjustment differences have no other use than to be included to the share capital.
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NOTE 16 - EQUITY (Continued)

Restricted reserves

Restricted reserves are reserved from the prior period profit due to legal or contractual obligations or for
certain purposes other than the profit distribution (for example, to obtain the tax advantage of gain on sale
of associates). Restricted reserves are in the scope of solo legal records in accordance with TCC and TPL.

General Statutory Legal Reserves are reserved in accordance with the Article 519 of Turkish Commercial
Code and used in accordance with the principles set out in this article. The afore-mentioned amounts
should be classified in “Restricted Reserves” in accordance with the TAS.

The details of restricted reserves as of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are as follows:

Restricted reserves 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

General legal reserves 25,773,899 15,491,356

Total 25,773,899 15,491,356

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income and Losses that will not be Reclassified in Profit or Loss

The Group’s actuarial losses of defined benefit plans that aren’t reclassified in accumulated other
comprehensive income and expenses are summarized below:

i. Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit plans

Provision for employment termination benefits is calculated by estimating the present value of the future
probable obligation arising from the retirement of the employees of the Group. The Group recognised
all actuarial gains and losses in other comprehensive income. Remeasurement gain on defined benefit
plans amounting to TRY21,037 is accounted under shareholders’ equity (31 December 2020:
TRY484,574).

Capital Reserves and Retained Earnings

Subsequent to the first inflation adjusted financial statements, equity items such as; “Capital, Emission
Premiums, General Statutory Legal Reserves, Statutory Reserves, Special Reserves and Extraordinary
Reserves” are carried at carrying value in the statement of financial position and their adjusted values
based on inflation are collectively presented in equity accounts group.

In accordance with the CMB regulations, “Issued capital”, “Restricted Reserves” and “Share Premiums”
shall be carried at their statutory amounts. The valuation differences resulted due to the inflation
adjustment shall be disclosed as follows:

- If the difference is due to the “Issued Capital” and has not yet been transferred to capital, it should
be classified under “Capital adjustment difference”;

- If the difference is due to “Restricted Reserves” and “Share Premium” and the amount has not
been subject to dividend distribution or capital increase yet, it shall be classified under “Retained
Earnings/(Losses)”.

Other equity items are carried at the amounts valued in accordance with TAS.

Capital adjustment differences have no other use than to be included to the share capital.
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NOTE 16 - EQUITY (Continued)

Dividend Distribution

The Group decides to distribute dividend and makes dividend distribution in accordance with the
Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”), Tax Legislations; other related statutory legislation and Articles of
Association and Resolutions of General Assembly.

At the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting of the Group held on February 19, 2021; Taking into
account the relevant provisions of the Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”), Corporate Tax, Income Tax
and other relevant legislation and the relevant provisions of the Group's Articles of Association;

According to the audited consolidated financial statements for the period 1 January 2020 - 31 December
2020 that are prepared in accordance with the Turkish Accounting Standards (“TAS”) and Turkish
Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”) published by the Public Oversight, Accounting and Auditing
Standards Board (POA), when “Deferred Tax Expense” and “Tax Expense for the Period” are
considered together, a “Net Profit for the Period” amounting to TRY156,356,542 was observed. After
the “General Legal Reserve” amounting to TRY4,842,906.10 was deducted, a “Net Distributable Period
Profit” of TRY151,513,635.89 was calculated, which is in line with paragraph (1) of Article 519 of the
TCC,

In the Legal Statutory Records (“Statutory Records”) for the period 1 January 2020 - 31 December 2020,
kept as per tax legislation and prepared as per the Uniform Chart of Accounts issued by the Republic of
Turkey Ministry of Finance, after “Tax Expense for the Period” was allocated, a “Net Period Profit” of
TRY96,858,122.30 was calculated; after the “General Legal Reserve” amounting to TRY4,842,906.10
was deducted, a “Net Distributable Period Profit” amounting to TRY92,015,215.90 was observed which
was calculated as per paragraph (1) of Article 519 of the TCC,

In the Legal Statutory Records, TRY53,308,657.45 in the "Retained Earnings" account is taken into the
"Extraordinary Reserves Account" and the total "Extraordinary Reserves Account" is
TRY145,934,182.12,

First dividend distribution of 5% of the issued capital and amounting to TRY26,739,572.88 from the
"Net Distributable Profit for the Year 2020" amounting to TRY92,015,215.90 included in the legal
accounting records,

Pursuant to subparagraph (c) of the 2nd paragraph of Article 519 of the TCC, after the "General Legal
Reserves" amounting to TRY5,439,636.92 is set aside, the whole of the net distributable profit for the
period is subject to distribution and the II. to distribute dividends,

In addition, from the amount in the "Extraordinary Reserves" account, TRY13,424,421.02, 18.70% of
the "Issued Capital", net/gross TRY100,000,000 profit will be distributed and the dividend distribution
will start on 22 February 2021,

Within the framework of POA regulations, after deducting the legal provisions mentioned above
according to the consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with TAS and TFRS, it was
unanimously accepted that the undistributed profits amounting to TRY44,187,593.17 would be included
in the "Retained Years Profits or Losses" account.
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NOTE 17 - REVENUE AND COST OF SALES

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Electricity sales from wind energy 457,260,206 281,353,170
Electricity sales from solar energy 61,973,256 50,738,608
Carbon emission certificate right sales revenue (*) 18,278,665 2,793,664
Roof solar system installation 2,271,418 -
Other 442,732 316,512

Sales revenue 540,226,277 335,201,954

(*) Wind and solar power plants generate electricity from renewable energy resources. Because these plants do
not emit greenhouse gases, they obtain carbon emission certificate rights. The relevant balance arises from
sales of certification rights acquired.

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

General production expenses (64,768,263) (45,538,952)
Repair and maintenance expenses (35,338,802) (23,126,388)
Distribution and system usage fees (*) (29,429,461) (22,412,564)

Amortization and depreciation expense (62,366,765) (34,304,678)
Insurance expenses (4,602,988) (2,719,185)
Consultancy expenses (3,231,189) (350,961)
Security expenses (3,120,706) (2,326,777)
Personnel expenses (3,036,517) (2,844,292)
Roof solar system installation expense (1,496,212) -
Other (2,744,109) (620,812)

Cost of sales (145,366,749) (88,705,657)

Gross profit 394,859,528 246,496,297

(*) These are the distribution and transmission system usage fees paid depending on the annual generation
amount over the tariffs determined by EMRA.



Consolidated Financial Information and Footnotes

179

GALATA WIND ENERJİ ANONİM ŞİRKETİ 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY - 31 DECEMBER 2021
(Amount expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)

54

NOTE 17 - REVENUE AND COST OF SALES

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Electricity sales from wind energy 457,260,206 281,353,170
Electricity sales from solar energy 61,973,256 50,738,608
Carbon emission certificate right sales revenue (*) 18,278,665 2,793,664
Roof solar system installation 2,271,418 -
Other 442,732 316,512

Sales revenue 540,226,277 335,201,954

(*) Wind and solar power plants generate electricity from renewable energy resources. Because these plants do
not emit greenhouse gases, they obtain carbon emission certificate rights. The relevant balance arises from
sales of certification rights acquired.

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

General production expenses (64,768,263) (45,538,952)
Repair and maintenance expenses (35,338,802) (23,126,388)
Distribution and system usage fees (*) (29,429,461) (22,412,564)

Amortization and depreciation expense (62,366,765) (34,304,678)
Insurance expenses (4,602,988) (2,719,185)
Consultancy expenses (3,231,189) (350,961)
Security expenses (3,120,706) (2,326,777)
Personnel expenses (3,036,517) (2,844,292)
Roof solar system installation expense (1,496,212) -
Other (2,744,109) (620,812)

Cost of sales (145,366,749) (88,705,657)

Gross profit 394,859,528 246,496,297

(*) These are the distribution and transmission system usage fees paid depending on the annual generation
amount over the tariffs determined by EMRA.
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NOTE 18 - OPERATING EXPENSES

a) General Administrative Expenses

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Personnel expenses 11,827,915 5,000,884
Consultancy expenses (*) 9,133,405 7,433,104
Rent expenses 615,090 513,238
Depreciation and amortization expenses 570,849 240,007
Various taxes 334,554 166,764
Transportation expenses 131,937 66,888
Other 1,305,070 722,969

23,918,820 14,143,854

(*) For the period ended 31 December 2021, the majority of the amounts is due to IPO expenses and other
advisory services.

b) Marketing Expenses

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Consulting expenses 3,094,152 829,775
Personnel expenses 2,405,215 1,709,038
Depreciation and amortization expenses 224,347 108,009
Transportation expenses 64,602 44,192
Other 246,196 409,508

6,034,512 3,100,522

NOTE 19 - EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses are presented functionally for the periods ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020,
the details are given in Note 17 and Note 18.

Fees for Services Received from Independent Auditor/Independent Audit Firms

The Group’s disclosure regarding the fees for the services received from the independent audit firm,
which is based on the announcement of POA dated August 19, 2021, the preparation principles of which
are based on the Board Decision published in the Official Gazette on March 30,2021, are as follows;

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Audit fees 378,850 111,977

378,850 111,977
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NOTE 20 - OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

a) Other income from operating activities

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Foreign exchange loss
from operating activities 53,124,901 41,928,877

Interest income 2,800,067 5,960,605
Damage compensation income 2,197,796 -
Provision reversals 4,705 427,565
Other 1,840,318 1,260,600

59,967,787 49,577,647

b) Other expenses from operating activities

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

EMRA claim provision expense 10,406,835 -
Foreign exchange loss

from operating activities 8,028,707 -
Donation and grants (*) 449,933 4,446,757
Fines paid 333,215 -
Other 319,126 75,612

19,537,816 4,522,369

(*)  TRY4,000,000 of the amount in 2020 is related to the donation made to Aydın Doğan Vakfı. 

NOTE 21 - FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES, NET

a) Financial income

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Foreign exchange loss/(gain)
from bank borrowings, net 172,408,744 25,506,011

Interest expense on bank borrowings 39,618,971 15,733,114
Interest expense related to

lease liabilities 3,129,918 2,695,768
Bank commission expenses 1,914,320 1,463,333
Derivative transaction expense - 27,751,318
Other (*) 3,584,302 2,443,054

220,656,255 75,592,598

(*) Other financing expenses mainly include BITT, KKDF and money transfer expenses.
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NOTE 20 - OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

a) Other income from operating activities

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Foreign exchange loss
from operating activities 53,124,901 41,928,877

Interest income 2,800,067 5,960,605
Damage compensation income 2,197,796 -
Provision reversals 4,705 427,565
Other 1,840,318 1,260,600

59,967,787 49,577,647

b) Other expenses from operating activities

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

EMRA claim provision expense 10,406,835 -
Foreign exchange loss

from operating activities 8,028,707 -
Donation and grants (*) 449,933 4,446,757
Fines paid 333,215 -
Other 319,126 75,612

19,537,816 4,522,369

(*)  TRY4,000,000 of the amount in 2020 is related to the donation made to Aydın Doğan Vakfı. 

NOTE 21 - FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES, NET

a) Financial income

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Foreign exchange loss/(gain)
from bank borrowings, net 172,408,744 25,506,011

Interest expense on bank borrowings 39,618,971 15,733,114
Interest expense related to

lease liabilities 3,129,918 2,695,768
Bank commission expenses 1,914,320 1,463,333
Derivative transaction expense - 27,751,318
Other (*) 3,584,302 2,443,054

220,656,255 75,592,598

(*) Other financing expenses mainly include BITT, KKDF and money transfer expenses.
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NOTE 21 - FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES, NET (Continued)

b) Financial expense

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Interest expense on bank borrowings 11,671,843 -

11,671,843 -

NOTE 22 - TAXATION ON INCOME

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Current income tax expense 42,749,876 27,295,599
Less: Prepaid taxes (21,818,577) (31,885,513)

Total tax (liabilities)/ assets 20,931,299 (4,589,914)

Corporate tax is payable on the total income of the Group after adjusting for certain disallowable expenses,
corporate income tax exemptions (exemption for participation in subsidiaries, etc.) and corporate income
tax deductions (such as research and development expenditures deduction). No further tax is payable
unless there is dividend distribution.

Companies calculate corporate tax quarterly at the rate of 25% over their corporate income and these
amounts are disclosed by the end of 14th day and paid by the end of the 17th day of the second month
following each calendar quarter-end. Advance taxes paid in the period are offset against the following
period’s corporate tax liability. If there is an outstanding advance tax balance as a result of offsetting,
the related amount may either be refunded in cash or used to offset against for other payables to the
government.

Pursuant to the Provisional 7316 added with the Article 11 of the Law on Corporate Income Tax, published
in the Official Gazette dated 22 April 2021 and numbered 31462, the corporate tax rate for the corporate
earnings for the 2021 taxation period has been determined as 25% (2020: 22%). Article 35 of Law No.
7256 and Corporate Tax Law With the provision added to Article 32, it is stated that the corporations
whose shares are offered to the public at a rate of at least 20% for the first time in Borsa Istanbul Equity
Market will be offered with a discount of 2 points for the corporate tax rate for 5 accounting periods,
starting from the accounting period in which they are first offered to the public. As of April 22, 2021, the
company's corporate tax rate has been calculated over 23%. As per this law, deferred tax assets and
obligations were calculated in the financial statements dated 31 December 2021, applying a tax rate of
23% for temporary differences’ portion to lead to tax effects in 2022 and 2020, and at 20% for the portion
to lead to tax effects in 2023.

In Turkey there is no procedure for a final and definitive agreement on tax assessments. Companies file
their tax returns within the 25th of the fourth month following the close of the financial year to which
they relate.

Tax authorities can review accounting records within five years and if they determine any errors on the
accounting records, tax payable can be reassessed as a result of another tax assessment.
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NOTE 22 - TAXATION ON INCOME (Continued)

Deferred income taxes

The Group recognises deferred tax assets and liabilities based upon temporary differences arising between
their financial statements as reported under the Turkish Financial Reporting Standards. The temporary
differences arise due to accounting treatments made in different reporting periods based on the applicable
tax laws and the transfer of financial losses.

Deferred taxes are calculated on temporary differences that are expected to be realized or settled based on
the taxable income in coming years under the liability method using tax rates enacted at the statement of
financial position dates which are disclosed in the table and explanations above.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented in net in the consolidated financial statements of the Group,
since they are presented in net in the financial statements of subsidiaries, which are each individual tax
payers. Temporary differences, deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at the table below are
presented based on gross amounts.

The composition of cumulative temporary differences and the related deferred tax assets and liabilities
in respect of items for which deferred tax has been provided at 31 December 2021 and
31 December 2020 using the enacted tax rates are as follows.

Deferred tax /
Cumulative temporary differences assets/(liabilities)

2021 2020 2021 2020

Net differences between the
tax and carrying value of
property, plant and equipment 403,677,741 492,525,538 (80,735,548) (98,505,108)

Lease liabilities (15,883,743) (16,238,404) 3,176,749 3,247,681
Right of use asset 11,338,930 12,381,319 (2,267,786) (2,476,264)
Loan interest accrual adjustment (1,408,812) (3,073,524) 397,646 614,705
Provision for employment

termination benefits (1,113,529) (896,894) 222,706 179,379
Provision for lawsuit (615,505) (282,290) 129,256 56,458
Foreign exchange adjustments (8,146,062) - 1,586,959 -
EMRA claim provision (10,406,835) - 2,125,071 -
Other (1,228,708) (232,960) 258,029 46,592

Deferred tax liabilities, net (75,106,918) (96,836,557)

Conclusions of netting has been reflected to consolidated statement of financial position of Galata and its
subsidiaries which are separate taxpayer companies, have booked their deferred tax assets and liabilities
by netting in their financial statements that were prepared in accordance with the TAS. Temporary
differences and deferred tax assets and liabilities shown above have been prepared on the basis of gross
values.
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NOTE 22 - TAXATION ON INCOME (Continued)

Deferred income taxes

The Group recognises deferred tax assets and liabilities based upon temporary differences arising between
their financial statements as reported under the Turkish Financial Reporting Standards. The temporary
differences arise due to accounting treatments made in different reporting periods based on the applicable
tax laws and the transfer of financial losses.

Deferred taxes are calculated on temporary differences that are expected to be realized or settled based on
the taxable income in coming years under the liability method using tax rates enacted at the statement of
financial position dates which are disclosed in the table and explanations above.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented in net in the consolidated financial statements of the Group,
since they are presented in net in the financial statements of subsidiaries, which are each individual tax
payers. Temporary differences, deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at the table below are
presented based on gross amounts.

The composition of cumulative temporary differences and the related deferred tax assets and liabilities
in respect of items for which deferred tax has been provided at 31 December 2021 and
31 December 2020 using the enacted tax rates are as follows.

Deferred tax /
Cumulative temporary differences assets/(liabilities)

2021 2020 2021 2020

Net differences between the
tax and carrying value of
property, plant and equipment 403,677,741 492,525,538 (80,735,548) (98,505,108)

Lease liabilities (15,883,743) (16,238,404) 3,176,749 3,247,681
Right of use asset 11,338,930 12,381,319 (2,267,786) (2,476,264)
Loan interest accrual adjustment (1,408,812) (3,073,524) 397,646 614,705
Provision for employment

termination benefits (1,113,529) (896,894) 222,706 179,379
Provision for lawsuit (615,505) (282,290) 129,256 56,458
Foreign exchange adjustments (8,146,062) - 1,586,959 -
EMRA claim provision (10,406,835) - 2,125,071 -
Other (1,228,708) (232,960) 258,029 46,592

Deferred tax liabilities, net (75,106,918) (96,836,557)

Conclusions of netting has been reflected to consolidated statement of financial position of Galata and its
subsidiaries which are separate taxpayer companies, have booked their deferred tax assets and liabilities
by netting in their financial statements that were prepared in accordance with the TAS. Temporary
differences and deferred tax assets and liabilities shown above have been prepared on the basis of gross
values.
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NOTE 22 - TAXATION ON INCOME (Continued)

Movements for net deferred taxes for the periods ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are
as follows:

Deferred tax liability 2021 2020

Opening balance as of 1 January 96,836,557 81,774,097
Recognised under profit or loss statement (21,613,755) 15,062,460
Recognized under equity (115,884) -

Closing balance as of 31 December 75,106,918 96,836,557

The taxes on income reflected to statement of profit or loss for the periods ended 31 December 2021
and 2020 are summarized below:

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Income tax expense (*) (47,052,651) (27,295,599)
Deferred tax expense 21,613,755 (15,062,460)

Total tax (expense)/income (25,438,896) (42,358,059)

(*) Includes tax amounting to TRY4,302,775 paid for tax base increase pursuant to the Restructuring Law No.
7326.

The reconciliation of the taxation on income in the statement of profit or loss for periods ended
31 December 2021 and 2020, the tax calculated at the corporate tax rate based on the income before
minority interests and taxation on income are as follows:

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Profit before tax from operating activities 196,351,755 198,714,601
Tax rate of 23% (2020: %22) (45,160,904) (43,717,212)

Effect of tax rate changes 1,314,919 1,434,550
Non-deductible expenses (1,246,763) (79,185)
Exceptions and deductions 389,371 97,405
Previous year losses deducted 80,371 -
Tangible asset revaluation tax effect (*) 23,460,813 -
Tax base increase (4,302,775) -
Other 26,072 (93,617)

Tax expense recognized in
Statement of profit or loss (25,438,896) (42,358,059)

(*) The Group has revalued its tangible assets, taking into account the increase rate of the Domestic Purchase
Price Index, pursuant to the "Law on the Restructuring of Certain Receivables and Amendments to Some
Laws" dated 3 June 2021 and numbered 7326. The differences arising from this valuation have been
recorded in the statutory accounting records. However, the valuation difference recognised is an inflation
indexing method, it is not a suitable method for the TFRS revaluation model, as the increase in value
calculated by indexing will not serve the fair value within the scope of TFRS 13. The Group continues to
account for the relevant tangible using the historic cost method in its TFRS financial statements.
Accordingly, deferred tax income resulting from the reduction of temporary differences between statutory
accounting and TFRS as a result of such revaluation is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss. For the period ended 31 December 2021, the deferred tax income effect is TRY23,460,813.
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NOTE 23 - RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

i) Related party balances (Continued)

Short-term portions of long-term lease liabilities from related parties

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Değer Merkezi Hizmetler ve 
   Yönetim Danışmanlığı A.Ş. (*) 408,733 171,710

408,733 171,710

(*) Represents the lease liabilities recognised in accordance with TFRS 16 standard.

Long-term lease liabilities to related parties:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Değer Merkezi Hizmetler ve 
   Yönetim Danışmanlığı A.Ş. (*) 641,965 109,972

641,965 109,972

(*) Represents the lease liabilities recognised in accordance with TFRS 16 standard.

Short-term portion of long-term lease liabilities to related parties:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Öncü Girişim Sermayesi  
   Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. (**)  - 132,294,672

- 132,294,672

(**) The maturity date of this financing structured in the form a capital-debt mix borrowing is 24 December
2021 and the interest rate is 4.50%.
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NOTE 23 - RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Benefits provided for the key management

The key management team of the Group is made up of members of the Board of Directors, General
Manager, Deputy General Manager and directors. Benefits provided for the key management members
within the period are as the follows:

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Salaries and other short-term benefits 7,662,341 3,732,914

7,662,341 3,732,914

NOTE 24 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial investments

31 December 2021 31 December 2020
TRY (%) TRY (%)

Enerji Piyasaları İşletme A.Ş. 100,000 <1 100,000 <1

100,000 100,000

NOTE 25 - EARNING/LOSS PER SHARE

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Net profit for the period
attributable to equity holders
of the Parent Company 170,912,859 156,356,542

Weighted average number of shares
   with face value of Kuruş 1 each  53,479,145,765 53,479,145,765

Earnings per share 0,0032 0,0029
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NOTE 26 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial instruments and financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks; these risks are credit risk, market risk
including the effects of changes in debt and equity market prices, foreign currency exchange rates, fair
value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk, and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize
potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The Group uses derivative financial
instruments in a limited manner to hedge these exposures.

a) Market risk

a.1) Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk due to conversion of its foreign currency denominated
liabilities to local currency. This risk monitored and limited by analyzing foreign currency position.

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising primarily from the USD and EUR.

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Foreign currency assets 158,895,716 65,513,909
Foreign currency liabilities (438,262,053) (231,797,425)

(279,366,337) (166,283,516)

Net foreign currency position

The table below summarizes the foreign currency position risk of the Group as of 31 December 2021,
31 December 2020. The carrying amounts of foreign currency assets and liabilities held by the Group
in terms of foreign currencies (in terms of TRY) are as follows:
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NOTE 26 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial instruments and financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks; these risks are credit risk, market risk
including the effects of changes in debt and equity market prices, foreign currency exchange rates, fair
value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk, and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize
potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The Group uses derivative financial
instruments in a limited manner to hedge these exposures.

a) Market risk

a.1) Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk due to conversion of its foreign currency denominated
liabilities to local currency. This risk monitored and limited by analyzing foreign currency position.

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising primarily from the USD and EUR.

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Foreign currency assets 158,895,716 65,513,909
Foreign currency liabilities (438,262,053) (231,797,425)

(279,366,337) (166,283,516)

Net foreign currency position

The table below summarizes the foreign currency position risk of the Group as of 31 December 2021,
31 December 2020. The carrying amounts of foreign currency assets and liabilities held by the Group
in terms of foreign currencies (in terms of TRY) are as follows:
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NOTE 26 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Net foreign currency position (Continued)

31 December 2021
TRY Equivalent

(Functional
currency) USD EUR

1. Trade receivables - - -
2a. Monetary financial assets 158,895,716 4,612,219 6,457,306
2b. Non-monetary financial assets - - -
3. Other - - -
4. Current assets (1+2+3) 158,895,716 4,612,219 6,457,306
5. Trade receivables - - -
6a. Monetary financial assets - - -
6b. Non-monetary financial assets - - -
7. Other - - -
8. Non-current assets (5+6+7) - - -
9. Total assets (4+8) 158,895,716 4,612,219 6,457,306
10. Trade payables 3,810,832 186,669 94,558
11. Financial liabilities 49,712,999 - 3,289,224
12a. Other monetary liabilities - - -
12b. Other non-monetary liabilities - - -
13. Short term liabilities (10+11+12) 53,523,831 186,669 3,383,782
14. Trade payables - - -
15. Monetary liabilities 384,738,222 - 25,455,920
16 a. Other monetary liabilities - - -
16 b. Other non-monetary liabilities - - -
17. Long term liabilities (14+15+16) 384,738,222 - 25,455,920
18. Total liabilities (13+17) 438,262,053 186,669 28,839,702
19. Net assets / liability position of

off-balance sheet derivatives (19a-19b) - - -
19a. Off-balance sheet foreign currency

derivative assets - - -
19b. Off-balance sheet foreign currency

derivative liabilities - - -
20. Net foreign currency asset/(liability)

position (9-18+19) (279,366,337) 4,425,550 (22,382,396)
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NOTE 26 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Net foreign currency position (Continued)

31 December 2020
TRY Equivalent

(Functional
currency) USD EUR

1. Trade receivables - - -
2a. Monetary financial assets 65,513,909 8,922,136 2,328
2b. Non-monetary financial assets - - -
3. Other - - -
4. Current assets (1+2+3) 65,513,909 8,922,136 2,328
5. Trade receivables - - -
6a. Monetary financial assets - - -
6b. Non-monetary financial assets - - -
7. Other - - -
8. Non-current assets (5+6+7) - - -
9. Total assets (4+8) 65,513,909 8,922,136 2,328
10. Trade payables 1,297,489 19,886 127,834
11. Financial liabilities 143,448,419 18,022,570 1,238,218
12a. Other monetary liabilities - - -
12b. Other non-monetary liabilities - - -
13. Short term liabilities (10+11+12) 144,745,908 18,042,456 1,366,052
14. Trade payables - - -
15. Monetary liabilities 87,051,517 - 9,663,908
16 a. Other monetary liabilities - - -
16 b. Other non-monetary liabilities - - -
17. Long term liabilities (14+15+16) 87,051,517 - 9,663,908
18. Total liabilities (13+17) 231,797,425 18,042,456 11,029,960
19. Net assets / liability position of

off-balance sheet derivatives (19a-19b) - - -
19a. Off-balance sheet foreign currency

derivative assets - - -
19b. Off-balance sheet foreign currency

derivative liabilities - - -
20. Net foreign currency asset/(liability)

position (9-18+19) (166,283,516) (9,120,320) (11,027,632)
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NOTE 26 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Net foreign currency position (Continued)

31 December 2021
TRY Equivalent

(Functional
currency) USD EUR

1. Trade receivables - - -
2a. Monetary financial assets 158,895,716 4,612,219 6,457,306
2b. Non-monetary financial assets - - -
3. Other - - -
4. Current assets (1+2+3) 158,895,716 4,612,219 6,457,306
5. Trade receivables - - -
6a. Monetary financial assets - - -
6b. Non-monetary financial assets - - -
7. Other - - -
8. Non-current assets (5+6+7) - - -
9. Total assets (4+8) 158,895,716 4,612,219 6,457,306
10. Trade payables 3,810,832 186,669 94,558
11. Financial liabilities 49,712,999 - 3,289,224
12a. Other monetary liabilities - - -
12b. Other non-monetary liabilities - - -
13. Short term liabilities (10+11+12) 53,523,831 186,669 3,383,782
14. Trade payables - - -
15. Monetary liabilities 384,738,222 - 25,455,920
16 a. Other monetary liabilities - - -
16 b. Other non-monetary liabilities - - -
17. Long term liabilities (14+15+16) 384,738,222 - 25,455,920
18. Total liabilities (13+17) 438,262,053 186,669 28,839,702
19. Net assets / liability position of

off-balance sheet derivatives (19a-19b) - - -
19a. Off-balance sheet foreign currency

derivative assets - - -
19b. Off-balance sheet foreign currency

derivative liabilities - - -
20. Net foreign currency asset/(liability)

position (9-18+19) (279,366,337) 4,425,550 (22,382,396)
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NOTE 26 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Net foreign currency position (Continued)

31 December 2020
TRY Equivalent

(Functional
currency) USD EUR

1. Trade receivables - - -
2a. Monetary financial assets 65,513,909 8,922,136 2,328
2b. Non-monetary financial assets - - -
3. Other - - -
4. Current assets (1+2+3) 65,513,909 8,922,136 2,328
5. Trade receivables - - -
6a. Monetary financial assets - - -
6b. Non-monetary financial assets - - -
7. Other - - -
8. Non-current assets (5+6+7) - - -
9. Total assets (4+8) 65,513,909 8,922,136 2,328
10. Trade payables 1,297,489 19,886 127,834
11. Financial liabilities 143,448,419 18,022,570 1,238,218
12a. Other monetary liabilities - - -
12b. Other non-monetary liabilities - - -
13. Short term liabilities (10+11+12) 144,745,908 18,042,456 1,366,052
14. Trade payables - - -
15. Monetary liabilities 87,051,517 - 9,663,908
16 a. Other monetary liabilities - - -
16 b. Other non-monetary liabilities - - -
17. Long term liabilities (14+15+16) 87,051,517 - 9,663,908
18. Total liabilities (13+17) 231,797,425 18,042,456 11,029,960
19. Net assets / liability position of

off-balance sheet derivatives (19a-19b) - - -
19a. Off-balance sheet foreign currency

derivative assets - - -
19b. Off-balance sheet foreign currency

derivative liabilities - - -
20. Net foreign currency asset/(liability)

position (9-18+19) (166,283,516) (9,120,320) (11,027,632)
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NOTE 26 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

The effect of the Group's EUR and US Dollar foreign currency positions on the net profit/loss and equity
for the period, assuming that the TRY appreciates and depreciates by 20% against foreign currencies
and all other variables are constant, are as follows:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020
USD EUR USD EUR

% 20 Appreciation 11,797,631 (67,657,056) (13,389,542) (19,867,163)

% 20 Depreciation (11,797,631) 67,657,056 13,389,542 19,867,163

a.2) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest risk because of its interest generating liabilities. As of 31 December
2021 and 31 December 2020, the financial liabilities in the Group mainly consist of fixed rate
borrowings.

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Financial instruments with fixed rate
Financial assets - Banks (Note 4) 158,622,938 65,933,071
Financial liabilities (Note 5) 197,830,946 437,518,989
Lease liabilities (Note 5) 15,883,743 14,910,713

Financial instruments with floating rate
Financial liabilities 434,451,222 98,205,264

As of 31 December 2021, if interest rates on Euro denominated borrowings variable rate financial
liabilities not protected by interest rate swap transactions had been higher/lower by 100 basis points with
all other variables held constant, profit before income taxes would have been TRY3,634,420
(31 December 2020: TRY1,078,774) higher/lower, mainly as a result of additional interest expense on
floating rate borrowings.

b) Credit risk

Credit risk involves the risk that counterparties may be unable to meet the terms of their agreements.

These risks are monitored by limiting the aggregate risk to any individual counterparty (excluding
related parties) and receiving collateral when needed.
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NOTE 26 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

c) Liquidity risk

Conservative liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities,
the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to
close out market positions.

Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying business, the Group aims maintaining flexibility in funding
by keeping committed credit lines available.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities and its derivative financial instruments. The tables below have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Company can be
required to pay. Interests to be paid over these obligations are included in the table below. Derivative
financial liabilities are based on undiscounted net cash inflows and outflows. Forwards are netted for
future transactions that are to be paid gross and are realized by using undiscounted gross cash inflows
and outflows.

Total
contractual Less than More than

31 December 2021 Book value cash outflow 3 months 3-12 months 1 - 5 years 5 years

Short-term and long-term
financial liabilities (Note 5) 632,282,167 632,994,587 31,237,708 235,445,829 187,502,573 178,808,477

Lease liabilities (Note 5) 15,883,743 111,074,876 74,473 2,847,558 11,708,187 96,444,658
Trade payables to

third parties (Note 6) 8,786,647 8,786,647 8,786,647 - - -
Trade payables to related parties (Note 23) 87,148 87,148 87,148 - - -
Other payables to

third parties (Note 7) 1,628,182 1,628,182 1,628,182 - - -
Payables related to

employee benefits (Note 12) 1,249,304 1,249,304 1,249,304 - - -
Other short-term provisions (Note 11) 4,985,953 4,985,953 1,064,479 3,921,474 - -
Other long-term provisions (Note 11) 6,036,387 6,036,387 - - 6,036,387 -

Total liabilities 670,939,531 766,843,084 44,127,941 242,214,861 205,247,147 275,253,135

Total
contractual Less than More than

31 December 2020 Book value cash outflow 3 months 3-12 months 1 - 5 years 5 years

Short-term and long-term
financial liabilities (Note 5) 535,724,253 600,553,567 13,247,493 278,920,641 264,213,778 44,171,655

Lease liabilities (Note 5) 14,910,713 114,142,680 124,570 2,933,063 11,716,919 99,368,128
Trade payables to

third parties (Note 6)) 5,620,230 5,620,230 5,620,230 - - -
Trade payables to related parties (Note 23) 1,430,162 1,430,162 1,430,162 - - -
Other payables to

third parties (Note 7) 2,660,544 2,660,544 2,660,544 - - -
Payables related to

employee benefits (Note 12) 1,398,300 1,398,300 1,398,300 - - -
Other short-term provisions (Note 11) 282,290 282,290 - 282,290 - -

Total liabilities 562,026,492 726,087,773 24,481,299 282,135,994 275,930,697 143,539,783
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NOTE 26 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

c) Liquidity risk

Conservative liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities,
the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to
close out market positions.

Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying business, the Group aims maintaining flexibility in funding
by keeping committed credit lines available.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities and its derivative financial instruments. The tables below have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Company can be
required to pay. Interests to be paid over these obligations are included in the table below. Derivative
financial liabilities are based on undiscounted net cash inflows and outflows. Forwards are netted for
future transactions that are to be paid gross and are realized by using undiscounted gross cash inflows
and outflows.

Total
contractual Less than More than

31 December 2021 Book value cash outflow 3 months 3-12 months 1 - 5 years 5 years

Short-term and long-term
financial liabilities (Note 5) 632,282,167 632,994,587 31,237,708 235,445,829 187,502,573 178,808,477

Lease liabilities (Note 5) 15,883,743 111,074,876 74,473 2,847,558 11,708,187 96,444,658
Trade payables to

third parties (Note 6) 8,786,647 8,786,647 8,786,647 - - -
Trade payables to related parties (Note 23) 87,148 87,148 87,148 - - -
Other payables to

third parties (Note 7) 1,628,182 1,628,182 1,628,182 - - -
Payables related to

employee benefits (Note 12) 1,249,304 1,249,304 1,249,304 - - -
Other short-term provisions (Note 11) 4,985,953 4,985,953 1,064,479 3,921,474 - -
Other long-term provisions (Note 11) 6,036,387 6,036,387 - - 6,036,387 -

Total liabilities 670,939,531 766,843,084 44,127,941 242,214,861 205,247,147 275,253,135

Total
contractual Less than More than

31 December 2020 Book value cash outflow 3 months 3-12 months 1 - 5 years 5 years

Short-term and long-term
financial liabilities (Note 5) 535,724,253 600,553,567 13,247,493 278,920,641 264,213,778 44,171,655

Lease liabilities (Note 5) 14,910,713 114,142,680 124,570 2,933,063 11,716,919 99,368,128
Trade payables to

third parties (Note 6)) 5,620,230 5,620,230 5,620,230 - - -
Trade payables to related parties (Note 23) 1,430,162 1,430,162 1,430,162 - - -
Other payables to

third parties (Note 7) 2,660,544 2,660,544 2,660,544 - - -
Payables related to

employee benefits (Note 12) 1,398,300 1,398,300 1,398,300 - - -
Other short-term provisions (Note 11) 282,290 282,290 - 282,290 - -

Total liabilities 562,026,492 726,087,773 24,481,299 282,135,994 275,930,697 143,539,783
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NOTE 26 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

d) Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction
between willing parties, other than in a forced sale or liquidation, and is best evidenced by a quoted
market price, if one exists.

The estimated fair values of financial instruments are determined by the Group, using available market
information and appropriate valuation methodologies for each segment of the Group. However,
judgment is necessarily required to interpret market data to estimate the fair value. Accordingly, the
estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Group could realize in a
current market exchange.

The following methods and assumptions are used in the estimation of the fair value of the financial
instruments for which it is practicable to estimate fair value:

Monetary assets

The fair values of balances denominated in foreign currencies, which are translated at the period end
exchange rates, are considered to approximate carrying value.

The fair values of certain financial assets carried at cost, including fair values of cash and due from
banks are considered to approximate their respective carrying values due to their short-term nature and
immateriality of losses on collectibility. The fair value of investment securities has been estimated based
on the market prices at the statement of financial position dates.

Trade receivables are disclosed at their amortized cost using the effective interest rate method and the
carrying values of trade receivables along with the related allowances for collectability are estimated to
be at their fair values.

Monetary liabilities

The fair value of bank borrowings and other monetary liabilities are considered to approximate their
respective carrying values due to their short-term nature.

Long-term borrowings, which are principally at variable rates, and denominated in foreign currencies,
are translated at the period-end exchange rates and accordingly, their fair values approximate their
carrying values.

Trade payables are disclosed at their amortized cost using the effective interest rate method and
accordingly their carrying amounts approximate their fair values.
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NOTE 26 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

d) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

Long-term borrowings, which are principally at variable rates, and denominated in foreign currencies,
are translated at the period-end exchange rates and accordingly, their fair values approximate their
carrying values.

Trade payables are disclosed at their amortized cost using the effective interest rate method and
accordingly their carrying amounts approximate their fair values.

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities are determined as follows:

 Level 1: The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and
conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market
prices.

 Level 2: The fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using
prices from observable current market transactions.

 Level 3: The fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities are determined where there
is no observable market data.

Based on the fair value hierarchy, the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are categorized as follows:

Fair value level as of reporting date
31 December Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets 2021 TRY TRY TRY

Derivative instruments
held for sale at fair value
through profit or loss (Note 15) 46,233,133 - 46,233,133 -

Total 46,233,133 - 46,233,133 -

Financial liabilities

Derivative instruments
held for sale at fair value
through profit or loss (Note 15) - - - -

Total - - - -
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NOTE 26 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

d) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

Long-term borrowings, which are principally at variable rates, and denominated in foreign currencies,
are translated at the period-end exchange rates and accordingly, their fair values approximate their
carrying values.

Trade payables are disclosed at their amortized cost using the effective interest rate method and
accordingly their carrying amounts approximate their fair values.

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities are determined as follows:

 Level 1: The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and
conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market
prices.

 Level 2: The fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using
prices from observable current market transactions.

 Level 3: The fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities are determined where there
is no observable market data.

Based on the fair value hierarchy, the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are categorized as follows:

Fair value level as of reporting date
31 December Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets 2021 TRY TRY TRY

Derivative instruments
held for sale at fair value
through profit or loss (Note 15) 46,233,133 - 46,233,133 -

Total 46,233,133 - 46,233,133 -

Financial liabilities

Derivative instruments
held for sale at fair value
through profit or loss (Note 15) - - - -

Total - - - -
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NOTE 26 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Fair value level as of reporting date
31 December Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets 2020 TRY TRY TRY

Derivative instruments
held for sale at fair value
through profit or loss (Note 15) 21,723,420 - 21,723,420 -

Total 21,723,420 - 21,723,420 -

Financial liabilities

Derivative instruments
held for sale at fair value
through profit or loss (Note 15) 32,936,362 - 32,936,362 -

Total 32,936,362 - 32,936,362 -

As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the fair value level of derivative instruments in the statement of
financial position is Level 2.

e) Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net liability/total equity ratio. Net liability is calculated as
the total liability less cash and cash equivalents, derivative instruments and tax liabilities. Total equity is
calculated as the total of net liability and the equity as shown in the statement of financial position.

Net liabilities/total equity rates at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as below:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Total liabilities (*) 673,861,188 563,608,358
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (158,919,076) (66,124,675)
Net debt 514,942,112 497,483,683
Total shareholders’ equity 997,686,685 927,237,363
Total capital 1,512,628,797 1,424,721,046

Net Debt/Equity Ratio %34.04 34.92%

(*) The amounts are calculated by deducting income tax payable, derivative financial instruments and deferred
tax liability accounts from total liabilities.
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NOTE 27 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The law numbered 7352, which amends the Tax Procedure Law and the Corporate Tax Law was enacted
on 20 January 2022. With this law, it has been decided that the financial statements will not be subject
to inflation adjustment in the 2021 and 2022 fiscal years, including the provisional accounting periods,
and in the provisional tax periods of the 2023 fiscal year, regardless of whether the conditions for the
inflation adjustment within the scope of the Repeated Article 298 are met. Pursuant to Law No. 7352,
inflation adjustment will be applied to the financial statements dated 31 December 2023, and the
profit/loss difference arising from the inflation adjustment will be recognized in the retained
earnings/accumulated losses and it will not be subject to tax.

On 20 January 2022, the Public Oversight Accounting and Standards Authority made a statement on the
Implementation of Financial Reporting in High Inflation Economies within the Scope of Turkish
Financial Reporting Standards, Financial Reporting Standard for Large and Medium Sized Enterprises.
Accordingly, it has been stated that companies adopted TFRS do not need to make any adjustments in
their financial statements for the fiscal year 2021 within the scope of TAS 29 Financial Reporting in
Hyperinflationary Economies.

An “EIA (Environmental Impact Assessment) Positive Decision” was taken by the Ministry of
Environment, Urbanization and Climate Change on 20.01.2022 for the 42.58 MW Hybrid SPP project
planned to be built in Taşpınar WPP. 

………………
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